Notice of Meeting

Cabinet
Date:

Wednesday 10 March 2021

Time:

5.30 pm

Venue:

Being held virtually by Microsoft Teams. The public can listen to a
live stream here:
http://www.audiominutes.com/p/player/player.html?userid=tvbc

For further information or enquiries please contact:
Caroline Lovelock- 01264 368014
clovelock@testvalley.gov.uk
Legal and Democratic Service
Test Valley Borough Council,
Beech Hurst, Weyhill Road,
Andover, Hampshire,
SP10 3AJ
www.testvalley.gov.uk

This is formal notice under The Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements)
(Meetings and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012 that part of this
meeting may be held in private because the agenda and reports for the meeting may
contain exempt information under Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Local Government
Act 1972 (as amended) and that the public interest in withholding the information
outweighs the public interest in disclosing it.

PUBLIC PARTICIPATION SCHEME
If members of the public wish to address the meeting they should notify the
Legal and Democratic Service at the Council's Beech Hurst office by noon
on the working day before the meeting.

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

Membership of Cabinet
MEMBER

WARD

Councillor P North (Chairman)

Bourne Valley

Councillor N Adams-King (Vice-Chairman)

Blackwater

Councillor P Bundy

Chilworth, Nursling & Rownhams

Councillor D Drew

Harewood

Councillor M Flood

Anna

Councillor I Jeffrey

Mid Test

Councillor A Johnston

Mid Test

Councillor T Tasker

Andover Romans

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

Cabinet
Wednesday 10 March 2021
AGENDA
The order of these items may change as a result of members
of the public wishing to speak

1

Apologies

2

Public Participation

3

Declarations of Interest

4

Urgent Items

5

Minutes of the meeting held on 10 February 2021

6

Recommendations of the Overview and Scrutiny
Committee: None

7

Motion referred from Council - 27 January 2021

5

To consider the Motion referred from Council held on the
27 January 2021.
8

Andover Public Art Programme

6 - 59

Community and Leisure
To consider securing contributions for on-site public art at
Picket Piece and Picket Twenty through Section 106
agreements.
9

Test Valley Borough Local Plan 2011-2029 - Five Year
Review
Planning
To consider the five year review of the adopted Local Plan.

60 - 144

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

10

Hurstbourne Tarrant Village Design Statement
Supplementary Planning Document

145 - 221

Planning
To consider the Hurstbourne Tarrant Village Design
Statement and its adoption as a Supplementary Planning
Document.
11

Write off of uncollectable debts

222 - 224

Finance
To consider the write off of uncollectable debts.
12

Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) - Allocation of
CIL Funds
Planning
To consider funding two projects within the Borough from
the Council’s Community Infrastructure Levy receipts.

225 - 238

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

ITEM 7

Motion Referred from Council – 27 January 2021

The motion set out below was referred to Cabinet from Council at its meeting on 27
January 2021 as the subject matter falls within the scope of Cabinet.

Councillor Coole will move:
That to combat period poverty, this Council will:
Provide free period products in Council owned/managed female and gender-neutral
toilet rooms or cubicles.
Top up the Government’s Period Product Scheme for Schools and Colleges in
England provision from 35% to 100% by making available on application, a Period
Poverty Payment of £17.30 per eligible student to Schools and Colleges in Test
Valley, to help them provide free period products in their female and gender-neutral
owned/managed toilet rooms or cubicles.
Invite and encourage all Test Valley Parish/Town Councils, businesses, charities,
community and other organisations, to introduce free period products in their female
and gender-neutral owned/managed toilet rooms or cubicles.
Councillor Harber will second the motion.

Page 5

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

ITEM 8

Andover Public Art Programme

Report of the Community and Leisure Portfolio Holder

Recommended:
1.

That £27,000 be added to the Capital Programme for on-site public art in
respect of the public art commission for Picket Piece in Andover, to be
fully funded by Section 106 developer contributions.

2.

To award the contract for Picket Piece to Svetlana Kondakova.

3.

That £69,000 be added to the Capital Programme for on-site public art in
respect of the public art commission for Picket Twenty in Andover, to be
fully funded by Section 106 developer contributions.

4.

To award the contract for Picket Twenty to Tim Ward of Circling the
Square.

5.

That £50,000 be allocated from Section 106 contributions for off-site
public art in respect of the public art programme for Andover Town
Centre.

Recommendation to Council.
SUMMARY:


Test Valley Borough Council secured contributions for on-site public art at Picket
Piece and Picket Twenty through Section 106 agreements. The report sets out
the procurement procedure that has been undertaken to select an artist to carry
out the commission for each project, and requests authority to release sufficient
funds to deliver the projects and award the contracts to the selected artists.



Contributions for off-site public art were also secured through section 106
agreements for East Anton. The report sets out the proposals for the project this
will support in Andover town centre and requests authority to release sufficient
funds to deliver the projects in this financial year.

1

Introduction

1.1

Test Valley Borough Council secured contributions for on-site public art
through section 106 agreements, £27,000 for Picket Piece, and £69,000 for
Picket Twenty.

1.2

The report sets out the procurement procedure that has been undertaken to
select the artists to carry out these commissions, and requests authority to
release sufficient funds to deliver the projects and award the contracts to the
selected artists.

Page 6

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

1.3

Test Valley Borough Council have also secured contributions for off-site public
art through section 106 agreements for East Anton. This report also sets out
the proposals for the public art programme in Andover Town Centre using
£50,000 of this contribution. The commissions have been developed following
industry best practice and in accordance with the TVBC Public Art Strategy.

1.4

The town centre commission has been proposed to support the enhancement
of the Town Mills development as part of the regeneration programme for
Andover and following the launch of the Andover Masterplan last year.

2

Commissioning Approach Picket Piece and Picket Twenty

2.1

In August 2020 the Public Art Commission briefs for Picket Piece and Picket
Twenty were advertised locally, regionally and nationally through creative arts
and public art organisations and networks. Sixteen applications were received
for Picket Piece and Twelve for Picket Twenty.

2.2

Using specific criteria drawn up to meet the objectives of the briefs the
proposals were shortlisted to six for each project. These 6 proposals were
then considered in detail by the commissioning panel on each group.

2.3

The commissioning panels are made up of stakeholders from the community
including residents and local organisations as detailed here. Other officers
and stakeholders will be consulted at relevant points in the projects.
Picket Piece
Arts Officer
Community Development Officer
Cllr Lodge
Chair of Residents Association
Local residents x2

Picket Twenty
Arts Officer
Community Development Officer
Sports Development Officer
Cllr Donnelly
Local resident
Teacher from Pilgrims Cross
Member of Community Centre

2.4

The steering groups each held interviews for three or four candidates who
were invited to present their proposals at interview in December and January.

2.5

Based on the evaluation criteria and the overall quality of the presentations
and proposals, the panels made their decisions to award the commission for
Picket Piece to Svetlana Kondakova and for Picket Twenty to Tim Ward of
Circling the Square, subject to Cabinet and Council approval.

2.6

Svetlana is an Edinburgh based artist who creates sculptures, murals,
installations, paintings and mixed media artworks primarily for the public
realm. She has a track record in delivering public art for other local authorities
and organisations.

2.7

Svetlana proposes to create a sculpture where every element will be designed
with the help of the community, using their own inputs and inspiration for its
location, shape, colour and detail. There will be a programme of six
consultations and workshops and two online campaigns. They would include
model making and sculpting and invite contributions through photography and
drawing.

Page 7

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

2.8

Tim Ward designs and implements sculptures, public art and environmental
projects combining a variety of different mediums; steel, lighting, glass, stone,
landscape. Based in Essex he has delivered multiple commissions across the
UK including trails, heritage projects, functional signage and seating as well
as impressive landmark sculptures.

2.9

Tim proposes a participatory programme with a wide range of stakeholders to
develop designs and gather inspiration for the interactive trail and sculpture.
These would include workshops, consultations meetings and public open
days. Both projects are keen to set up social media channels to further
engage with residents and stakeholders at this time.

3

Andover Town Centre Programme

3.1

The S106 agreement for East Anton states that this figure for off-site public art
is to contribute, ‘towards the design and construction of an item or items of
public art, craft or decoration, to be located within Andover, but outside the
Site.’

3.2

It is proposed to provide a number of projects through this contribution. The
continuation of Four Fun Fridays, the commissioning of a new Art Wall at
Riverside Park and the update of the Andover Poetry Trail.

3.3

It is also proposed to continue to fund our ambitions for temporary public art
initiatives that engage communities within the town centre, in line with the
Public Art Strategy. Four Fun Fridays 2021 will be the sixth year the event has
taken place and it now has a loyal audience and following of participants. Four
Fun Fridays is a combination of creative arts workshops, installations, street
theatre, street shows, trails and tours encouraging families to participate in
arts in the town centre. This year it is intended to explore including other town
locations such as Pocket Park and Riverside Park to programme activity for
the events.

3.4

Four Fun Fridays budget is £10,000

3.5

Following on from the Community Engagement project for Riverside Park that
is aiming to gather views and opinions of residents and stakeholders as to the
style and type of artwork they would like to see in this location, the feedback
and report findings will be used to inform the creation of a new commission of
an Art Wall at Riverside Park. The Art Wall will be located in front of the brick
wall of Wilkos and face out to the park and riverside area.

3.6

The Art Wall budget is £20,000

3.7

The Poetry in Motion Trail was first commissioned in 1998 and is a valued
part of the town which starts its journey just outside the Town Mills. The 40
poems can be located on buildings, walls, in the pathway and on set stones
along the route that leads from this point in the town centre along Riverside
Walk towards Asda and Rooksbury Mill nature reserve.

Page 8

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

The first can be found on the Town Mills building and the subsequent
numbers 2-6 are floor plaques along the pathway alongside the river outside
the Town Mills. The plan is to keep the plaques and integrate them into the
new groundworks.
It is timely to look at a relaunch of the Poetry Trail. The plaques are numbered
and of the original 40, 7 are unable to be located. A new project will:


Create a poetry festival, linked to National Poetry Day (October), to
engage communities with their natural surroundings. The original trail
was designed to capture the spirit and beauty of the Test Valley in
verse



Commission a poet to work with schools and community groups to
learn about poetry and create new poems for the missing areas along
the trail



Create a new printed and virtual trail map to encourage people to
further explore the riverside through Andover and towards the nature
reserve.



Hold an exhibition of new poetry within the town centre



Hold poetry events

3.8

The Poetry in Motion budget is £20,000 to include funds towards project work
and installing new poetry artwork along the trail.

4

Schedule
For the public art commissions at Picket Piece and Picket Twenty to be truly
successful it is proposed to start by talking with the community and residents
at both sites, and developing ideas through workshops and community
engagement activities. It is proposed to start the projects as soon as
government restrictions allow this year, and then allowing up to a year for the
projects to reach completion and artwork be installed.
For the Andover Town Centre programme the Four Fun Friday’s projects take
place in August each year. The Art Wall and Poetry Trail projects will
commence in the autumn following the results and analysis of the community
engagement project and report due in July 2021.

5

Corporate Objectives and Priorities
The work undertaken through the public art programme directly delivers
priorities for Test Valley from the Corporate Plan as detailed below. In
creating projects where current and future generations of communities can get
involved with what happens in their neighbourhoods. Where they are an
integral part of creating and enhancing their own spaces making them feel
empowered and proud of where they live and work.

Page 9

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

The artist briefs asks for community engagement to be at the core of how
artists are developing their ideas and final work. These projects are focused
on how residents can enhance and enjoy their surroundings of the new
development.
The town centre programme supports the council’s ambitions for regeneration
and the Masterplan for Andover. It provides opportunities to create attractive,
vibrant and prosperous places by commissioning new and relevant artworks.
Communities to be empowered, connected and able to build upon their
strengths
Building upon our positive track record of working with communities. We will
do this by harnessing the strengths that exist within communities, so that local
people are able to contribute and play an active role.
People to be able to live well and fulfil their aspirations
Creating communities that have the infrastructure and accessibility to meet
the needs of a changing and growing population. Establishing attractive,
sustainable and vibrant communities for people to live, work and enjoy.
Growing the potential of the local environment for current and future
generations
Enhancing the quality of our public realm to improve the local environment, so
that these are attractive spaces and places that people can enjoy and spend
time.
Growing the potential of Town Centres to adapt and be attractive,
vibrant and prosperous places
Taking this once in a generation opportunity to respond to the changing face
of the High Street. Future proofing our town centres to be accessible places
where people live, shop, work and spend their leisure time.
Enhancing public realm and improving the appearance and environment of
our town centres
6

Consultations/Communications
The steering groups have been created by officers, members and individuals
with a close or direct responsibility to the sites. The briefs have been
developed in consultation with these professionals and each have taken part
in the shortlisting phase and been given the opportunity to talk to the artist
through the interviews.
As with each public art commission, information is shared about the project
briefs with portfolio holders and relevant council members as well as seeking
legal advice when required.
New steering groups for the town centre projects will be created, as well as
working closely with the Andover Vision and the Town Mills members groups.

Page 10

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

7

Options
a) To approve the proposal
b) To do nothing

8

Option Appraisal
To authorise the Arts Officer to draw down the funding from S106
contributions and to contract the artists to support TVBC to create projects
where communities can get involved in what happens in their
neighbourhoods. It empowers current and future generations to create and
enhance their own spaces feeling proud of where they live and work.
If the public art is not commissioned the S106 contributions will need to be
repaid to the developer.

9

Risk Management
A risk assessment has been completed in accordance with the Council’s risk
management process and the existing risk controls in place mean that no
significant risks (red or amber) have been identified.

10

Resource Implications
All costs for the development of the artwork, artist fees and fabrication for
Picket Piece and Picket Twenty are include in the commission fees. There are
separate contributions for public art maintenance for each of these sites.

11

Legal Implications
Contracts will be drawn up with commissioned artists prior to commencement.
All / any necessary consents with landowners (where it is not this Council) will
also be formally captured by legal agreement in advance of commencement.

12

Equality Issues
An EQIA has been completed. The key impacts are the enhancement of the
two areas of Picket Piece and Picket Twenty with new public art works
consisting of a sculpture and art trail. Public expectation with regard to the
projects needs to be carefully managed through community engagement and
consultation throughout the development of the artworks, and positive
marketing.
Groups particularly affected are local residents. General public, local
businesses and users of the sites.
There is no action required as a result of the EQIA.

13

An EQIA screening has been completed in accordance with the Council’s
EQIA methodology and no potential for unlawful discrimination and/or low
level or minor negative impact have been identified, therefore a full EQIA has
not been carried out.

Page 11

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

14

Other Issues

14.1

Community Safety - none

14.2

Environmental Health Issues - none

14.3

Sustainability and Addressing a Changing Climate
The considerations for a sustainable public art project will be managed by the
steering group created for each project. They will consider:



The artists practice and work including previous commissions, proposed
concepts and design work.



The level and style of community engagement and how well they include the
stakeholders for the specific project



The environment and unique considerations relating to resources, materials
proposed and methods of fabricating work.



The site, context and impact.

14.4

Property Issues
Where identified and necessary, for example where TVBC do not own or
manage land, the Arts Officer will obtain appropriate legal agreements and
permissions to site and install public artworks.

14.5

Wards/Communities Affected
Picket Piece: Andover Downlands Ward
Picket Twenty: Andover Downlands Ward
Town Centre: Andover St Marys Ward and Andover Winton Ward

15

Conclusion and reasons for recommendation

15.1

The commissioning panels have undertaken a rigorous commissioning
process.

15.2

It is recommended to Council that the commission for Picket Piece will be
awarded to Svetlana Kondakova based on strength of her proposal and
presentation in relation to the aims and ambitions as set out in the brief.

15.3

And that the Commission for Picket Twenty will be awarded to Tim Ward of
Circling the Square based on the strength if his proposal and presentation and
impressive portfolio of previous commissions.

15.4

It is recommended to Council that authorisation is given to draw down the
Section 106 on-site contributions to enable these projects to proceed and that
the contracts be awarded.

Page 12

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

15.5

It is recommended to Council that authorisation is given to draw down the
Section 106 off-site contributions to enable the Andover Town Centre projects
to proceed and that the new projects can continue with momentum and
community engagement.

Background Papers (Local Government Act 1972 Section 100D)
None
Confidentiality
It is considered that this report does not contain exempt information within the
meaning of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972, as amended, and can
be made public.
No of Annexes:

1– Artist Brief for Picket
Piece

File Ref: N/A

2 – Application from
Svetlana Kondakova
related to PP
3- Artist Brief for Picket
Twenty
4 – Application from Tim
Ward related to P20
(Portfolio: Community and Leisure) Councillor I Jeffrey
Officer:

Faye Perkins

Ext:

8844

Report to:

Cabinet

Date:

10 March 2021

Page 13

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

ANNEX 1

ARTIST BRIEF
Picket Piece Public Art
Vision
Test Valley Borough Council (TVBC) wish to commission an artist to work alongside
the community to determine and create a bespoke artwork for the new development
of Picket Piece in Andover. The artwork will represent the results of community
workshops lead by the artist and be sited in a place on the development where
everyone can enjoy.
Aims and Objectives
 To produce an artwork of high quality that is suitable size and scale for the
chosen site and budget
 To produce an artwork that represents the desire of the community
 To enable Picket Piece residents and the local community to engage with the
process of creating public art
 To deliver a project that demonstrates good practice in terms of community
engagement and the commissioning process that is in line with the TVBC
Public Art Strategy
Background
Picket Piece is found to the east of Andover and falls within the TVBC Andover
Downlands ward that contains the new communities of Picket Piece and Picket
Twenty, as well as the Walworth Business Park and Picket Piece Commercial
Centre.
The new development at Picket Piece has been under construction by David Wilson
Homes since 2014. It is now in the final stages and once complete will consist of 900
homes with associated facilities and infrastructure. At least 40% of the houses will be
affordable units delivered by Vivid Housing and these add to the 90 dwellings that
existed previously. In addition to this there are a number of other smaller
developments taking place across Picket Piece including 53 properties by Bellway
Homes.
Facilities at Picket Piece include three children’s play areas, a new sports pavilion,
football pitch and tennis court. There are five retail units nearing completion at the
local centre, new allotments alongside an area of nature conservation at Ox Drove
and open spaces that back onto the existing village hall.
Artist’s Roles and Responsibilities
The chosen artist will be responsible for:
 Community engagement activities
 The design, fabrication and installation of the artwork

Page 14

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

ANNEX 1







Providing detailed working drawings and designs for the commissioner
Supplying the relevant information and drawings required for any appropriate
planning permissions in partnership with TVBC
Effectively managing the available budget with the steering group
Attending regular meetings with the Arts Officer and steering group, to provide
updates for TVBC officers and Councillors on progress, timescale and budget
Providing a full maintenance schedule and instructions
Supplying information required for press releases and promotion.

The artist will hold and provide evidence of relevant public liability insurance and
professional indemnity insurance and take responsibility for these matters with any
third party contractors.
Community Engagement
In line with our Public Art Strategy we aim that all our public art projects involve
community consultation and participation to contribute towards the collection and
development of ideas and artworks. Our aim through this process is that residents
and local stakeholders are fully involved in the creation of their environments and
have a sense of ownership over the places in which they live.
We anticipate that the chosen artist will devise a programme of consultation events
and activities to engage with the community here at Picket Piece.
Key people and partners to involve include:
 Picket Piece Residents Association and Community Centre
 Picket Piece Sports and Social Club
 Picket Piece Toddler Group
 Walking Group
 Leisure Officers
 Test Valley Borough Council – Elected Members for Andover Downlands
Ward include Cllr Christopher Donnelly and Councillor Nick Lodge
 Hampshire County Councillors: Cllr Andrew Gibson and Cllr Kirsty North
The Site
Part of the engagement process will be to work with communities to decide on an
appropriate site for the artwork. Some initial ideas include:
 Area surrounding the Sports Pavilion
 Areas surrounding play equipment at Chaplin Way/Errington Road
 Possibly the area of nature conservation if deemed appropriate by countryside
team and community.

Page 15

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

ANNEX 1
Budget
This commission is funded through Section 106 contributions for public art and
managed by TVBC.
£27,000 is available to cover the full commission and it should be noted that this
includes:
 Artist time for design and drawings
 Community events and engagement
 Meetings with steering groups and relevant agencies
 Fabrications, transport and installation
 Planning application fees and other fees that may be required
Maintenance
There is a separate sum from the developer towards maintenance of artwork for this
site. The chosen artist will be expected to provide a full maintenance schedule on
completion. The artist should also include the anticipated life span of the work and
any decommissioning procedures that should be applied.
Timetable
Description
Deadline for applications
Shortlisting
Artist Interviews
Notify preferred artist
Reports to Council
management boards and
Cabinet to draw down funds
Contract artists and start
commission
Project completion

Date
Monday 7 September 2020
End of September
October
October
October/November

January 2021
September 2021

How To Apply
Your application should be submitted by Monday 7 September to include:
 A proposal outlining your experience and approach to leading public art
projects. Max 1 A4 page
 A current CV of artist or company profile
 2 examples of previous relevant projects, including images. Max 2 A4 pages
 2 references
Artists must demonstrate the following in their expression of interest:
 A track record in arts project delivery
 Experience of delivering community workshops
 Evidence of the ability to produce high quality outcomes
Applications and enquiries should be sent by email to: Faye Perkins, Arts Officer at
The Lights, fperkins@testvalley.gov.uk

Page 16

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

ANNEX 1

Equal Opportunities
Test Valley Borough Council is committed to providing and promoting equal
opportunities in employment and service provision, eliminating discrimination, and
encouraging diversity amongst the workforce. A full copy of our equal opportunities
policy is attached.

Linked documents
1. TVBC Public Art Strategy
http://www.testvalley.gov.uk/resident/communityandleisure/artsandculture/pub
licart/public-art-strategy/
2. Equal Opportunities Policy
http://www.testvalley.gov.uk/aboutyourcouncil/corporatedirection/equality--diversity/equalities/
3. Information about Picket Piece
https://www.testvalley.gov.uk/communityandleisure/my-local-areanew/andover-downlands/picket-piece

Page 17

ANNEX 2
Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

PICKET PIECE

Public Art Commission

APPLICATION
By Artist Svetlana Kondakova
03/09/2020

Contents
Proposal

3

Proposed Approach to Project

3

Public Art Experience

4

CV

5

Page 18

ANNEX 2
Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

Examples of Previous Relevant Projects

7

Example 1: Musselburgh Archer

7

Example 2: A Selkirk Legacy

10

References

12

Page 19

ANNEX 2

Proposal

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

Proposed Approach to Project
I propose to create a sculpture every element of which will be designed with the help of the community, taking their inputs
as the inspiration for the artwork location, shape, colours and detail. In order to achieve this I will carry out a minimum of six
consultations and workshops and two online campaigns, engaging all of the key people and partners
indicated in
the brief as well as many others, as follows:

1. Consultations (2 or more)
The first consultation will be carried out with Leisure Officers, Test Valley Borough Councillors and Hampshire County
Councillors, presenting to them the community engagement plan, in order to finalise it together and to invite them to be
involved in the activities, as appropriate. This will be followed by a walking and mapping activity with local residents,
including the Picket Piece Residents Association and the Walking Group, in an effort to find the most appropriate
location for the sculpture. We will also discuss and use photography to document the aspects of Picket Piece which
residents enjoy the most.

2. Sculpting Workshops & Public Vote on Sculpture Shape (2 or more + online campaign)
The shape of the sculpture will be arrived at through a series of sculpting workshops with children and young people,
including the Picket Piece Toddler Group, focusing on the natural assets of the area and local/native wildlife. This activity
can also be carried out as a public workshop held at the Community Centre for example. Following the workshops, a
shortlist of the most repeated forms will be publicly shared via social media and local press and voted on by the community.
The winning shape will then be modelled in 3D in the faceted style and transformed into a printable 2D
template, to be
used in the next round of workshops.

3. Model Making & Design Workshops (2 or more + online campaign)
The next set of workshops will involve designing the details of the sculpture by residents of all ages, including the Picket
Piece Sports and Social Club and a public event at the Community Centre, by making and decorating small models of
the chosen shape. The 2D template will be printed out on card, allowing participants to create 3D scale replicas of the
sculpture. They will then be asked to transform their models using a variety of art and craft materials to incorporate colour,
text, drawings and photographs on the surface of their 3D shape. The workshops will focus on defined themes local
assets and future aspirations for the area. As an additional source of input from the local community, I will make a public
call for submissions of photographs and other images which could be incorporated into the artwork focusing on
what
people enjoy the most about the place where they live. The colours will be chosen based on the community designs.
Drawings, photographs and text will be incorporated into the structure by cutting out shapes to make a light
and
airy structure which creates fascinating light and shadow effects.

Page 20

ANNEX 2
Fabrication & Installation

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

Following the approval of the final design by the steering group and key stakeholders, the artwork will be fabricated out
of steel, galvanised and painted using a highly durable and weatherproof two-part polyurethane metal paint. The
fabrication will be done with the help of Big Red Blacksmiths, a trusted specialist whom I have worked with on a number
of projects including Musselburgh Archer, Viridor Tree and currently Roman Head . It will then be delivered to site in
manageable sections and installed onto a suitable concrete pad.

Public Art Experience
I have a track record of six public art projects successfully delivered to date, commissioned by East Lothian Council,
Edinburgh Napier University, Scottish Borders Council and Viridor (a UK-wide recycling, renewable energy and waste
management company). Three of those have been in collaboration with another artist and three as a solo artist. I have
also been commissioned to create a further two public art projects, which I am currently working on, commissioned by
West Dunbartonshire Council and West Lothian Council.
I have extensive experience of working closely with communities on public art projects using a variety of engaging
methods. In a recent project called
Musselburgh Archer , I involved locals of all ages in coming up with wishes for the
future of their town, via creative workshops. The final selection of wishes was arrived at through a voting system and
engraved onto arrows, forming a sculpture trail around the town. The locations of the arrows were also chosen with the help
of local residents, via a consultation and mapping event. As part of another recent public art project titled
Litter
Mural, I focused on coastal litter as an environmental challenge and facilitated a collective tackling of this problem by
working with communities, including 330 school pupils, to collect waste and create artworks out of it. Another example
of my community art projects is a large mosaic mural titled
A Selkirk Legacy , which was designed and created
together
with people of all ages in a town in the Scottish Borders. As well as involving local residents in helping to design
the artwork, the mural is completed with the community’s own mosaics, in the form of 94 leaping salmon, made through a
series of workshops held at schools, retirement housing and public spaces.
I have worked on and overseen the installation of all of my public artworks and therefore have knowledge, experience and
understanding of how to construct for and install in public spaces. I am also a CSCS (Construction Skills
Certification
Scheme) cardholder having passed the Health, Safety & Environment test as well as having a CITB
(Construction Industry Training Board) certificate for completing a Site safety Plus: Health & Safety Awareness course.
Furthermore, I have been the project manager for all of my public art projects, both collaborative and individual. My
responsibilities typically include regularly communicating with the clients, conceiving and organising all aspects of
community engagement, publicising the projects, ensuring all deadlines are met that all elements of spending are within
budget and working with structural engineers. I also have experience in writing planning applications, Risk Assessments,
Method Statements, Design Statements, Maintenance Schedules, as well as drawing Site and Location Plans, scale
drawings and install diagrams.

Page 21

ANNEX 2
Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

Roman Head, weathering steel, work in progress

Viridor Tree, recycled glass, steel and concrete (2019)

CV
Svetlana Kondakova
Edinburgh-based artist creating sculptures, murals, installations, paintings and mixed media artworks,
primarily for the public realm.
As a public artist, I have a track record of six public art projects successfully delivered to date, commissioned by East
Lothian Council, Edinburgh Napier University, Scottish Borders Council and Viridor (a UK-wide recycling, renewable energy
and waste management company). I have also been commissioned to create a further two public art projects,
which
I am currently working on, commissioned by West Dunbartonshire Council and West Lothian Council.
I have skills in 3D-modelling, life-casting, mould-making, sculpting, construction and working with upcycled materials.
Having project managed and overseen the installation of all of my public artworks I have knowledge, experience and
understanding of how to construct and install in a variety of public and outdoor environments.

Current Public Art Projects
Roman Head - 6x6.6m corten steel sculpture of a Roman centurion head, in collaboration with Big Red Blacksmiths,
commissioned as part of a wider “Rediscovering the Antonine Wall” project, managed by a Steering Group of five local
authorities and Historic Environment Scotland, expected completion - 2020
Memorial Artwork, sculptural artwork commissioned by West Lothian Council for the Almondell Cemetery, East Calder, in
consultation & collaboration with the local community, expected completion - 2021

Past Public Art Projects
2019 (August) Musselburgh Archer - life-sized bronze statue and sculpture trail, in collaboration with Maja Quille and
the local community, commissioned by East Lothian Council for Musselburgh, UK
2019 (August) Litter Mural - 4x2m mural made with local communities, entirely out of East Lothian’s coastal litter
commissioned by Viridor for the Visitor & Education Centre of their ERF facility, Dunbar, UK

Page 22

ANNEX 2
Test Valley
Borough
Council
Cabinet
- 10 March
2021commissioned by Viridor located
2019 (February) Viridor Tree - 5m-tall
recycled
glass,
steel -and
concrete
sculpture
outside the Visitor & Education Centre of their ERF facility, Dunbar, UK
2018 A Selkirk Legacy - approx 30m-long mosaic mural commissioned by Scottish Borders Council, a Community Art
Project as part of the Selkirk Flood Protection Scheme, Scottish Borders, UK
2014 Imprint - approx 3x3m 2-part sculpture, in collaboration with Maja Quille, commissioned by Edinburgh Napier
University, Edinburgh, UK
2014 Tree of Knowledge - approx 2.5x4.5m interactive sculpture, in collaboration with Maja Quille, commissioned by
Edinburgh Napier University, Edinburgh, UK

Professional Experience
2016 – 2017 Vice President, Rootsi Arcadia, natural agriculture social enterprise, Greece
Roles included: community building and public engagement with natural agriculture and sustainable living through art;
running workshops, facilitating artists in residence and creating land and environmental artworks.
June 2016 Art Expert Evaluator, European Commission
Role: to evaluate funding proposals for ICT-Art projects for the European Commission as an art expert.
2012-2016 Co-founder and Director of Black Cube Collective, independent art organisation
Roles included: representing artists in two major European Commission-funded projects leading to new streams of
funding for interdisciplinary practices; creating accessible professional development opportunities for new and emerging
artists; organising international events and workshops; curating exhibitions.

Education Profile
2007-2011 Edinburgh College of Art, BA (Hons) Drawing & Painting
2010 Athens School of Fine Art, Erasmus Exchange, completed modules: Painting, Mosaic

Other Qualifications & Certificates
CSCS (Construction Skills Certification Scheme) cardholder for Health, Safety & Environment test pass
CITB (Construction Industry Training Board) certified Site safety Plus: Health & Safety Awareness course Full
UK Driving Licence
Protecting Vulnerable Groups (PVG) certificate holder (Disclosure Scotland)

Artist Residencies
2015, 2016 Rootsi Arcadia, Routsi, Greece
2011-2012 Sustainable Bolivia, Cochabamba, Bolivia

Selected Exhibitions
2016 Seven Deadly Sins, Union Gallery, Edinburgh, UK (solo)
2014 ATHENS, Athens, Greece (group);
2014 Art Rooms, Cockenzie House, East Lothian, UK (group);
2013 New Ideas for the City , State Museum of Urban Sculpture, St Petersburg, Russia (group);
2012 ICT & Art Connect, Galerie Libre Cours, Brussels, Belgium (group);
2012 Una HOJA Muchos ROSTROS, Martadero, Cochabamba, Bolivia (group)

7/5 Montagu Terrace, Edinburgh, EH3 5QX, UK
+44 7975715415

Page 23

ANNEX 2
Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

svetakondakova@gmail.com

www.svetlanakondakova.com

Examples of Previous Relevant Projects
Example 1: Musselburgh Archer
Medium: bronze, stainless and galvanised steel
Dimensions: archer 180 cm tall, arrows of varying sizes
Year completed: 2019
Location: Musselburgh, East Lothian, UK
Commissioned by East Lothian Council, collaborative project with artist Maja Quille

The artwork comprises a life-size bronze archer on the Esk riverbank by the Roman Bridge and 15 arrows at different
locations around Musselburgh. Inspired by local history, the archer and arrows represent three important aspects of
Musselburgh heritage - the Roman invasion in AD 80, the battle of Pinky Cleugh in 1547 and the Musselburgh Silver
Arrow, which dates back to 1603 and is claimed to be the oldest sporting trophy in the world.
The arrows are engraved with the community’s wishes for the future of Musselburgh, which have been gathered and
voted on in community workshops organised as part of the project. Installed in a variety of ways, and including one

Page 24

ANNEX 2
Test Valley
Borough
Council
- Cabinet
10 March
2021
oversized arrow made by repurposing
a disused
pole,
they form
a trail- which
leads
people to sites which are important
to the town in terms of history, culture, nature and community, highlighting its assets and reasserting the town’s identity.
There is a map showing the arrow locations at the feet of the archer which doesn’t give away too many details, inviting
participants to experience Musselburgh through an adventurous route of discovery.
Since the sculpture was installed, the people of Musselburgh have taken ownership of it by dressing ‘Archie’ up in outfits
that represent festivities, local events and the changing times and sharing them on his facebook group which is quickly
approaching 1000 followers. His outfits and accessories have included: an elf outfit at Christmas; a rainbow dress with
matching accessories for Pride; as horse rider's outfit for the Riding of the Marches; a nun’s habit to promote a local
youth theatre production; Black Lives Matter posters and various items of PPE. The Musselburgh Area Yarn Bombers
have also knitted him a target placed across the river and more recently a cone for his head and some toilet roll!

Page 25

ANNEX 2
Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

Page 26

ANNEX 2
Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

Example 2: A Selkirk Legacy
Medium: glass and ceramic mosaic mural
Dimensions: approx total 30m x 180cm
Year completed: 2018
Location: Selkirk, Scottish Borders, UK

Selkirk Flood Protection Scheme Community Art Project commissioned by Scottish Borders Council

A Selkirk Legacy is a 30-metre long mosaic mural on a flood defence wall. The largest part of the mosaic at one end of the
wall portrays participants of Common Riding in a variety of roles throughout the years, creating a historical narrative
of the community. This aspect of the artwork was designed together with Selkirk residents, based on images, ideas and
information provided by them. Common Riding is an old tradition in the Scottish Borders, dating back over 500 years, of
riding on horseback around the common land boundaries to protect them from encroachment.
A kelpie, Scottish mythological water demon, occupies the other end of the wall symbolising the River Ettrick and the
floods. A local hero, elected by Selkirk citizens via a vote, is shown taming the creature, protecting the town from its
destruction. This acts as a metaphor for the flood protection scheme and relates to the original purpose of Common Riding.
The mural is completed with 94 leaping salmon mosaics, representing native wildlife, made entirely by locals of all ages
in a series of seven workshops, including two at local primary schools and one at retirement housing. The fish form a
trail along the 200-metre flood defence wall, connecting two bigger mosaics at each end of it.

Page 27

ANNEX 2
Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

Page 28

ANNEX 2

References

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

Lesley Smith
(Musselburgh Archer project)
Principal Arts Officer, East Lothian Council
The Brunton, Ladywell Way, Musselburgh EH21 6AA
0131 665 2240 07779022617
lsmith@eastlothian.gov.uk

Conor Price
(A Selkirk Legacy project)
Previously Senior Project Manager, Selkirk Flood Protection Scheme
Currently Director, CPE Consultancy
CPE Consultancy, Ground Floor 2 Old Engine House, Musselburgh EH21 7PE
0131 285 8875 07525 742361
conor.price@cpeconsultancy.com

Page 29

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

ANNEX 3

ARTIST BRIEF
Picket Twenty Public Art Trail – Public Art Commission
Vision
Test Valley Borough Council (TVBC) wish to commission a public art trail for the new
community development at Picket Twenty in Andover. The trail should celebrate
movement and be innovative and interactive by design. The trail should encourage
children and adults to explore and engage with their surroundings and should
culminate with a main piece of kinetic sculpture to be sited at the Urban Park.
Whilst Picket Twenty is a development of housing including a school, shop and
nursery, the artworks should be sympathetic to the important countryside and
environment that surround Picket Twenty.
Aims & Objectives
 To produce an art trail of high quality design that is a suitable size and scale
for the chosen site(s)
 To produce an art trail that is innovative and bespoke
 To enable Picket Twenty residents and the local community to engage with
the process of creating public art.
 To deliver a project that demonstrates good practice in terms of community
engagement and the commissioning process that is in line with the TVBC
Public Art Strategy
Background

Two public artworks have already been commissioned in partnership with
Persimmon Homes for the Picket Twenty development site in Andover in 2011.
1 | Picket Twenty Public Art Commission

Page 30

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

ANNEX 3
These include the Stick Kid Bridge (pictured above) and the Bus route underpass
Mural.
The Stick Kid Bridge was commissioned of metal worker John Mills in 2011, to adorn
a pedestrian bridge linking the development to the route towards the town centre.
The Bus-route underpass mural was created by David Dixon 2011.
The development of housing here is now complete and residents have been living in
the area for over 5 years. The mix of housing includes homes which are provided by
Housing Associations, the Ministry of Defence as well as privately owned homes.
The Urban Park is located to the north of the Picket Twenty development and covers
over 25 hectares. The park includes 7 full size football pitches, a cricket square and
a perimeter surfaced route measuring 1 mile, which is excellent for running, dog
walking and is a great place for cycling.
Harewood Common comprises of nearly 10 Hectares of chalk grassland rich in
wildlife. It provides a refreshing contrast to the close mown landscape of the Urban
Park. The site is managed with wildlife at its heart, whilst providing access for the
public. Originally an agricultural field, Harewood Common backs onto the mature
woodland at Harewood Forest. Its past management as a hay meadow makes it an
ideal place to encourage wildlife to thrive.
Persimmon Homes are also building another 500+ homes at the neighbouring Picket
Twenty Extension. This part of the development comes with its own public art
commission that will commission a heritage interpretation scheme that will include a
creative engagement project, bespoke artworks and interpretation, and a learning
and education pack. The theme is focused on the high value heritage identified as
‘The presence of buried archaeological remains, in particular relating to probable
prehistoric barrow cemetery within the centre of the site. The remains are expected
to be relatively well preserved and are likely to be of at least regional importance.’
Artist’s Roles & Responsibilities
The chosen artist will be responsible for:









The design, fabrication and installation of the art work
Providing detailed working drawings and designs for the commissioner
Supplying the relevant information and drawings required for any appropriate
planning permissions in partnership with TVBC
Effectively managing the available budget with the steering group
Attending regular meetings with the Arts Officer and steering group, to provide
updates for TVBC officers and Councillors on progress, timescales and
budget
Delivery of a programme of community engagement
Providing a full maintenance schedule and instructions
Supplying information required for press releases and promotion

The artist will hold and provide evidence of relevant public liability insurance and
professional indemnity insurance, and take responsible for any third party
contractors.
2 | Picket Twenty Public Art Commission

Page 31

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

ANNEX 3

Community Engagement
In line with our Public Art Strategy we aim that all our public art projects involve
community consultation and participation to contribute towards the collection and
development of ideas and artworks. Our aim through this process is that residents
and local stakeholders are fully involved in the creation of their environments and
have a sense of ownership over the places in which they live.
We anticipate that the chosen artist will devise a programme of consultation events
and activities to engage with the range of people and stakeholders around this site.
Key people and partners to involve include:
 Persimmon Homes
 Pilgrim’s Cross School
 Winton Secondary School
 Egg Day Nursery
 Picket Twenty Community Association and Community Centre
 Test Valley Borough Council – Elected Members for Andover Downlands
Ward include Cllr Christopher Donnelly and Councillor Nick Lodge
 Hampshire County Councillors: Cllr Andrew Gibson and Cllr Kirsty North
The Site
Part of the engagement process will be to work with communities to decide on
appropriate sites for elements of the trail. Initial key suggestions include:
 Urban Park, Sports Pavilion and MUGA
 Paths leading to Ladies Walk and Stick Kid Bridge
 Pilgrims Cross School
 Community Centre
 Egg Nursery
 Harewood Common
 Open Space by playground, Picket Twenty Way
 Playground, Quicksilver Way

3 | Picket Twenty Public Art Commission

Page 32

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

ANNEX 3
Budget
This commission is funded through Section 106 contributions for public art from
Persimmon and project managed by TVBC.
£69,000 is available to cover the full commission and it should be noted that this
includes:
 Artist time for design and drawings
 Community events and engagement
 Meetings with steering group and relevant agencies
 Fabrication, transport and installation
 Planning application fees and other fees that may be required.
Maintenance
A budget has been allocated from the developer for future maintenance. This is
separate to this commission fee. The chosen artist will be expected to provide a full
maintenance manual on completion of installation with clear guidelines as to the best
way to maintain the artwork and any specialist treatment/knowledge that is
necessary. The artist should also indicate the anticipated life span of the work and
any decommissioning procedures that should be applied.
Schedule
Description
Deadline for applications
Shortlisting
Artist Interviews
Notify preferred artist
Reports to Council
management boards and
Cabinet to draw down funds
Contract artists and start
commission
Project completion

Date
Monday 14 September
October
October/November
November
November/December

January 2021
December 2021

How To Apply
Your application should be submitted no later than Monday 14 September to include:
 A proposal outlining your approach to the commission and initial responses to
the brief. Max 3 A4 pages, 6 sides.
 A current CV and Artist’s statement of relevant work and commissions. Max 2
A4 pages, 4 sides.
 4 examples of previous relevant projects, including images. Max 3 A4 pages,
6 sides.
You must demonstrate the following in your expression of interest:
 A track record in commissions for the public realm
 Experience of community engagement within public art projects
 Experience of working within a creative team
 Evidence of the ability to produce high quality works of art
 A clear understanding of the challenges and sensitivities of the project
4 | Picket Twenty Public Art Commission

Page 33

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

ANNEX 3

Applications and enquiries should be sent by email to:
Faye Perkins, Arts Officer, fperkins@testvalley.gov.uk
Equal Opportunities
Test Valley Borough Council is committed to providing and promoting equal
opportunities in employment and service provision, eliminating discrimination, and
encouraging diversity amongst the workforce. A full copy of our equal opportunities
policy is attached.

Linked documents
1. TVBC Public Art Strategy
http://www.testvalley.gov.uk/resident/communityandleisure/artsandculture/pub
licart/public-art-strategy/
2. Equal Opportunities Policy
http://www.testvalley.gov.uk/aboutyourcouncil/corporatedirection/equality--diversity/equalities/
3. Picket Twenty Information
https://www.testvalley.gov.uk/communityandleisure/my-local-areanew/andover-downlands/picket-twenty

5 | Picket Twenty Public Art Commission

Page 34

ANNEX 4

Tim Ward -Circling the Square
Picket Twenty Public Art Trail

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

Page 35
Artist - Tim Ward
Circling the Square Ltd, 28 Hills Road, Buckhurst Hill, Essex IG9 5RS, United Kingdom
Tel: 0044 (0)208 505 5120 Email: tim@circlingthesquare.com

Tim Ward of Circling the Square designs & implements sculptures, public art & environmental projects, combining a variety of
different mediums; steel, lighting, glass, stone, landscape. Tim is committed to working collaboratively in delivering projects, aiming
to create projects of real value which are strongly supported both by local communities and their project partners and which imbue
a shared sense of ownership and pride in the improvements. Tim is a elected member of the Artworkers Guild.

ANNEX 4
www.circlingthesquare.com
www.artworkersguild.org/member/timward/ TIM
WARD – CIRCLING THE SQUARE

Page 36

I design & implement schemes in a variety of different media ranging from mainly steelwork, but including granite, glass,
photographic plates, signage to street furniture and landscaping. I like to create features that have a function as well as
aesthetically pleasing.
See in this PDF Presentation past work of Tim Ward/CTS relevant to this commission & you can visit the following websites:
www.artworkersguild.org/member/timward/
www.circlingthesquare.com
CTS, led by Tim Ward, would work in collaboration & engage all stakeholders and project partners of the scheme, building
positive input whilst increasing awareness of the scheme and community engagement opportunities. Tim would carryout the
participatory programme to involve all in the creative process and sharing skills in public art. These sessions would be run by
Tim Ward who has experience in all forms of public art and creative landscapes.
Tim Ward/CTS commitments for the project would be:

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

The Picket Twenty Public Arts Trail commission is of
great interest to me as I have undertaken many successful public art projects and arts-led interpretation schemes throughout
the UK and feel my approach and experience would be appropriate for the commission. I am interested in combining
information, natural environment or heritage, within art projects and working with local people to research and develop
appropriate imagery for art pieces. I am committed to working collaboratively in delivering projects, aiming to create artwork
of real value which are strongly supported both by local communities and their project partners and which imbue a shared
sense of ownership and pride in the creative interventions.

ANNEX 4
•Collaborative working, from initiating designs to the implementation of distinctive, meaningful and sense of place art trail for
Picket Twenty.
•Create artwork that is appropriate, functional & integrated with the landscape of the green areas of Picket Twenty.
•Quality public artwork that conveys a positive message in keeping with the aspirations of Picket Twenty Communities and
Test
Valley Borough Council

Page 37

Tim Ward would be the CTS lead artist on the commission. Since graduating from Goldsmiths’ College in 1980, Tim has worked
extensively in designing, managing and implementing public art & environmental projects. He worked for over 16 years (1986 to
2002) for Free Form Arts Trust leading teams of artists, designers, architects and community facilitators to design and
implement of environmental and public art projects. In 2002, he formed Circling the Square which aims to bring all his
experience together in new partnerships that are committed to a creative approach of engaging local communities in innovative
projects. Tim is an elected member of Art Workers Guild since 1992.
Other members of the CTS Team that can be called upon are:
Ian Clements/Shane Rayner – Steelwork.
Mark Betts Annet Stewart– Granite & Stone Work
Charlotte Ward – Graphic Designer
Tim Ward & Circling the Square has built up over many years expertise in providing design, technical and project management
services on public art projects. We have the required 5m Public & Employers Liability and Professional Indemnity Insurances.
We produced Method Statements & Risk Assessments for each project as required and work to a current Health and Safety
Policy. Circling the Square has experience of undertaking the necessary analysis of sites to support the design process. It is
important prior to starting any design work to determining the location of services and to establish any technical restriction

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

TIM WARD CTS MANAGEMENT SKILLS

ANNEX 4
relating to the site. We produce technical to-scale drawings to show the structural integrity of any artwork and environmental
improvements. These drawings would support seeking planning & building control approvals (if required), engineering
producing structural reports and calculations and act as working drawings for fabricators and on-site delivery.
CTS confirms that we can deliver the project within the available budget and the activities outlined in the brief timetable.
We would welcome the opportunity to work with you on this exciting scheme.

TIM WARD CTS – PICKET TWENTY PUBLIC ART TRAIL
Page 38

LANDMARK FEATURES – The Artist could develop ideas in consultation and creative workshops with local residents, community groups and
schools for a number of landmark features along the Arts Trail. These key interventions along the trail would aim to encourage children and
adults to explore and engage with their surroundings and would culminate with a main piece of kinetic sculpture to be sited at the Urban Park.
Examples below of Tim Ward’s recent landmark features on other schemes.

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

Tim Ward has an enhanced DBS Certificate.

ANNEX 4

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

Page 39
Broadbridge Heath Gateway – Steel arches with heritage imagery, maps, landscape and community panels. Tim ward ran participatory design
workshops with local groups and schools followed by public open days to show, discuss and develop the designs for the landmark public art.

ANNEX 4
Butterflies Sculpture
Meadow Park, Braintree
Client: Hallmark Developments

‘You ask what is the use of
butterflies? I reply to adorn the
world and delight the eyes of men;
to brighten the countryside like so
many golden jewels. To
contemplate their exquisite beauty
and variety is to experience the
truest pleasure.’
John Ray (1627–1705)

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

Page 40

This landmark sculpture is located at
the entrance of the new build
housing development in Braintree.
The sculpture is entirely fabricated
in stainless steel and is 12 meters
tall with nine butterflies suspended
on tall tubes. The inspiration for this
sculpture and two other water
features created by artist Tim Ward
of Circling the Square for this
scheme comes from the work of
John Ray (1627 – 1705) of Braintree
who researched and catalogued the
natural environment.

ANNEX 4
Jon Egging Memorial
Client: Bournemouth Council

Page 41

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

Tim Ward was commissioned to create this landmark sculpture in
memory of Jon Egging the Red Arrows Pilot who tragically died
during an air display in 2011. Artist Tim Ward worked closely with
Jon’s family, schools and local authority. The memorial created in
stainless steel & glass created a lot of interest, including TV &
newspaper coverage at a national level. Jon’s family, the Red
Arrows, local council, project partners and local communities
attended an unveiling ceremony which was followed by a fly over
by the Red Arrows during the air show.

ANNEX 4
TIM WARD CTS – PICKET TWENTY PUBLIC ART TRAIL
COMMUNAL SEATING AREAS – A series of art seats could be created along the trail becoming communal forums and meeting points. The Artist to
develop ideas for seat and other functional features in consultation and creative workshops with local residents, community groups and schools.

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

Page 42

ANNEX 4
South Woodford heritage art benches that celebrated notable
people of the area including William Morris.

Walsall Palliative Care Centre Bowl of Marbles Seating & Bulrush
Functional Artwork created by artist Tim Ward

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

Page 43

ANNEX 4

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

Page 44

ANNEX 4
Carved Granite Seats Client: Bloor Homes South Midlands
Tim Ward of CTS created these carved granite seats pf platforms for the open spaces on a new build housing development in the South
Midlands. Each of the granite pieces has imagery relating to the local area carved into the top of the seats.

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

Page 45

ANNEX 4

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

Page 46
Stewards School, Harlow – Outdoor Learning: Food Technology Garden

ANNEX 4
Years 7, 8, 9 & 10 Pupils and Staff worked with CTS Artists to designed & built this outdoor learning space including central brick paved area
with ground level planting beds, feature (large-scale cutlery) timber seating, hard surface gravel stabilisation system, ‘adpave’ reinforced turf
area, timber raised planters and orchard area.

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

Page 47

ANNEX 4

Tim Ward CTS created local
heritage benches, biodiversity
waymarkers& ‘straw plait’
railings for this new build
housing. The themes included
Hop picking, carpentry, brick
making, wild life and
environment.

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

Page 48
Earl’s Garden Benches, Sible
Hedingham, Essex
Client: Bloor Homes

ANNEX 4
TIM WARD CTS – PICKET TWENTY PUBLIC ART TRAIL
WAYMARKERS – Waymarkers with imagery of biodiversity and information panels on local wildlife, animals, birds, fish, insects, plants and
tree species. The Artist could develop ideas in consultation and creative workshops with local residents, community groups and schools for a
number of landmark features.

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

Page 49
Waymarkers and directional signage to be located a key points along the paths of the art trail to aid and encourage people to explore the green
spaces and surrounding landscape

ANNEX 4

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

Page 50
Northampton West
Hunsbury Country Park &
Rectory Farm Signage,
Waymarkers, Benches &
Footbridge
Client: Northampton
Borough Council

ANNEX 4

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

Page 51
Pavilions Knot Sculpture Client: Eastleigh Borough Council

ANNEX 4
Tim Ward of CTS created sculpture for a new housing development within the West End Parish of Eastleigh. Local schools were involved in
the project develop the design ideas for the plinth laser etched panels.

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

Page 52

ANNEX 4

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

Page 53

ANNEX 4
PROPOSALS FOR INVOLVING LOCAL PEOPLE
Tim Ward, on appointment, would meet with the client to define the scope of the project and detail a participatory programme for
developing the designs for the art trail. A list of community groups, venues and schools in the brief would be developed followed by
meetings with residents to gain their involvement and share their aspirations for the Art Trail.

Page 54
Examples of previous community engagement public days and creative workshops run by Artist Tim Ward

Tim Ward understands the importance of good communication in community or public art schemes. Tim will establish a good programme of
participatory design workshops, interactive connections to the project via social media, milestone events and celebrations. A consistent
engagement & communications approach to be adopted to ensure maximum profile, advocacy and success of the Arts Commission.

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

Tim is experienced in delivering programme of community consultation and creative workshops for public art and environmental schemes.
Tim would devise and undertake consultation meetings, target group sessions, community organisations, schools and colleges, special
interest groups, hard-to-reach groups, run creative sessions and public open days for local people to engage full in the public art. This
process would gather ideas, test approaches, identify locations and draw out the qualities and characteristics of Picket Twenty.

ANNEX 4

PROPOSALS FOR INVOLVING LOCAL RESIDENTS
Tim Ward’s work would be sympathetic to Picket Twenty location, surrounding landscape and requirements of local people. Tim can
provide an Art Trail, that as well as being imaginative and aesthetically pleasing, could have a functional element in aiding orientation
around the green spaces and local areas of interest, provide meeting points, encourage active involvement to use in the trail and promote
health & well-being. To explore ways in which people can celebrate the uniqueness of Picket Twenty, interpret local wildlife, floral &
fauna, heritage and their aspirations via the artwork.

Page 55
Examples of previous community engagement public days and creative workshops run by Artist Tim Ward

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

Tim would developing and carrying out consultation activities and creative workshops to develop the design ideas for the public art.

ANNEX 4
TIM WARD CTS CV
Tim Ward – Artist Circling
the Square Ltd

Elected member

Experience
An artist and designer for over thirty years, Tim Ward specialises in the design & build of public art, street furniture &
environmental projects. Tim likes to explore the combination of a variety of different materials, ranging from steelwork,
photographic plates, glass, stone, mosaic and lighting in producing his artwork. He believes art within public spaces should
encourage and stimulate interaction with the world around us and evoke a sense of pride and wonder for the unique quality of the
places where we live, visit and work.

Page 56

On graduating from Goldsmiths’ College in 1980, Tim worked for various arts companies producing public art, including CAN
(Community Arts North West), Free Form Arts Trust and in 2002 he founded Circling the Square.
Public Commissions - The following are a selection of recent projects:
•2020 Broadbridge Heath Gateway Sculpture

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

Education/Membership
Goldsmiths' College, University of London B.A. (Hons) Fine Art (1980)
of Art Workers Guild from 1992.

ANNEX 4
TIM WARD CTS CV

Tim is committed to working collaboratively in delivering projects within public art, urban regeneration and environmental schemes.
He aims to create projects of real value which are strongly supported both by local communities and their project partners.
Websites www.circlingthesquare.com www.artworkersguild.org/member/timward/
Tim Ward/Circling the Square Insurance
Professional Indemnity – £500,000 per claim

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

Page 57

•2019 Eastleigh Knot Sculpture, Hampshire
•2019 Arbury Court Gateways & Artwork, Cambridge
•2018 Sheffield College Public Art, Sheffield
•2017 British Timken Sculpture, Duston, Northampton
•2016 Octagons Sculpture & Signage, Old Gaol, Abingdon, Oxfordshire
•2016 Colchester Heritage Gates, Colchester, Essex
•2015 Ashlon Sculpture, Ashford, Kent
•2015 Crossing Point Sculpture, Ballyconnell, Ireland
•2015 Loom Sculpture, Barnsley, South Yorkshire
•2015 Flowing Thoughts Artwork, Londonderry, Northern Ireland
•2013/14 Banbury & Bicester College Public Art, Banbury, Oxfordshire
•2013 Daventry Roundabout Sculpture, Daventry, Northamptonshire
•2013 Homfray Heritage Trail, Tredegar, Blaenau Gwent, Wales
•2012 Jon Egging Memorial Sculpture, Bournemouth
•2012 Bert William Leisure Centre Lighting Sculpture, Bilston, Wolverhampton
•2011 Bridgescape Public Art, South Woodford, LB of Redbridge
•2011 Hyde Park Drinking Fountain, Royal Parks, London
•2011 Goscote Sculptures, St Giles Hospice, Bloxwich, Walsall
•2010 Stewards School Learning Environment, Harlow •2010
Broomfield Hospital Artwork, Chelmsford

ANNEX 4
TIM WARD CTS CV
Public Liability – £5 million
Employers Liability – £10 million
Circling the Square’s – Company No. 04542844 VAT
Registration No. 853 3680 14

Page 58

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

DBS
Tim Ward has an enhanced DBS Certificate

ANNEX 4

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

Page 59
Circling the Square Ltd
28 Hills Road, Buckhurst Hill, Essex IG9 5RS
Tel: 0208 505 5120 Email: info@circlingthesquare.com
Websites
www.artworkersguild.org/member/timward/
www.axisweb.org/seCVFU.aspx?ARTISTID=16073
www.circlingthesquare.com

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

ITEM 9

Test Valley Borough Local Plan 2011-2029 –
Five Year Review

Report of the Planning Portfolio Holder

Recommended:
1.

That the five year review of the Test Valley Borough Local Plan 20112029 Annexes to the report be approved and published in accordance
with Regulation 10A The Town and Country Planning (Local Planning)
(England) Regulations 2012 (as amended).

2.

That the Head of Planning Policy and Economic Development, in
consultation with the Planning Portfolio Holder be delegated to carry out
amendments of a minor nature to improve the presentation of the
documents and correct any typographical errors.

SUMMARY:


The purpose of this report is to seek approval for the five year review of the Test
Valley Borough Local Plan 2011-2029 and for this to be published.



With the support of the Planning Advisory Service (PAS) the review has been
undertaken by the Council through preparing an assessment using relevant parts
of the PAS Local Plan Toolkit. This assessment has then been subject to review
by independent consultants appointed PAS to assist the Council.



The outcome of the five year review will assist in informing how preparation of
the next Local Plan, which has commenced, now moves forward to the formal
consultation stages.

1

Introduction

1.1

The Local Plan is a key policy document of the Council setting out the
planning framework for the Borough together with implementing the spatial
aspects of the Council’s priorities, as set out the Corporate Plan.

1.2

A five year review of the Test Valley Borough Local Plan 2011-2029 has been
undertaken as it has reached the five year anniversary of its adoption on 27
January 2016. The review considered whether there has been a significant
change in circumstances which affects the plan’s strategy and whether it
remains up to date and consistent with current national planning policy, as
expressed in the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 2019.

1.3

Working with the support of the Planning Advisory Service (PAS) the adopted
Local Plan has been reviewed by officers undertaking an assessment using
the relevant parts of the PAS Local Plan Route Mapper Toolkit. This
assessment has then been reviewed by independent consultants appointed
by PAS to provide advice to the Council regarding the review of the Local
Plan.

Page 60

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

1.4

The Council has already commenced the preparation of the next Local Plan
and the outcome of the five year review will assist in informing how this now
moves forward to the formal consultation stages. The current Local
Development Scheme (LDS) which sets out the timetable for preparing
Development Plan Documents including the next Local Plan. The most recent
stage was a Refined Issues and Options Consultation undertaken July-August
2020.

2

Background

2.1

The adopted Local Plan was tested at examination and found sound against
the NPPF 2012. As it has now reached the five year anniversary of its
adoption in January 2021, a formal review is required to be undertaken as to
whether it needs to be updated, under Regulation 10A of the Town and
Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 (as amended).

2.2

This five year review is an assessment of whether the plan remains up to
date, taking account of whether there has been a significant change in
circumstances which affects the plan’s spatial strategy, and whether it
remains consistent with current national planning policy, as expressed in the
NPPF 2019. In this regard the term ‘review’, means a discrete assessment of
whether the adopted Local Plan needs to be updated, for these reasons. This
assessment will in turn inform the scope of the next Local Plan (or Local Plan
Review) in its wider more general sense.

2.3

NPPF 2019 Paras 31-33 covers the issue of preparing and reviewing plans,
including evidence base and sustainability appraisal requirements. Para 33
provides details regarding the review of plans at least once every five years,
and then as necessary to assess whether they need updating. Reviews
should be completed no later than five years form the adoption date of the
plan, and take into account changing circumstances affecting the area, or
relevant changes to national planning policy. The review completed in
January 2021 and is now brought to Cabinet to be approved and published.
Relevant strategic policies will also need updating at least once every five
years, if the local housing need figure has changed significantly or is expected
to do so in the near future. For Test Valley, the latest calculation using the
Government’s standard method is 550 dwellings per annum (dpa), which is
not significantly different (and lower) than the 588dpa in the adopted Local
Plan.

2.4

A further revised draft NPPF 2021 was published for consultation on 30
January 2021. These changes relate to the quality of design of new
development and which respond to the recommendations of the Building
Better, Building Beautiful Commission. It also makes a number of
environmental changes, including amendments on flood risk and climate
change. There are also a number of further minor amendments to clarify
policy arising from legal cases, for updating and on consistency with other
recent announcements. Given the date of publication and that these are draft
proposals, these revisions, have not been covered in the five year review,
which is based upon the NPPF 2019.

Page 61

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

2.5

There is no prescribed format for a five year review, but Planning Practice
Guidance (PPG) provides further guidance on how they should be
undertaken. Consistent with the NPPF, once the review is completed the local
planning authority should decide that either: a) that their policies do not need
updating and published their reasons for this decision; and/or b) that one or
more policies do need updating, and update the LDS to set out the timetable
for this revision.

2.6

PPG guidance confirms that a plan does not become out of date automatically
after five years. It is also clear that the purpose of reviews is not to continually
change the strategic decisions and direction of growth, which would
undermine the intention in the NPPF of strategic policies to anticipate and
respond to long term requirements and opportunities, reflecting a plan led
approach to provide certainty. PPG also advises that the review process is a
method to ensure that a plan and the policies remain effective. In this regard,
it should assess based upon evidence, whether it continues to operate
effectively and delivers upon its objectives and strategy. Furthermore, PPG
advises that a local planning authority may need to gather new evidence to
inform their review and sets out that proportionate, relevant and up to date
evidence should be used to justify a decision not to revise policies.

2.7

The Council has undertaken the review through officers completing a selfassessment using the relevant parts of the PAS Local Plan Route Mapper
Toolkit which has been prepared for this process. This has comprised: Part 1
Local Plan Review Assessment (Annex 1 to the report) Part 2 Local Plan
Form and Content Checklist (Annex 2 to the report).

2.8

Part 1 is intended to assist in undertaking a review of policies and assess
whether these need updating. It supplements the NPPF and PPG, on the
review of policies in the plan. This is to assist in understanding which policies
may be out of date for the purposes of decision making, or where
circumstances have changed and whether or not plan policies continue to be
effective in addressing local issues that are identified in the plan. In doing so,
this assists in focusing on whether and to what extent an update of the plan
policies is required.

2.9

Part 2 sets out a detailed checklist of the specific individual key requirements
for the content and form of local plans as set out in NPPF 2019. The
assessment considers for each relevant NPPF 2019 paragraph, whether: a)
the requirement has not changed from the NPPF 2012 in relation to plan
making, or b) the revised plan making requirement contains some changes
from the NPPF 2012, or c) this is a new plan making requirement that was not
contained within NPPF 2012. This assists in determining the extent to which
the adopted Local Plan does or does not accord with relevant key
requirements in national policy and in therefore in deciding whether or not
there is a need to update policies in the plan, and to what extent. A judgement
can then be made as to whether the adopted Local Plan remains up to date
and sound. The requirement of each relevant NPPF 2019 paragraph has
been considered against the content and policies of the adopted Local Plan.

Page 62

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

2.10

There are also additional Part 3 and Part 4 elements to the PAS Local Plan
Route Mapper Toolkit, but these have not been completed at this time as they
are not relevant to the five year review of the adopted Local Plan at this stage,
but rather concern legal and procedural compliance, and ensuring a sound
plan at examination.

2.11

This assessment (using Part 1 and Part 2 of the PAS Local Plan Route
Mapper Toolkit) has then been reviewed by independent consultants
‘Intelligent Plans and Examinations’ appointed by PAS to work with the
Council and assist in informing the preparation of the next Local Plan who
have prepared an advisory note (Annex 3 to the report) setting out their
response, focusing on advice in informing the potential content of the next
Local Plan, the scale of review of the adopted Local Plan which is necessary
and consideration of the associated risks and legislative requirements under
the Duty to Co-Operate. The support of PAS has provided for the five year
review to be undertaken in a thorough and robust manner and which has
been independently reviewed.

3

Corporate Objectives and Priorities

3.1

The Local Plan is a key policy document for the Council in respect of
delivering our corporate objectives as set out within the Corporate Plan. It sets
out the planning policy framework for protecting and enhancing the
environment, and making provision for new housing, employment, community
facilities and other land uses, to meet the needs of our communities.

4

Consultations/Communications

4.1

If approved and agreed for publication, the outcome of the five year review will
be published on the Council’s website.

5

Options

5.1

The only option is whether or not the five year review of the adopted Local
Plan should be approved and published. It is a requirement for the Council to
conduct such a review, the adopted Local Plan having reached its five year
anniversary of adoption.

6

Option Appraisal

6.1

Having undertaken the assessment using the PAS Local Plan Route Mapper
Toolkit Part 1 and Part 2, it is a judgement for the Council using its findings,
as to whether it considers that the adopted Local Plan remains up to date and
sound, and over whether and to what extent an update of plan policies is
required. The review assessed whether there has been any significant change
in circumstances which affects the plan’s strategy, and whether it remain up to
date and consistent with current national planning policy, as expressed in the
NPPF 2019.

Page 63

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

6.2

The assessment using Part 1 of the toolkit has considered against plan review
factors and policy update factors, whether policies remain up to date for
decision making, if circumstances have changed, and whether or not plan
policies continue to be effective, to determine whether and to what extent an
update of the plan policies is require.

6.3

The findings of the assessment using Part 1 have concluded that following
assessment of the plan review factors, the spatial strategy of adopted Local
Plan is considered to remain sound and plan policies remain up to date.
Therefore, these policies are considered to continue to provide a robust basis
for planning decision making in the determination of planning applications.
Plan policies will be updated as relevant in order to provide spatial strategy
beyond the 2029 plan period of the adopted Local Plan.

6.4

The assessment using Part 2 of the toolkit has considered against each
relevant paragraph of the NPPF 2019 on local plan requirements the content
and policies of the adopted Local Plan, together with where applicable, other
relevant Council documents, and where the issue(s) covered by these
paragraphs may be reviewed in preparing the next Local Plan. This has been
summarised using a Red/Amber/Green (RAG) analysis.

6.5

The findings of the assessment using Part 2 have concluded that NPPF 2019
requirements necessitate some new or additional policy, or revision of the
current policy approach being considered to address these, or which will be
taken into account and considered in preparing the next Local Plan, or which
could alternatively be addressed though Supplementary Planning Documents
or other additional guidance. The Refined Issues and Options Consultation
has already indicated the potential topic matters for such new polices and
revisions of the current policy approach which will be considered in
progressing with preparation of the next Local Plan. Examples could include:
self build and custom build housing, housing for older people and specialist
housing, and electric vehicle charging. However these are not considered to
mean that the adopted Local Plan is out of date or unsound. Recent appeal
decisions have also confirmed the adopted Local Plan is consistent with the
current NPPF 2019.

6.6

The assessment has been subject to review by independent consultants
appointed PAS to assist the Council who have prepared an advisory note
setting out their response, focusing on advice in informing the potential
content of the next Local Plan, the scale of review of the adopted Local Plan
which is necessary and consideration of the associated risks and legislative
requirements under the Duty to Co-Operate. On the five year review, it
considers that this has been used in a positive and constructive way and is
supportive of the approach which has been taken in the assessment,
including how the adopted Local Plan’s policies have been considered. For
the next Local Plan, it suggests that this could take the form of a partial review
of adopted Local Plan supported by an updated evidence base, depending
upon the scale of changes to the spatial strategy. This will be considered in
informing the scope and future stages in the next Local Plan’s preparation.

Page 64

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

6.7

It is considered that the review (Annexes to the report) be approved and
published. This will ensure that the requirement to undertake a review and
publish the outcome of the decision as to whether the adopted Local Plan and
its policies require updating is met. The completed assessment made using
Part 1 and Part 2 of the toolkit for plan review factors on any changes in
circumstances, and relevant paragraphs of the NPPF 2019 on local plan
content respectively, provides this information for each relevant requirement.

6.8

The outcome of the five year review will assist in informing how preparation of
the next Local Plan which has commenced, now moves forward to the formal
consultation stages. Implications for next Local Plan and Local Development
Scheme (LDS) review.

7

Risk Management

7.1

Failure to agree and implement up to date strategic and local planning
documents is recorded as a risk in the Council’s Corporate Risk Register.
Moving forward with progressing with preparation of the next Local Plan
mitigates this risk.

7.2

Failure to undertake and publish a five year review of the adopted Local Plan
and whether its policies need updating is a risk of not complying with the legal
requirement to do so. The outcome of this review will assist in informing the
preparation of the next Local Plan.

7.3

Having an up to date and sound Local Plan compliant with national planning
policy is also important in mitigating the risk of decisions being taken outside
of a plan led approach.

7.4

A risk assessment has been completed in accordance with the Council’s Risk
management process and the existing risk controls in place mean that no
significant risks (Red or Amber) have been identified.

8

Resource Implications

8.1

The support of the PAS and that of the consultants appointed by PAS to
review the assessment has been provided at no cost to the Council.

8.2

The principal resource in preparing the next Local Plan is significant time
required from officers within the Planning Policy team and the support
required from other services. The cost of delivery, including the
commissioning of specialist studies required to update the evidence base, will
be met from existing resources.

9

Legal Implications

9.1

Under Regulation 10A of the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning)
(England) Regulations 2012 (as amended), the Council is required to
undertake a review of the local plan and which is to be completed every five
years starting from the date of adoption. This requirement came into force in
April 2018. The Council is required to publish to outcome of such reviews.

Page 65

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

10

Equality Issues

10.1

An EQIA screening has been completed in accordance with the Council’s
EQIA methodology and no potential for unlawful discrimination and/or low
level or minor negative impact have been identified, therefore a full EQIA has
not been carried out.

11

Other Issues

11.1

Community Safety - None

11.2

Environmental Health Issues - None

11.3

Sustainability and Addressing a Changing Climate – Sustainability is a
fundamental element of the planning system and is incorporated within any
future planning decision. The review identified where the adopted Local Plan
does not have specific policies, however, both mitigation of the impact of
development on climate change, and adaption to the impacts of climate
change, will be issues which the next Local Plan will seek to take into
account, as address as relevant.

11.4

Property Issues - None

11.5

Wards/Communities Affected – All

12

Conclusions and reasons for recommendation

12.1

Having reached the five year anniversary of its adoption, the Council is
required to undertake a review of whether the adopted Local Plan remains up
to date. The review considered whether there has been a significant change
in circumstances which affects the plan’s strategy and whether it remain up to
date and consistent with current national planning policy, as expressed in the
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 2019.

12.2

The five year review of the adopted Local Plan which has been undertaken
through preparing an assessment using the PAS Local Plan Route Mapper
Toolkit Part 1 and Part 2. This assessment has then been subject to review by
independent consultants appointed PAS to assist the Council who have
prepared an advisory note setting out their response, focusing on advice in
informing the potential content of the next Local Plan, the scale of review of
the adopted Local Plan which is necessary and consideration of the
associated risks and legislative requirements under the Duty to Co-Operate.

12.3

The findings of the assessment using Part 1 have concluded that the spatial
strategy of adopted Local Plan is considered to remain sound and plan
policies remain up to date. Plan policies will be updated as relevant in order to
provide spatial strategy beyond the 2029 plan period of the adopted Local
Plan.

Page 66

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

12.4

The findings of the assessment using Part 2 have concluded that NPPF 2019
requirements necessitate some new or additional policy, or revision of the
current policy approach being considered to address these, or which will be
taken into account and considered in preparing the next Local Plan, or which
could alternatively be addressed though Supplementary Planning Documents
or other additional guidance. However these are not considered to mean that
the adopted Local Plan is out of date or unsound.

12.5

It is considered that the review (Annexes to the report) be approved and
published. This will ensure that the requirement to undertake a review and
publish the outcome of the decision as to whether the adopted Local Plan and
its policies require updating is met.

12.6

The outcome of the five year review will assist in informing the preparation of
the next Local Plan, which has commenced, now moves forward to the formal
consultation stages.

Background Papers (Local Government Act 1972 Section 100D)
National Planning Policy Framework 2019
Planning Practice Guidance
The Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 (as
amended)
Test Valley Borough Local Plan 2011-2029
Confidentiality
It is considered that this report does not contain exempt information within the
meaning of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972, as amended, and can
be made public.
No of Annexes:

3

File Ref: pp1

(Portfolio: Planning) Councillor N Adams-King
Officer:

David Bibby

Ext:

8105

Report to:

Cabinet

Date:

10 March 2021

Page 67

ANNEX 1

TEST VALLEY BOROUGH REVISED LOCAL PLAN DPD 2011-2029 (ADOPTED 27 JAN
2016) FIVE YEAR REVIEW1
PAS LOCAL PLAN ROUTE MAPPER TOOLKIT PART 1: LOCAL PLAN REVIEW
ASSESSMENT
Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

Why you should use this part of the toolkit
The following matrix will assist you in undertaking a review of policies within your plan to assess whether they need updating.

Page 68

The matrix is intended to supplement the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (paragraph 33 in particular) and the
associated National Planning Practice Guidance on the review of policies within the plan. Completing the matrix will help you
understand which policies may be out of date for the purposes of decision making or where circumstances may have changed
and whether or not the policy / policies in the plan continue to be effective in addressing the specific local issues that are
identified the plan. This in turn will then help you to focus on whether and to what extent, an update of your policies is required.
We would recommend that you undertake this assessment even if your adopted local plan already contains a trigger for review
which has already resulted in you knowing that it needs to be updated. This is because there may be other policies within the
plan which should be, or would benefit from, being updated.
This part of the toolkit deals only with local plan review. Part 2 of the toolkit sets out the content requirements for a local plan as
set out in the NPPF. Part 3 of the toolkit outlines the process requirements for plan preparation set out in legislation and the
NPPF. Soundness and Plan Quality issues are dealt with in Part 4 of the toolkit.

How to use this part of the toolkit
Before using this assessment tool it is important that you first consider your existing plan against the key requirements for the
content of local plans which are included in the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as amended); The Town and
Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 (as amended) and the most up to date NPPF. To help you with
1

Regulation 10A The Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 (as amended)

1

ANNEX 1
this Part 2 of the toolkit provides a checklist which sets out the principal requirements for the content and form of local plans
against the relevant paragraphs of the NPPF. Completing Part 2 of the toolkit will help you determine the extent to which your
current plan does or does not accord with relevant key requirements in national policy. This will assist you in completing question
1 in the assessment matrix provided below, and in deciding whether or not you need to update policies in your plan, and to what
extent.

Some prompts are included to help you think through the issues and support your assessment. You may wish to add to these
reflecting on your own context.
Page 69

Complete all sections of the matrix as objectively and fully as possible. Provide justification for your conclusions with reference to
relevant sources of evidence where appropriate. You will need an up to date Authority Monitoring Report, your latest Housing
Delivery Test results, 5 year housing land supply position and the latest standard methodology housing needs information. You
may also need to rely on or update other sources of evidence but take a proportionate approach to this. It should be noted that
any decision not to update any policies in your local plan will need to be clearly evidenced and justified.

How to use the results of this part of the toolkit
The completed assessment can also be used as the basis for, or as evidence to support, any formal decision of the council in
accordance with its constitution or in the case of, for example, Joint Planning Committees, the relevant Terms of Reference in
relation to the approach to formal decision-making, as to why an update to the local plan is or is not being pursued. This accords
with national guidance and supports the principle of openness and transparency of decision making by public bodies.

2

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

To use the matrix, consider each of the statements listed in the “requirements to consider” column against the content of your
current plan. You will need to take into consideration policies in all development plan documents that make up your development
plan, including any ‘made’ neighbourhood plans and/ or any adopted or emerging Strategic Development Strategy. For each
statement decide whether you:
 Disagree (on the basis that your plan does not meet the requirement at all);
 Agree (on the basis that you are confident that your current plan will meet the requirement)

ANNEX 1

Matters to consider
A

Agree

The adopted Local Plan was tested and found sound
under the 2012 NPPF.
The PAS Toolkit Part 2 Local Plan Form and Context
Checklist to assess it against the plan making
requirements of 2019 NPPF has been completed.

Page 70
PROMPT:
Look at whether your local housing need figure, using the
standard methodology as a starting point, has gone up
significantly (with the measure of significance based on a
comparison with the housing requirement set out in your

Reason (with reference to plan policies, sections and
relevant evidence):

Agree

Some NPPF 2019 requirements necessitate new or
additional policy, or revision of the current policy
approach being considered to address this, or which will
be taken into account and considered in a review of the in
preparing the next Local Plan, or which could alternatively
be addressed though Supplementary Planning
Documents or other additional guidance. However these
are not considered to mean that the adopted Local Plan
is out of date or unsound.
Reason (with reference to plan policies, sections and
relevant evidence):
Policy COM1 Housing Provision 2011-2029 of the
adopted Local Plan sets the housing requirement at a
minimum of 10,584 homes (588 dwellings per annum),
which is then sub-divided between two different Housing
Market Areas: Northern Test Valley and Southern Test
Valley to give a split housing requirement, each with a

3

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

PROMPT:
As set out above in the introductory text, in providing your
answer to this statement consider if the policies in your
plan still meet the ‘content’ requirements of the current
NPPF (completing Part 2 of the toolkit will help you
determine the extent to which the policies in your plan
accord with relevant key requirements in national policy).

There has not been a significant change in local
housing need numbers from that specified in your
plan (accepting there will be some degree of flux).
A2.

Extent to which the local plan meets this requirement

PLAN REVIEW FACTORS
The plan policies still reflect current national
planning policy requirements.

A1.

Agree /
Disagree

ANNEX 1
Matters to consider

Extent to which the local plan meets this requirement
Housing Trajectory.

Consider whether your local housing need figure has
gone down significantly (with the measure of significance
based on a comparison with the housing requirement set
out in your adopted local plan). You will need to consider
if there is robust evidence to demonstrate that your
current housing requirement is deliverable in terms of
market capacity or if it supports, for example, growth
strategies such as Housing Deals, new strategic
infrastructure investment or formal agreements to meet
unmet need from neighbouring authority areas.

The latest calculation using the most recent data (2014
based household projections and 2019 housing
affordability ratio) under the Government’s standard
method (as the starting point for setting the housing
requirement) is 550 dwellings per annum.

Page 71

PROMPT:
Review your 5-year housing land supply in accordance
with national guidance including planning practice
guidance and the Housing Delivery Test measurement
rule book

Agree

For the next Local Plan the evidence base is being
prepared including on the quantum of employment land
and other development and infrastructure needs. A
Housing Market Areas Study will consider the issue of
housing market areas and whether the approach of
having a split housing requirement should continue.
Reason (with reference to plan policies, sections and
relevant evidence sources):
The Council has a five year housing land supply as at 1
April 2020 (see Housing Implementation Strategy April
2020) of 6.27 years in Northern Test Valley and 5.26
years in Southern Test Valley, against a target of 5.00
years.
https://www.testvalley.gov.uk/assets/attach/10505/Housin
g%20Implementation%20Strategy%20April%202020.pdf
and has met the requirements of the Housing Delivery
Test 2019 Measurement at 195%

4

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

adopted local plan).

You have a 5-year supply of housing land

A3.

Agree /
Disagree

ANNEX 1
Matters to consider
You are meeting housing delivery targets

Page 72
A5.

PROMPT:
Use the results of your most recent Housing Delivery
Test, and if possible, try and forecast the outcome of
future Housing Delivery Test findings. Consider whether
these have/are likely to trigger the requirement for the
development of an action plan or trigger the presumption
in favour of sustainable development. Consider the
reasons for this and whether you need to review the site
allocations that your plan is reliant upon. In doing so you
need to make a judgement as to whether updating your
local plan will support delivery or whether there are other
actions needed which are not dependent on changes to
the local plan.
Your plan policies are on track to deliver other plan
objectives including any (i) affordable housing
targets; and (ii) commercial floorspace/jobs targets
over the remaining plan period.
PROMPT:
Use (or update) your Authority Monitoring Report to
assess delivery.

Extent to which the local plan meets this requirement
Recent housing completions has been significantly in
excess of both the Housing Delivery Test household
projection measurement and the adopted Local Plan
housing requirement.
It is anticipated that the results of the Housing Delivery
Test 2020 Measurement will remain healthy and that
triggers for the implementation of an action plan, or for
the presumption in favour of sustainable development will
not be engaged.

Agree

Recent delivery has exceed the corporate target for
affordable housing delivery and completions of
employment floorspace have been strong.
See Authority’s Monitoring Report 2019/20
https://www.testvalley.gov.uk/assets/attach/10609/Test%
20Valley%20Borough%20Council%20Authority%20Monit
oring%20Report%202019_20.pdf

5

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

A4.

Agree /
Disagree
Agree

ANNEX 1
Matters to consider
There have been no significant changes in economic
conditions which could challenge the delivery of the
Plan, including the policy requirements within it.

Up-to-date evidence suggests that jobs growth is likely to
be significantly more or less than is currently being
planned for.
A6.
Page 73

Consider if there is any evidence suggesting that large
employment allocations will no longer be required or are
no longer likely to be delivered.
You will need to consider whether such events impact on
assumptions in your adopted local plan which have led to
a higher housing requirement than your local housing
need assessment indicates.
Consider what the consequences could be for your local
plan objectives such as the balance of in and out
commuting and the resultant impact on proposed
transport infrastructure provision (both capacity and
viability), air quality or climate change considerations.

Extent to which the local plan meets this requirement
Reason (with reference to plan policies, sections and
relevant evidence sources):
Prior to the impact of the Covid 19 the local economy
remained healthy with strong and robust economic and
employment growth.
The employment allocations in the adopted Local Plan
were not reduced in light of the last recession in order to
provide for a range and choice of site both for the growth
of local businesses and opportunities for inward
investment.
The housing requirement was set in light of an aim to
ensure a sufficient local labour supply of working age to
provide for the forecast employment growth and for the
balance of net out commuting to be maintained.
The evidence base for the next Local Plan with regard to
employment land needs is been prepared jointly though
the Partnership for South Hampshire (PfSH) as part of
the work to support the new joint Statement of Common
Ground under the Duty to Co-Operate.

6

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

PROMPT:
A key employer has shut down or relocated out of the
area.

Agree /
Disagree
Agree

ANNEX 1
Matters to consider
There have been no significant changes affecting
viability of planned development.

Agree /
Disagree
Agree

Reason (with reference to plan policies, sections and
relevant evidence sources):
The Council’s Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) was
adopted in January 2016 and implemented in August
2016.
There is no local evidence that CIL, affordable housing or
other policy requirements are generally an impediment to
development viability or act as a deterrent to planning
applications being submitted.

Consider evidence from recent planning decisions and
appeal decisions to determine whether planning policy
requirements, including affordable housing, are generally
deliverable.

Page 74

Ongoing consultation and engagement with the
development industry may highlight any significant
challenges to delivery arising from changes in the
economic climate.
Key site allocations are delivering, or on course to
deliver, in accordance the local plan policies meaning
that the delivery of the spatial strategy is not at risk.
PROMPT:
A8.

Identify which sites are central to the delivery of your
spatial strategy. Consider if there is evidence to suggest
that lack of progress on these sites (individually or
collectively) may prejudice the delivery of housing
numbers, key infrastructure or other spatial priorities.
Sites may be deemed to be key by virtue of their scale,
location or type.

Agree

Reason (with reference to plan policies, sections and
relevant evidence sources):
The adopted Local Plan includes a number of strategic
allocations for housing.
 COM3 Whitenap, Romsey 1,300 – progressing
towards submission of outline application
 COM4 Hoe Land, North Baddesley 300 – resolution to
permit outline application
 COM5 Park Farm, Stoneham 50 – current application
with resolution for permission for 63
 COM6 Picket Piece, Andover 400 – under

7

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

PROMPT:
You may wish to look at the Building Cost Information
Service (BCIS) All-in Tender Price Index, used for the
indexation of Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL), or
other relevant indices to get a sense of market changes.
A7.

Extent to which the local plan meets this requirement

ANNEX 1
Matters to consider

Agree /
Disagree

Extent to which the local plan meets this requirement


construction (320 permitted so far)
COM6A Picket Twenty, Andover 300 – under
construction (higher number permitted)

See Housing Implementation Strategy April 2020
https://www.testvalley.gov.uk/assets/attach/10505/Housin
g%20Implementation%20Strategy%20April%202020.pdf

Page 75
8

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

Progress with Whitenap and Hoe Lane, North Baddesley
has been slower than originally anticipated, but both sites
are moving forward towards delivery.

ANNEX 1
Matters to consider
There have been no significant changes to the local
environmental or heritage context which have
implications for the local plan approach or policies.

Identify if there been any changes in Flood Risk Zones,
including as a result of assessing the effects of climate
change.
Page 76

A9.

Consider whether there have been any changes in air
quality which has resulted in the designation of an Air
Quality Management Area(s) or which would could result
in a likely significant effect on a European designated site
which could impact on the ability to deliver housing or
employment allocations.
Consider whether there have been any changes to Zones
of Influence / Impact Risk Zones for European sites and
Sites of Special Scientific Interest or new issues in
relation to, for example, water quality.
Consider whether there have been any new
environmental or heritage designations which could
impact on the delivery of housing or employment / jobs
requirements / targets.

Extent to which the local plan meets this requirement
Reason (with reference to plan policies, sections and
relevant evidence sources):
Recent issue of nutrient neutrality affecting residential
and overnight accommodation and major tourist facilities
arose in summer 2019, in light of advice from Natural
England, on the impact on the on the Solent (SPA and
SAC).
https://www.testvalley.gov.uk/planning-andbuilding/guidance/solent-southampton-water-specialprotection-area
Mitigation measures to address this issue are being
investigated. Whilst solutions are needed, this is not
considered to affect the adopted Local Plan’s approach or
policies.
Further evidence has been undertaken jointly with
neighbouring authorities on the impact of recreation
disturbance of birds in the New Forest (SPA).
For the next Local Plan evidence base a new Strategic
Flood Risk Assessment (SFRA) to be prepared jointly
though the Partnership for South Hampshire is being
commissioned, which will reflect current policy and
guidance of flood risk.
Conservation Areas for Andover and Romsey town
centres are being reviewed.

Consider any relevant concerns being raised by statutory

9

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

PROMPT:
You may wish to review the indicators or monitoring
associated with your Sustainability Appraisal (SA) /
Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) / Habitats
Regulations Assessment (HRA).

Agree /
Disagree
Agree

ANNEX 1
Matters to consider

Agree /
Disagree

Extent to which the local plan meets this requirement

consultees in your area in relation to the determination of
individual planning applications or planning appeals
which may impact upon your plan - either now or in the
future.

A10.

PROMPT:
Consider if there have been any new sites that have
become available, particularly those within public
ownership which, if they were to come forward for
development, could have an impact on the spatial

Agree

Reason (with reference to plan policies, sections and
relevant evidence sources):
No new sites which require the adopted Local Plan’s
spatial strategy to be re-evaluated, or could result in a
loss of employment land and would have impact on
quality of place if no-reuse.
However, the next Local Plan will need to take account of
the potential availability of additional sites for

10

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

Page 77
There are no new sites that have become available
since the finalisation of the adopted local plan which
require the spatial strategy to be re-evaluated.

ANNEX 1
Matters to consider
strategy or could result in loss of employment and would
have a significant effect on the quality of place if no new
use were found for them.

Extent to which the local plan meets this requirement
consideration for development.
The Council has approved masterplans for Andover town
centre (September 2020)
https://www.thinkandovertowncentre.co.uk/
https://www.testvalley.gov.uk/news/2020/sep/andovertown-centre-redevelopment-one-step-closer
and South of Romsey town centre (September 2020).
https://www.testvalley.gov.uk/planning-andbuilding/planningpolicy/south-of-romsey-town-centremasterplan
These have the potential to deliver housing and
commercial development through redevelopment in the
future.

Page 78

No previously identified unmet need with a formal request
to be accommodated in Test Valley.
The Council has updated its Strategic Housing and
Economic Land Availability Assessment (SHELAA)
https://www.testvalley.gov.uk/planning-andbuilding/planningpolicy/evidence-base/shelaa-review2019

11

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

Consider whether any sites which have now become
available within your area or neighbouring areas could
contribute towards meeting any previously identified
unmet needs.

Agree /
Disagree

ANNEX 1
Matters to consider
Key planned infrastructure projects critical to plan
delivery are on track and have not stalled / failed and
there are no new major infrastructure programmes
with implications for the growth / spatial strategy set
out in the plan.

Extent to which the local plan meets this requirement
Reason (with reference to plan policies, sections and
relevant evidence sources):
No infrastructure projects critical to adopted Local Plan
delivery are a current impediment though being stalled or
failed. No new major infrastructure programmes with
implications for the adopted Local Plan’s planned growth
or spatial strategy.
The Infrastructure Delivery Plan, Infrastructure Funding
Statement and Infrastructure and Developer
Contributions SPD are currently being reviewed.

Page 79

Check if there have been any delays in the delivery of
critical infrastructure as a result of other processes such
as for the Compulsory Purchase of necessary land.
Identify whether any funding announcements or decisions
have been made which materially impact upon the
delivery of key planned infrastructure, and if so, will this
impact upon the delivery of the Local Plan.

12

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

A11.

PROMPT:
You may wish to review your Infrastructure Delivery Plan
/ Infrastructure Funding Statement, along with any
periodic updates, the Capital and Investment
programmes of your authority or infrastructure delivery
partners and any other tool used to monitor and prioritise
the need and delivery of infrastructure to support
development.

Agree /
Disagree
Agree

ANNEX 1
Matters to consider
All policies in the plan are achievable and effective
including for the purpose of decision-making.

A12.

Identify if there has been a significant increase in appeals
that have been allowed and /or appeals related to a
specific policy area that suggest a policy or policies
should be reviewed.

Page 80

Consider whether there has been feedback from
Development Management colleagues, members of the
planning committee, or applicants that policies cannot be
effectively applied and / or understood.

Extent to which the local plan meets this requirement
Reason (with reference to plan policies, sections and
relevant evidence sources):
Consider that the adopted Local Plan’s policies both
strategic, and non-strategic (including development
management policies) currently remain achievable and
effective, including for decision making.
No evidence on an increase in appeals or appeal
decisions which would indicate that adopted Local Plan
policies should be reviewed or are out of date. Recent
appeal decisions have confirmed the adopted Local Plan
is consistent with the current NPPF 2019.
No feedback that adopted Local Plan policies cannot be
effectively applied or understood, but their application and
interpretation is kept under review, to see whether any
potential ambiguity or specific wording could be amended
which would improve their effectiveness.

13

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

PROMPT:
Consider if these are strategic policies or those, such as
Development Management policies, which do not
necessarily go to the heart of delivering the Plan’s
strategy.

Agree /
Disagree
Agree

ANNEX 1
Matters to consider
There are no recent or forthcoming changes to
another authority’s development plan or planning
context which would have a material impact on your
plan / planning context for the area covered by your
local plan.

Extent to which the local plan meets this requirement
Reason (with reference to plan policies, sections and
relevant evidence sources):
No recent or expected forthcoming changes to
neighbouring authorities Local Plan which have direct
implications for Test Valley’s adopted Local Plan or next
Local Plan.
No current formal requests from neighbouring authorities
in relation to meeting future development or infrastructure
needs.
For the next Local Plan this will however take account as
relevant of the strategy of the Partnership for South
Hampshire (PfSH) in preparing new joint Statement of
Common Ground under the Duty to Co-Operate, together
with a supporting joint evidence base. This will
supersede the current joint Planning Position Statement
2016.
In addition to our participation in PfSH regular bilateral
engagement with our neighbouring authorities,
particularly Basingstoke and Deane BC, New Forest DC,
New Forest NPA and Winchester CC, with which the
most DtC issues have arisen.
Southampton CC is one of the 20 largest cities and urban
areas to receive an additional 35% uplift in the latest
version of the Government’s standard method for
calculating the housing requirement, however PPG
specifies that the expectation is that should be met within
Southampton’s own administrative area.

14

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

Page 81

A13.

PROMPT:
In making this assessment you may wish to:
● Review emerging and adopted neighbouring authority
development plans and their planning context.
● Review any emerging and adopted higher level
strategic plans including, where relevant, mayoral/
combined authority Spatial Development Strategies
e.g. The London Plan.
● Review any relevant neighbourhood plans
● Consider whether any of the matters highlighted in
statements A1- A12 for their plan may impact on your
plan - discuss this with the relevant authorities.
● Consider any key topic areas or requests that have
arisen through Duty to Cooperate or strategic planning
discussions with your neighbours or stakeholders particularly relating to meeting future development and
/or infrastructure needs.

Agree /
Disagree
Agree

ANNEX 1
Matters to consider
There are no local political changes or a revised /
new corporate strategy which would require a change
to the approach set out in the current plan.
PROMPT:
In making this assessment you may wish to:

Extent to which the local plan meets this requirement
Reason (with reference to plan policies, sections and
relevant evidence sources):
No local political change or new corporate strategy which
require a significant change of approach, however the
following more recent policy documents are relevant
considerations and will be taken into account in preparing
the next Local Plan:
The next Local Plan will reflect and deliver the spatial
aspects of the Council’s Corporate Plan 2019-2023
‘Growing our Potential’.
https://www.testvalley.gov.uk/aboutyourcouncil/corporate
direction/corporate-plan-for-2019-to-2023
The Council has approved masterplans for Andover town
centre (September 2020)
https://www.thinkandovertowncentre.co.uk/
https://www.testvalley.gov.uk/news/2020/sep/andovertown-centre-redevelopment-one-step-closer
and South of Romsey town centre (September 2020).
https://www.testvalley.gov.uk/planning-andbuilding/planningpolicy/south-of-romsey-town-centremasterplan
The Council has declared a climate emergency
(September 2019) and has approved a Climate
Emergency Action Plan (June 2020)
https://www.testvalley.gov.uk/aboutyourcouncil/corporate
direction/environmentandsustainability/climateemergency-action-plan

15

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

Page 82

A14.

● Review any manifesto commitments and review the
corporate and business plan.
● Engage with your senior management team and
undertake appropriate engagement with senior
politicians in your authority.
● Consider other plans or strategies being produced
across the Council or by partners which may impact on
the appropriateness of your current plan and the
strategy that underpins it, for instance, Growth Deals,
economic growth plans, local industrial strategies
produced by the Local Economic Partnership, housing/
regeneration strategies and so on.

Agree /
Disagree
Agree

ANNEX 1
ASSESSING WHETHER OR NOT TO UPDATE
YOUR PLAN POLICIES

You AGREE with all of the statements above

YES/NO
(please
indicate
below)
YES

If no go to question A16.

Based on the answers you have given above please
provide clear explanation and justification in section
A17 below of why you have concluded that an update
is not necessary including references to evidence or
data sources that you have referenced above.
Remember you are required to publish the decision
not to update your local plan policies. In reaching the
conclusion that an update is not necessary the
explanation and justification for your decision must be
clear, intelligible and able to withstand scrutiny.

A15.
Page 83
A16.

You DISAGREE with one or more of the
statements above and the issue can be
addressed by an update of local plan policies

NO
If yes, based on the above provide a summary of the
key reasons why an update to plan policies is
necessary in section A17 below and complete Section
B below.

16

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

If yes, you have come to the end of the assessment.
However, you must be confident that you are able to
demonstrate and fully justify that your existing plan
policies / planning position clearly meets the
requirements in the statements above and that you
have evidence to support your position.

ANNEX 1
Decision: Update plan policies / No need to update plan policies (delete as necessary)
Reasons for decision on whether or not to update plan policies (clear evidence and justification will be required where
a decision not to update has been reached):
Other actions that may be required in addition to or in place of an update of plan policies

Page 84

The scope and wording of plan policies will be reviewed in preparing the next Local Plan to ensure they fully reflect NPPF
2019, taking account of the assessment undertaken using Local Plan Route Mapper Toolkit Part 2 Local Plan Form and
Content Checklist. Some NPPF 2019 requirements necessitate new or additional policy, or revision of the current policy
approach being considered to address this, or which will be taken into account and considered in a review of the in preparing
the next Local Plan, or which could alternatively be addressed though Supplementary Planning Documents or other additional
guidance. However these are not considered to mean that the adopted Local Plan is out of date or unsound.
The Council has already commenced the preparation of the next Local Plan and a Refined Issues and Option Consultation was
undertaken July-August 2020.

B. POLICY UPDATE FACTORS

B1

Your policies update is likely to lead to a material
change in the housing requirement which in turn
has implications for other plan requirements / the
overall evidence base.

YES/NO
(please
indicate
below)
NO

Provide details explaining your answer in the context
of your plan / local authority area

The latest calculation using the most recent data (2014
based household projections and 2019 housing
affordability ratio) under the Government’s standard
method (as the starting point for setting the housing
requirement) is 550 dwellings per annum.
This compares to Policy COM1 Housing Provision 2011-

17

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

A17.

Following assessment of the Plan Review Factors under A1-A14 including the evidence and relevant documentation referred to
under these, the spatial strategy of adopted Local Plan is considered to remain sound and plan policies remain up to date.
Update plan policies as relevant in order to provide spatial strategy beyond the 2029 plan period of the adopted Local Plan.

ANNEX 1
2029 of the adopted Local Plan sets the housing
requirement at a minimum of 10,584 homes (588 dwellings
per annum),

NO

B3

Your policies update is likely to affect more than
a single strategic site or one or more strategic
policies that will have consequential impacts on
other policies of the plan.

Page 85

You have answered yes to one or more questions
above.

You have said no to all questions (B1 to B3)
above

The growth strategy and spatial distribution of growth in the
adopted Local Plan remains sound. However, for the next
Local Plan the spatial distribution will be reviewed,
including the approach to Housing Market Areas and the
settlement hierarchy.
Adopted Local Plan policies remain up to date. The scope
and wording of plan policies will be reviewed to ensure
they fully reflect NPPF 2019.

You are likely to need to undertake a full update of
your spatial strategy and strategic policies (and
potentially non-strategic policies). Use your responses
above to complete Section B4.
If you are confident that the update can be undertaken
without impacting on your spatial strategy and other
elements of the Plan, you are likely to only need to
undertake a partial update of policies. Complete
Section B4 to indicate the specific parts / policies of
the plan that are likely to require updating based on
the answers you have given above.

Decision: Full Update of Plan Policies/ Partial Update of Plan Policies (delete as necessary)
B4

Reasons for scope of review:
The scope and wording of plan policies will be reviewed in preparing the next Local Plan to ensure they fully reflect NPPF
2019, taking account of the assessment undertaken using Local Plan Route Mapper Toolkit Part 2 Local Plan Form and
Content Checklist. Some NPPF 2019 requirements necessitate new or additional policy, or revision of the current policy

18

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

NO

B2

The growth strategy and / or spatial distribution
of growth set out in the current plan is not fit for
purpose and your policies update is likely to
involve a change to this.

ANNEX 1
approach being considered to address this, or which will be taken into account and considered in a review of the in preparing
the next Local Plan, or which could alternatively be addressed though Supplementary Planning Documents or other additional
guidance. However these are not considered to mean that the adopted Local Plan is out of date or unsound.

January 2021

Assessed by:

David Bibby, Principal Planning Officer (Strategy)

Checked by:

Graham Smith, Head of Planning Policy and Economic Development

Page 86

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

Date of assessment:

Comments:

19

ANNEX 2

TEST VALLEY BOROUGH REVISED LOCAL PLAN DPD 2011-2029 (ADOPTED 27 JAN 2016)
FIVE YEAR REVIEW1
PAS LOCAL PLAN ROUTE MAPPER TOOLKIT PART 2: LOCAL PLAN FORM & CONTENT
CHECKLIST

Page 87

The following table sets out a checklist of the key requirements for the content and form of local plans as set out in the National
Planning Policy Framework (NPPF). Guidance to supplement the NPPF is set out within National Planning Practice Guidance,
which is regularly updated by the Government. You should review relevant sections of the National Planning Practice Guidance and
consider any implications for your policies.
This part of the Toolkit will assist by informing all plan making stages, including any visioning and scoping exercises seeking to
ascertain what the plan should cover. It should be applied before consultation or publication of a local plan update. This will help to
ensure that you have considered all of the key plan-making requirements in preparing your plan in accordance with the NPPF.
This part of the toolkit deals only with the local plan content requirements specified in the NPPF. Toolkit Part 1 provides more detail
on carrying out a review of the need to update policies within your plan. Toolkit Part 3 sets out the process requirements for local
plan preparation as set out in legislation and the NPPF. Soundness and Plan Quality issues are dealt with in Toolkit Part 4.

How to use this part of the toolkit
You can use column C in the table to record the results of your assessment against the checklist for the following plan making
stages:

1

Regulation 10A The Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 (as amended)

1

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

Why you should use this part of the toolkit

ANNEX 2
Local Plan Review: The toolkit can be used to inform the decision on whether or not your local plan policies need to be updated. In
this case:
 Ask yourself whether the development plan for your area (which may comprise more than one development plan document
or include a spatial development strategy and/or neighbourhood plans) still meets current NPPF requirements.
 Identify which policy and document addresses the requirement in column C or identify why it is not relevant.

Page 88

Key:
New plan-making requirement of the NPPF 2019 not contained within the previous 2012
version
Revised plan-making requirement of the NPPF, containing some changes from the 2012
version
Requirement of the NPPF which has not changed from the 2012 version in relation to planmaking
Scoping your policies update: The checklist can also be used to determine the scope of your local plan policies update and
ensure that content requirements are addressed. You can work through each section of the table to determine:



whether the provision is relevant to your local plan policies update/ planning context of your local authority area(s); and then
consider whether your local plan policies update will need to address these content requirements or identify whether they
are contained in other documents that form the development plan in your area.

Assessing your draft policies update: The checklist can also be used to ensure that your emerging draft policies update is
adequately addressing content requirements of national planning policy. You can work through each section of the table to
determine:



whether the provision is relevant to your local plan policies update/planning context of your local authority area(s); and then
if it is, whether your draft local plan policies update addresses these content requirements (or identify whether they are
contained in other documents that form part of the development plan in your area).

2

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

If your plan was adopted under the NPPF 2012 you might find the following quick reference colour codes helpful to identify new or
revised NPPF requirements since the adoption of your plan:

ANNEX 2

How to use the results of this part of the toolkit
This checklist is to help you review your policies and/or develop an update to these where required. There is no requirement to
publish or submit this table to the Planning Inspectorate. However, you may find it (or some elements) helpful to assist you in
demonstrating how the policies update does/does not accord with the NPPF.

B. NPPF
Paragraph
Reference

C. Record your assessment results

RAG

General Requirements
Include any relevant material that is set out in a
government policy statement(s) for the area for
example a national policy statement(s) for major
infrastructure and written ministerial statements.

NPPF Para
5, 6

Not Applicable. No such policy statements
N/A
which raise specific implications for Test Valley.

2.

Contribute to the achievement of sustainable
development.

NPPF Para
8, 9, 16

All relevant Policies.

Page 89

1.

Green

This is a legal requirement. The adopted Local
Plan was tested and found sound under the
2012 NPPF.
3.

Apply the presumption in favour of sustainable
development.

NPPF Para
11

Policy SD1 Presumption in Favour of
Sustainable Development of the adopted Local
Plan.

Amber

The wording of Policy SD1 will be reviewed in
light of minor revisions to the wording on the
presumption in NPPF Para 11.

3

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

A. NPPF Requirement

ANNEX 2

4.

B. NPPF
Paragraph
Reference

C. Record your assessment results

RAG

Provide a positive vision for the future; a
framework for addressing housing needs and
other economic, social and environmental
priorities.

NPPF Para
15

The adopted Local Plan Chapter 2 The Issues
for the Borough sets out the aims and
objectives for the plan and for each respective
topic chapter and an overall vision, reflecting
those of the Community Plan ‘Your Test Valley’
prepared by the Test Valley Local Strategic
Partnership.

Green

Page 90

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

A. NPPF Requirement

The next Local Plan will reflect and deliver the
spatial aspects of the Council’s Corporate Plan
201-2023 ‘Growing our Potential’.
5.

Plans should be:
Aspirational and deliverable
Contain clear and unambiguous policies
Accessible through the use of digital tools
Serve a clear purpose avoiding duplication

NPPF Para
16

The adopted Local Plan was tested and found
sound under the 2012 NPPF, including being
deliverable.

Green

For the next Local Plan the content and policy
wording will be reviewed to avoid any
unnecessary duplication of policies, including
with the NPPF.
For the adopted Local Plan an interactive
Proposals Map is available on the Council’s
website. For the next Local Plan opportunities
for greater use of digital tools to increase its
accessibility will be considered.

Plan Content

4

ANNEX 2
A. NPPF Requirement

6.

B. NPPF
Paragraph
Reference

RAG

The adopted Local Plan sets out a strategy for
Green
the pattern, scale and quality of development
and makes provision for housing, infrastructure,
community facilities and protection of the
natural and built environment.
The next Local Plan will provide the strategy
and provision for development for the future
plan period.

Page 91

7.

Outline which policies are ‘strategic’ policies

NPPF Para
21

Annex A List of Strategic Policies of the
adopted Local Plan provides a list of the
policies considered to be strategic in terms of
being essential to the delivery and successful
implementation of the plan’s overall strategy.

Amber

For the next Local Plan the approach used to
define which policies and strategic policies will
be reviewed and options for how greater
clarification between strategic and non-strategic
policies can be provided will be considered.
8.

Strategic policies should look ahead over a
minimum 15-year period from adoption.

NPPF Para
22

The adopted Local Plan period runs to 2029
Amber
and was 13 years 2 months on adoption. There
are 8 years 2 months (as at January 2021)
remaining.
The plan period for the next Local Plan has yet

5

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

Include strategic policies to address priorities for
NPPF Para
the development and use of land. They should set 17, 20
out an overall strategy for the pattern, scale and
quality of development.

C. Record your assessment results

ANNEX 2
A. NPPF Requirement

B. NPPF
Paragraph
Reference

C. Record your assessment results

RAG

Page 92

NPPF Para 67b only requires that broad
locations for growth be identified for 10 years.
The Planning White Paper ‘Planning for the
Future’ suggests that future Local Plan will be a
10 year lifespan.
9.

Indicate broad locations for development on a key NPPF Para
diagram, and land use designations and
23
allocations on a policies map.

10. Strategic policies should provide a clear strategy
for bringing sufficient land forward, and at a
sufficient rate, to address objectively assessed
needs over the plan period.

NPPF Para
23

The adopted Local Plan includes broad
locations on a Key Diagram and land use
designations and development allocations on
the Proposal Map (and its Inset Maps), and on
it allocations and policy areas Maps A-L.

Green

Policy COM1 Housing Provision 2011-2029 of
the adopted Local Plan sets the housing
requirement at a minimum of 10,584 homes
(588 dwellings per annum), which is then subdivided between two different Housing Market
Areas: Northern Test Valley and Southern Test
Valley to give a split housing requirement, each
with a Housing Trajectory.

Amber

6

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

to be determined, although an end date of 2036
has previously been suggested. Some of the
joint evidence base being prepared by the
Partnership for South Hampshire (PfSH) for a
Statement of Common Ground under the Duty
to Co-operate may look to 2040.

ANNEX 2
A. NPPF Requirement

B. NPPF
Paragraph
Reference

C. Record your assessment results

RAG

The latest calculation using the most recent
data (2014 based household projections and
2019 housing affordability ratio) under the
Government’s standard method (as the starting
point for setting the housing requirement) is 550
dwellings per annum.
Page 93

For the next Local Plan the evidence base is
being prepared including on the quantum of
employment land and other development and
infrastructure needs. A Housing Market Areas
Study will consider the issue of housing market
areas and whether the approach of having a
split housing requirement should continue.
11. AInclude non-strategic policies to set out more
mdetailed policies for specific areas.

NPPF Para
18, 28

Annex A List of Strategic Policies of the
adopted Local Plan provides a list of the
policies considered to be strategic in terms of
being essential to the delivery and successful
implementation of the plan’s overall strategy.
All other policies are non-strategic.

Amber

For the next Local Plan the scope of nonstrategic policies will be reviewed and options

7

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

Total projected completions for the whole plan
period in the latest trajectories show
completions will likely exceed 10,584

ANNEX 2
A. NPPF Requirement

B. NPPF
Paragraph
Reference

C. Record your assessment results

RAG

12. Set out contributions expected from development,
and demonstrate that expected contributions will
not undermine the deliverability of the Plan.

NPPF Para
34, 57

Chapter 12 Delivery, Implementation and
Monitoring

Amber

Page 94

Policies set out when contributions are required
or sought including:
Policy COM7 Affordable Housing
Policy COM15 Infrastructure
Policy E5 Biodiversity
Policy T1 Managing Movement
Policy ST1 Skills and Training
Further details set out within:
Infrastructure and Developer Contributions SPD
Affordable Housing SPD
Infrastructure Delivery Plan
There are mechanisms for negotiations on
provision where this is demonstrated through a
viability assessment for an individual site, due
to exceptional circumstances.
Evidence base include affordable housing
viability, CIL viability and development viability
implications, audit of policies studies

8

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

for how greater clarification between strategic
and non-strategic policies can be provided will
be considered.

ANNEX 2
A. NPPF Requirement

B. NPPF
Paragraph
Reference

C. Record your assessment results

RAG

For the next Local Plan the level of
contributions and viability will be reviewed and
an updated viability study undertaken.
Page 95

Housing
13. Be informed by a local housing need assessment, NPPF Para
conducted using the standard method in national 60
planning guidance as a starting point.

See above 10.

Amber

The latest calculation using the most recent
data (2014 based household projections and
2019 housing affordability ratio) under the
Government’s standard method (as the starting
point for setting the housing requirement) is 550
dwellings per annum.
This is lower than the adopted Local Plan
housing requirement Policy COM1 Housing
Provision 2011-2029 at a minimum of 10,584
homes (588 dwellings per annum),

14. Identify the size, type and tenure of housing
needed for different groups.

NPPF Para
61

Policies set out the mix of housing to be
delivered:
Policy COM1 Housing Provision 2011-2029

Amber

9

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

The Infrastructure Delivery Plan, Infrastructure
Funding Statement and Infrastructure and
Developer Contributions SPD are currently
being reviewed.

ANNEX 2
A. NPPF Requirement

B. NPPF
Paragraph
Reference

C. Record your assessment results

RAG

Further details set out within:
Affordable Housing SPD
The evidence base includes a Strategic
Housing Market Assessment (SHMA).
Page 96

For the next Local Plan evidence base a new
SHMA is currently in preparation the scope of
which includes assessing the size, type and
tenure of housing in general and for specific
household groups. Whether individual planning
policies are needed for the specific household
groups (including those listed in NPPF Para 61)
will be considered in light of this evidence.
15. Where a need for affordable housing is identified,
specify the type of affordable housing required.

NPPF Para
62

Policies set out the mix of affordable housing to
be delivered:
Policy COM7 Affordable Housing
Policy COM8 Rural Exception Affordable
Housing
Policy COM9 Community Led Development

Amber

Further details are set out within:

10

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

supporting text Paras 5.31-5.34
Policy COM7 Affordable Housing
Policy COM8 Rural Exception Affordable
Housing
Policy COM9 Community Led Development

ANNEX 2
A. NPPF Requirement

B. NPPF
Paragraph
Reference

C. Record your assessment results

RAG

16. Expect at least 10% of homes to be available for
affordable home ownership, unless this would
exceed the level of affordable housing required in
the area, or significantly prejudice the ability to
meet the identified affordable housing needs of
specific groups

NPPF Para
64

Policies set out the mix of affordable housing to
be delivered:
Policy COM7 Affordable Housing
Policy COM8 Rural Exception Affordable
Housing
Policy COM9 Community Led Development

Amber

Page 97

Further details are set out within:
Affordable Housing SPD.
Within the affordable housing sought, the mix of
affordable tenures is subject to negotiation on
the balance between rented and home
ownership tenures, the starting point for
negotiations is 30% intermediate housing and
70% social/affordable rent. Under Policy
COM7 on sites of 15 dwellings or more up to
40% of dwellings should be affordable housing.
17. Set out a housing requirement for designated
neighbourhood areas which reflects the overall
strategy for the pattern and scale of development
and any relevant allocations.

NPPF Para
65

For the next Local Plan the Council will
consider what approach should be taken to the
provision of setting out a housing requirement
for each designated neighbourhood area. This

Red

11

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

Affordable Housing SPD
The evidence base includes a Strategic
Housing Market Assessment (SHMA).

ANNEX 2
A. NPPF Requirement

B. NPPF
Paragraph
Reference

C. Record your assessment results

RAG

Page 98

18. Identify a supply of specific, deliverable sites for
years one to five of the plan period, and specific,
developable sites or broad locations for growth,
for years 6-10 and, where possible, for years 1115 of the plan.

NPPF Para
67

The Council has a five year housing land
supply as at 1 April 2020 (see Housing
Implementation Strategy April 2020) of 6.27
years in Northern Test Valley and 5.26 years in
Southern Test Valley, against a target of 5.00
years. This also includes an assessment of
supply for sites included within the housing
supply which are forecast to deliver beyond 5
years.

Amber

The adopted Local Plan (paras 5.101-5.103)
contains a contingency mechanism if there is a
delay in housing delivery.
19. Identify land to accommodate at least 10% of the
housing requirement on sites no larger than one
hectare; unless it can be demonstrated that there
are strong reasons why the 10% target cannot be

NPPF Para
68

The Council monitors delivery from smaller
sites through the monitoring of the five year
housing land supply position, and though
housing completions. Call for sites exercises

Red

12

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

will be undertaken together with a review of the
housing distribution and settlement hierarchy.
The current designated neighbourhood plan
areas are individual parishes or for a number of
parishes working together jointly. As Test
Valley is fully parished, the issue of a housing
requirement figures for all parishes (including
those not currently a designed neighbourhood
area) will also be considered.

ANNEX 2
A. NPPF Requirement

B. NPPF
Paragraph
Reference

achieved.

C. Record your assessment results

RAG

For the next Local Plan the Council will
consider the mechanism to deliver at least 10%
of the housing requirement from sites of 1
hectare or less.

Page 99

20. Support the development of entry level exception
sites, suitable for first time buyers, unless the
need for such homes is already being met within
the authority’s area.

NPPF Para
71

21. Include a trajectory illustrating the expected rate of NPPF Para
housing delivery over the plan period, and
73
requiring a buffer of 10% where the local planning
authority wishes to demonstrate a five year supply
of deliverable sites through an annual position
statement or recently adopted plan.

Policy COM8 Rural Exception Affordable
Housing.

Red

For the next Local Plan the Council will
consider whether a specific policy framework
for Entry Level Exception Sites should be
included. This will take account of the latest
Government policy on this issue.
The adopted Local Plan includes a Housing
Green
Trajectory. The expected rate of delivery is
kept under review through the five year housing
land supply. This also includes an assessment
of supply for sites included within the housing
supply which are forecast to deliver beyond 5
years.
The Council does not currently wish to

13

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

are used to update the Strategic Housing and
Economic Land Availability Assessment
(SHELAA).

ANNEX 2
A. NPPF Requirement

B. NPPF
Paragraph
Reference

C. Record your assessment results

RAG

Page 100

22. Be responsive to local circumstances and support
rural housing developments that reflect local
needs.

NPPF Para
77

Adopted Local Plan policies provide for rural
housing to be delivered:
Policy COM8 Rural Exception Affordable
Housing
Policy COM9 Community Led Development
Policy COM10 Occupational Accommodation
for Rural Workers in the Countryside

Amber

23. Identify opportunities for villages to grow and
thrive, especially where this will support local
services.

NPPF Para
78

The adopted Local Plan includes a settlement
hierarchy Table 7 which takes account of local
services. Adopted Local Plan polices provide
for housing to be delivered in villages:
Policy COM2 Settlement Hierarchy
Policy COM8 Rural Exception Affordable
Housing
Policy COM9 Community Led Development
Policy COM10 Occupational Accommodation
for Rural Workers in the Countryside

Amber

24. Avoid the development of isolated homes in the
countryside unless specific circumstances are
consistent with those set out in the NPPF.

NPPF Para
79

The adopted Local Plan states that
development outside of the boundaries of
settlements in the settlement hierarchy will not
be permitted unless it is essential to be located

Green

14

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

demonstrate a five year housing land supply
though an annual statement. A 5% buffer is
used for the calculation of the five year land
supply as published in the Housing
Implementation Strategy.

ANNEX 2
A. NPPF Requirement

B. NPPF
Paragraph
Reference

C. Record your assessment results

RAG

Economy
25. Create conditions in which businesses can invest,
expand and adapt.

NPPF Para
80

The adopted Local Plan provides a positive
framework for business growth where this is
consistent with consistent with sustainable
development principles.

Amber

Page 101

For the next Local Plan the Council will review
the degree of flexibility and take account of
changes to the Use Classes Order.
26. Set out a clear economic vision and strategy
which positively and proactively encourages
sustainable economic growth, having regard to
Local Industrial Strategies and other local policies
for economic development and regeneration.

NPPF Para
81

Chapter 6 Local Economy sets out the adopted Amber
Local Plan’s planning strategy for the economy.
The economic evidence base includes studies
assessing the local economy and the
requirements for employment land and
premises.
The evidence base for the next Local Plan with
regard to employment land needs is been
prepared jointly though the Partnership for
South Hampshire (PfSH) as part of the work to
support the new joint Statement of Common
Ground under the Duty to Co-Operate.

15

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

in the countryside or is covered by a specific
policy.
Policy COM2 Settlement Hierarchy

ANNEX 2
A. NPPF Requirement

B. NPPF
Paragraph
Reference

C. Record your assessment results

RAG

Page 102

27. Set criteria, or identify strategic sites, for local and NPPF Para
inward investment to match the strategy and to
81
meet anticipated needs over the plan period.

The adopted Local Plan includes both
allocations, policy areas for individual
employment site restricted to meet the needs
for particular types of use and criteria based
policy to provide a framework to consider
planning applications.

Green

28. Seek to address potential barriers to investment,
such as inadequate infrastructure, services or
housing, or a poor environment.

The adopted Local Plan as a whole seeks to
provide for the necessary provision of
infrastructure, services, housing and
environment to enable the implementation and
delivery of its spatial strategy.

Green

NPPF Para
81

Policy COM15 Infrastructure and Chapter 12
Delivery, Implementation and Monitoring cover
the issue of infrastructure are relevant.
29. Be flexible enough to accommodate needs not
anticipated in the plan, allow for new and flexible
working practices (such as live-work
accommodation), and to enable a rapid response
to changes in economic circumstances.

NPPF Para
81

The adopted Local Plan’s local economy (LE)
policies provide for flexibility where this is
supported by evidence in justification for
planning applications.

Amber

16

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

Account is also taken of the Council’s
Economic Development Strategy and the Local
Industrial Strategies of the Enterprise M3 LEP
and Solent LEP.

ANNEX 2
A. NPPF Requirement

B. NPPF
Paragraph
Reference

C. Record your assessment results

RAG

For the next Local Plan the Council will review
the degree of flexibility and take account of
changes to the Use Classes Order.
Page 103

30. Recognise and address the specific locational
NPPF Para
requirements of different sectors. This includes
82
making provision for clusters or networks of
knowledge and data-driven, creative or high
technology industries; and for storage and
distribution operations at a variety of scales and in
suitably accessible locations.

The adopted Local Plan takes account of the
needs of particular locational requirements of
different sectors and clusters, though both
allocations and policy areas for individual
employment site restricted to meet the needs
for particular types of use, including:
Policy LE1 and LE2 University of Southampton
Science Park (Class B1b)
Policy LE4 Land South of Brownhill Way,
Nursling (Class B8)
Policy LE6 Land at Adanac Park
office/research/manufacturing (Class B1)
Policy LE7 Nursling Estate (Class B8)

Green

31. Enable the sustainable growth and expansion of
NPPF Para
all types of business in rural areas, both through
83
conversion of existing buildings and well-designed

The adopted Local Plan includes policies both
on the conversion of existing building and for
new buildings for commercial use:

Green

17

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

The adopted Local Plan contains a contingency
mechanism (Para.6.47) for where there is an
identified lack of employment site being
delivered so that current requirements can be
met, or if future evidence shows an increased
demand for sites.

ANNEX 2
A. NPPF Requirement

B. NPPF
Paragraph
Reference

new buildings.

C. Record your assessment results

RAG

Page 104

32. Enable the development and diversification of
agricultural and other land-based rural
businesses.

NPPF Para
83

The adopted Local Plan does not include a
specific policy on these issues which would be
covered by the relevant policies of the plan
including:
LE16 Re-Use of Building in the Countryside

33. Enable sustainable rural tourism and leisure
developments which respect the character of the
countryside.

NPPF Para
83

The adopted Local Plan includes a specific
Amber
policy on tourism development Policy LE18
Tourism, which covers both attractions and
accommodation. Policy LE16 Re-Use of
Buildings in the Countryside covers commercial
use (including tourist accommodation), which
could include leisure. There is no specific
policy on leisure developments which would be
covered by the relevant policies of the plan

34. Enable the retention and development of
NPPF Para
accessible local services and community facilities, 83
such as local shops, meeting places, sports
venues, open space, cultural buildings, public
houses and places of worship.

The adopted Local Plan provides for the
provision of new community facilities Policy
COM15 Infrastructure and within the specific
infrastructure requirements within the new
neighbourhoods as strategic housing
allocations.

Amber

Green

Policy COM14 Community Services and

18

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

Policy LE16 Re-Use of Buildings in the
Countryside
Policy LE17 Employment Sites in the
Countryside

ANNEX 2
A. NPPF Requirement

B. NPPF
Paragraph
Reference

C. Record your assessment results

RAG

Facilities covers the retention of existing
community facilities, shops and public houses.

Page 105

35. Recognise that sites to meet local business and
community needs in rural areas may have to be
found adjacent to or beyond existing settlements,
and in locations that are not well served by public
transport.

NPPF Para
84

The adopted Local Plan provides policies for
the redevelopment, extension of building and
new building on existing employment sites in
the countryside, and for the re-use of buildings
for commercial uses, irrespective of location.
Policy LE16 Re-Use of Buildings in the
Countryside
Policy LE17 Employment Sites in the
Countryside
Policy COM9 Community Led Development
also provides for the provision of new of
replacement of infrastructure and facilities for
community needs.

Amber

Accessibility issues would be considered under
Policy T1 Managing Movement
Town centres
36. Define a network and hierarchy of town centres
and promote their long-term vitality and viability.

NPPF Para
85

The adopted Local Plan has defined the
Green
network and hierarchy. Andover and Romsey
are defined as town centres and Stockbridge as

19

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

Policy LHW1 Public Open space covers the
retention of open spaces and recreation
facilities.

ANNEX 2
A. NPPF Requirement

B. NPPF
Paragraph
Reference

C. Record your assessment results

RAG

37. Define the extent of town centres and primary
NPPF Para
shopping areas, and make clear the range of uses 85
permitted in such locations.
Page 106

The adopted Local Plan defines the town centre Amber
boundaries of Andover and Romsey, and their
primary shopping areas. Within the primary
shopping areas, primary and secondary
shopping frontages are also defined.
Policy LE12 Ground Floor Uses in Romsey
Policy LE13 Ground Floor Uses in Andover
These policies prescribe the uses which are
permitted within the primary and secondary
shopping frontages.
For the next Local Plan the Council will review
the degree of flexibility and take account of
changes to the Use Classes Order, and the
changing patterns in the use of town centre and
retailing.

38. Retain and enhance existing markets and, where
appropriate, re-introduce or create new ones.

NPPF Para
85

The adopted Local Plan makes reference to the Red
context of Andover and Romsey as market
towns, but there is not specific policy for
markets.

20

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

a local centre.
Policy LE11 Main Town Centre Uses
Policy LE15 Stockbridge Local Centre
These polices aim to protect their vitality and
viability.

ANNEX 2
A. NPPF Requirement

C. Record your assessment results

RAG

NPPF Para
85

The adopted Local Plan identifies Land at
Eastern Avenue in Andover town centre for a
mixed development
Policy LE14 Mixed Development at George
Yard/Black Swan Yard

Amber

Page 107

The Council has approved masterplans for
Andover town centre (September 2020)
and South of Romsey town centre (September
2020). For the next Local Plan the Council will
consider how these should best be reflected in
its town centre policies and potential
allocations.
40. Where suitable and viable town centre sites are
not available for main town centre uses, allocate
appropriate edge of centre sites that are well
connected to the town centre.

NPPF Para
85

The adopted Local Plan provides a framework
for the consideration sites through the
mechanism of a sequential assessment
Policy LE11 Main Town Centre uses

Green

41. Recognise that residential development often
plays an important role in ensuring the vitality of
centres and encourage residential development
on appropriate sites.

NPPF Para
85

The adopted Local Plan provides for residential
development to be permitted in principle within
settlements subject to the other relevant
policies of the plan
Policy COM2 Settlement Hierarchy

Amber

For the next Local Plan the provision of
additional housing within town centre will be

21

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

39. Allocate a range of suitable sites in town centres
to meet the scale and type of development likely
to be needed, looking at least ten years ahead.

B. NPPF
Paragraph
Reference

ANNEX 2
A. NPPF Requirement

B. NPPF
Paragraph
Reference

C. Record your assessment results

RAG

Healthy and safe communities

Page 108

42. Achieve healthy, inclusive and safe places which
promote social interaction, are safe and
accessible, and enable and support healthy
lifestyles.

NPPF Para
91

The adopted Local Plan includes a number of
policies which cover these issues:
Policy COM14 Community Services and
Facilities
Policy LHW1 Public Open Space
Policy E1 High Quality Development in the
Borough
Policy E6 Green Infrastructure
Policy T1 Managing Movement
Policy CS1 Community Safety

Amber

For the next Local Plan these issues will be
reviewed, together with the approach to
potential design policies.
43. Plan positively for the provision and use of shared NPPF Para
spaces, community facilities (such as local shops, 92
meeting places, sports venues, open space,
cultural buildings, public houses and places of
worship) and other local services to enhance the
sustainability of communities and residential
environments.

The adopted Local Plan provides for the
provision of new community facilities Policy
COM15 Infrastructure and within the specific
infrastructure requirements within the new
neighbourhoods as strategic housing
allocations.

Green

22

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

considered in response to the approved
masterplans for Andover town centre
(September 2020) and South of Romsey town
centre (September 2020).

ANNEX 2
A. NPPF Requirement

B. NPPF
Paragraph
Reference

C. Record your assessment results

RAG

Policy LHW1 Public Open space covers the
provision and retention of open spaces and
recreation facilities.
Policy E1 High Quality Development in the
Borough covers connectivity between spaces
Page 109

Policy E6 Green Infrastructure covers provision
of green infrastructure.
44. Take into account and support the delivery of local NPPF Para
strategies to improve health, social and cultural
92
well-being for all sections of the community.

The adopted Local Plan provides for the
provision of new community facilities Policy
COM15 Infrastructure and within the specific
infrastructure requirements within the new
neighbourhoods as strategic housing
allocations, this includes health, social and
cultural facilities.

Green

The Council works with other infrastructure
provider e.g. NHS of health and Hampshire
County Council on libraries.

23

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

Policy COM14 Community Services and
Facilities covers the retention of existing
community facilities, shops and public houses.

ANNEX 2
A. NPPF Requirement

C. Record your assessment results

RAG

NPPF Para
92

Policy COM14 Community Services and
Facilities covers the retention of existing
community facilities, shops and public houses.

Green

Policy LHW1 Public Open space covers the
retention of open spaces and recreation
facilities.

Page 110

46. Ensure that established shops, facilities and
services are able to develop and modernise, and
are retained for the benefit of the community.

NPPF Para
92

In the adopted Local Plan Policy COM14
Community Services and Facilities covers the
retention of existing community facilities, shops
and public houses and provides a framework
for consideration of their replacement when
justified.

Green

47. Ensure an integrated approach to considering the
location of housing, economic uses and
community facilities and services.

NPPF Para
92

The adopted Local Plan provides for the
provision of new community facilities Policy
COM15 Infrastructure and within the specific
infrastructure requirements within the new
neighbourhoods as strategic housing
allocations. This will be undertaken in drafting
the policy requirements for different uses within
allocations and through masterplanning.

Green

48. Consider the social, economic and environmental
benefits of estate regeneration.

NPPF Para
93

The adopted Local Plan does not include any
policy or proposals for estate regeneration,
although this is not considered to be a
significant issue affecting Test Valley given the

Red

24

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

45. Guard against the unnecessary loss of valued
facilities and services, particularly where this
would reduce the community’s ability to meet its
day-to-day needs.

B. NPPF
Paragraph
Reference

ANNEX 2
A. NPPF Requirement

B. NPPF
Paragraph
Reference

C. Record your assessment results

RAG

49. Promote public safety and take into account wider NPPF Para
security and defence requirements.
95

In the adopted Local Plan Policy CS1
Community Safety covers the issues of public
safety including in the design and layout of
developments.

Green

Page 111

The Council engages with the Ministry of
Defence on their military estate within the
Borough. They are recognised as a significant
local landowner.
50. Provide open space, sports and recreational
facilities which meets the needs of the local area.

NPPF Para
95

The adopted Local Plan provides for the
provision of new open space, sports and
recreational facilities Policy COM15
Infrastructure and within the specific
infrastructure requirements within the new
neighbourhoods as strategic housing
allocations.

Green

Policy LHW1 Public Open space covers the
provision and retention of open spaces and
recreation facilities.
Policy E6 Green Infrastructure covers provision

25

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

nature of its housing stock and built form. Any
proposal for such regeneration would be
considered against Policy COM2 Settlement
Hierarchy and other relevant policies.

ANNEX 2
A. NPPF Requirement

B. NPPF
Paragraph
Reference

C. Record your assessment results

RAG

of GI.

NPPF Para
98

The adopted Local Plan includes are several
references to the rights of way network (Paras.
2.70, 2,71, 7,47 and 8.14).

Green

Page 112

Policy T1 Managing Movement cover the
issues of impact on and accessibility to the
rights of way network.
Hampshire County Council is the Highway (and
Rights of Way) Authority for the Borough.
Transport
52. Should actively manage patterns of growth in
NPPF Para
support of objectives in Para 102. Significant
103
development should be focused on locations
which are/can be made sustainable. Opportunities
to maximise sustainable transport solutions will
vary between urban and rural areas - this should
be taken into account in plan-making.

In the adopted Local Plan Policy T1 Managing
Movement covers the accessibility and
sustainability of development in location and
transport terms.

Green

The principle and scale of development is cover
by the settlement hierarchy Table 7 and Policy
COM2 Settlement Hierarchy which take
account of the sustainability of settlements.

26

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

51. Protect and enhance public rights of way and
access.

ANNEX 2
A. NPPF Requirement

B. NPPF
Paragraph
Reference

RAG

In the adopted Local Plan a mix of uses is
provided within the new neighbourhoods as
strategic housing allocations, including for
those activities which generate frequent
journeys.

Green

The principle and scale of development is cover
by the settlement hierarchy Table 7 and Policy
COM2 Settlement Hierarchy which take
account of the sustainability of settlements.
Page 113

54. Identify and protect, where there is robust
evidence, sites and routes which could be critical
in developing infrastructure to widen transport
choice and realise opportunities for large scale
development.

NPPF Para
104

In the adopted Local Plan provision is made for Green
a strategic park and ride facility under Policy T3
Park and Ride at Bargain Farm, Nursling.
There are on other sites or routes consider
critical for identification or protection as major
transport infrastructure to deliver large scale
development.
The provision of improvements to highways and
transport come under Policy COM15
Infrastructure and within the specific
infrastructure requirements within the new
neighbourhoods as strategic housing
allocations.

27

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

53. Support an appropriate mix of uses across an
NPPF Para
area, and within larger scale sites, to minimise the 104
number and length of journeys needed for
employment, shopping, leisure, education and
other activities.

C. Record your assessment results

ANNEX 2
A. NPPF Requirement

C. Record your assessment results

RAG

NPPF Para
104

In the adopted Local Plan Policy T1 Managing
Movement covers walking and cycling
networks.

Green
Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

55. Provide for high quality walking and cycling
networks and supporting facilities such as cycle
parking (drawing on Local Cycling and Walking
Infrastructure Plans).

B. NPPF
Paragraph
Reference

Policy T2 Parking Standards and Annex G
covers cycle parking provision.
Access Plan SPDs for Romsey, Andover and
Test Valley, plus Cycle Strategy and Network
SPD covers the Borough
Page 114

56. Provide for any large-scale transport facilities that
need to be located in the area and the
infrastructure and wider development required to
support their operation, expansion and
contribution to the wider economy.

NPPF Para
104

Not Applicable. The Council is not aware of
N/A
any large scale transport facilities proposed
within Test Valley which would fall within this
category, or which would fall within the category
of a nationally important infrastructure project.

57. Recognise the importance of maintaining a
national network of general aviation airfields.

NPPF Para
104

The adopted Local Plan does not contain a
specific policy covering airfield or aviation.

Red

There are a number of small airfields located in
the Borough, and the Army Aviation Centre at
Middle Wallop which is an operational military
airbase.
58. Provide adequate overnight lorry parking facilities, NPPF Para
taking into account any local shortages.
107

The adopted Local Plan does not contain a
specific policy covering the provision of
overnight lorry parking. However, this is not
considered to be a significant issue for Test

Red

28

ANNEX 2
A. NPPF Requirement

B. NPPF
Paragraph
Reference

C. Record your assessment results

RAG

Valley.

In the adopted Local Plan the principle and
Green
scale of development is cover by the settlement
hierarchy Table 7 and Policy COM2 Settlement
Hierarchy which take account of the
sustainability of settlements, including in
transport and accessibility terms.
Sustainable travel opportunities was covered in
the Sustainability Appraisal which informed the
choice of strategic housing allocations.
The provision of improvements to highways and
transport come under Policy COM15
Infrastructure and within the specific
infrastructure requirements within the new
neighbourhoods as strategic housing
allocations.
Local Plan Policy T1 Managing Movement
covers the accessibility and sustainability of
development in location and transport terms
and the impacts of development on the highway
network and highway safety.

29

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

Page 115

59. In assessing sites that may be allocated for
NPPF Para
development in plans, it should be ensured that:
108
appropriate opportunities to promote sustainable
transport modes can be – or have been – taken
up, given the type of development and its location;
safe and suitable access to the site can be
achieved for all users; and any significant impacts
from the development on the transport network (in
terms of capacity and congestion), or on highway
safety, can be cost effectively mitigated to an
acceptable degree.

ANNEX 2
A. NPPF Requirement

C. Record your assessment results

RAG

NPPF Para
109

The adopted Local Plan Policy T1 Managing
Movement covers the issue of highway safety
with the regard to the impact of development.

Green

Hampshire County Council is the Highway
Authority for the Borough.

Communications

Page 116

61. Support the expansion of electronic
communications networks, including next
generation mobile technology (such as 5G) and
full fibre broadband connections, setting out how
high-quality digital infrastructure is expected to be
delivered and upgraded over time.

NPPF Para
112

The adopted Local Plan covers the issue of
telecommunications under Policy COM15
Infrastructure and there is a specific reference
to telecommunications (including broadband) in
the supporting text (Para.5.142).

Amber

For the next Local Plan the Council will
consider the inclusion of a specific policy on
telecommunications infrastructure provision
include high speed broadband and 4G and 5G
mobile networks as relevant.
Making effective use of land
62. Promote an effective use of land in meeting the
need for homes and other uses, while
safeguarding and improving the environment and
ensuring safe and healthy living conditions.

NPPF Para
117

In the adopted Local Plan Policy COM1
Green
Housing Provision 2011-2029 sets out the
housing requirement and Para.5.30 of it
supporting text covers the issues of density and
the use of previously developed land. There
are specific policies to meet other development

30

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

60. Development should only be prevented on
highways grounds if there would be an
unacceptable impact on highway safety, or the
residual cumulative impacts on the road network
would be severe.

B. NPPF
Paragraph
Reference

ANNEX 2
A. NPPF Requirement

B. NPPF
Paragraph
Reference

C. Record your assessment results

RAG

requirements.

Page 117

63. Set out a clear strategy for accommodating
objectively assessed needs, in a way that makes
as much use as possible of previously-developed
or ‘brownfield’ land.

NPPF Para
117

In the adopted Local Plan Policy COM1
Housing Provision 2011-2029 sets out the
housing requirement and Para.5.30 of it
supporting text covers the issue of supporting
the use previously development land whenever
appropriate. However, the character of the
Borough and the scale of development to be
accommodated means that most new housing
is delivered on greenfield sites.

Green

64. Encourage multiple benefits from both urban and
rural land, including through mixed use schemes
and taking opportunities to achieve net
environmental gains.

NPPF Para
118

In the adopted Local Plan mixed uses schemes Amber
are provided for as new neighbourhoods as
strategic housing allocations. Mixed use
schemes can also be delivered in rural areas
through Policy COM9 Community Led
Development.
E Policies within Chapter 7 Environment set out

31

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

Policies of the plan cover the issues of the
environment and living conditions including:
Policy E1 High Quality Development in the
Borough
Policy LHW4 Amenity covers privacy, amenity,
private open space, daylight and sunlight
E Policies within Chapter 7 Environment cover
safeguarding and improving the environment

ANNEX 2
A. NPPF Requirement

B. NPPF
Paragraph
Reference

C. Record your assessment results

RAG

For the next Local Plan the Council will
consider how best to achieve a net gain for
biodiversity from new development as proposed
in the Environment Bill.
Page 118

65. Recognise that some undeveloped land can
perform many functions, such as for wildlife,
recreation, flood risk mitigation, cooling/shading,
carbon storage or food production.

NPPF Para
118

66. Give substantial weight to the value of using
NPPF Para
suitable brownfield land within settlements for
118
homes and other identified needs, and support
appropriate opportunities to remediate despoiled,
degraded, derelict, contaminated or unstable land.

The adopted Local Plan does not contain a
specific policy on this issue.

Amber

However, E Policies within Chapter 7
Environment cover these issues and it is
recognised that land can provide for a number
of complementary functions, where such
opportunities are available and policy
requirement can be complied with. The Council
is supportive of this whenever achievable.
In the adopted Local Plan Policy COM1
Housing Provision 2011-2029 sets out the
housing requirement and Para.5.30 of it
supporting text covers the issue of supporting
the use previously development land whenever
appropriate. The development of land for
homes within settlements is covered by Policy

Green

32

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

the framework for securing environmental gains
from development including:
Policy E5 Biodiversity
Policy E6 Green Infrastructure

ANNEX 2
A. NPPF Requirement

B. NPPF
Paragraph
Reference

C. Record your assessment results

RAG

COM2 Settlement Hierarchy.

NPPF Para
118

In the adopted Local Plan Policy COM2
Green
Settlement Boundaries covers the principle of
residential use, including of existing buildings.
There are further specific polices which apply to
change of use or conversion to residential use
of buildings and premises, dependent upon
their location and existing use, including:
Policy LE10 Retention of Employment land and
Strategic Employment Sites
Policy LE16 Re-Use of Buildings in the
Countryside
Policy LE12 and LE13 Ground Floor Uses in
town centres
Policy COM14 Community Services and
Facilities

68. Support opportunities to use the airspace above
existing residential and commercial premises for
new homes.

NPPF Para
118

In the adopted Local Plan Policy COM2
Settlement Boundaries covers the principle of
residential use. There is no specific policy
which covers upward extensions to use the

Page 119

67. Promote and support the development of underutilised land and buildings.

Amber

33

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

The issue of derelict land or land within the
other categories is not a major issue in Test
Valley. However, the Council would support
appropriate opportunities for their remediation
where this is compliant with relevant policies.

ANNEX 2
A. NPPF Requirement

B. NPPF
Paragraph
Reference

C. Record your assessment results

RAG

69. Reflect changes in the demand for land.

NPPF Para
120

Page 120

Para. 5.101-5103 of the adopted Local Plan
Green
contains a contingency mechanism if there is a
delay in housing deliver and Para.6.47 a
contingency mechanism for where there is an
identified lack of employment site being
delivered so that current requirements can be
met, or if future evidence shows an increased
demand for sites. These allow for a response
to changing circumstances. Evidence of
changes to market demand, viability or site
specific circumstances will be considered
reasonably and policies applied flexibility where
justification is provided.
For the next Local Plan with Council will review
development requirements and land availability
and will review existing site allocations where
these are not yet developed.

34

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

airspace above buildings, which would be
considered against relevant polices with regard
to issues including: design, local character and
amenity and access.

ANNEX 2
A. NPPF Requirement

C. Record your assessment results

RAG

NPPF Para
122

In the adopted Local Plan there is no specific
policy on the efficient use of land. However
Policy E1 High Quality Development in the
Borough includes a criterion on making the
efficient use of land.

Amber

Page 121

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

70. Support development that makes efficient use of
land, taking into account the need for different
types of housing and other forms of development,
local market conditions, the availability and
capacity of infrastructure and services, the
character and setting of the area, and the
importance of securing well-designed, attractive
and healthy places.

B. NPPF
Paragraph
Reference

In meeting the housing requirement under
Policy COM1 Housing Provision 2011-2029 the
supporting text (Paras.5.30-5.340) covers the
issues of the mix of housing (as informed by the
Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA)
study, to take account of needs and market
conditions.
Policy COM15 Infrastructure covers specific
infrastructure capacity.
Proposals would be considered against
relevant polices with regard to issues including:
design, local character, including E Policies
within Chapter 7 Environment and LHW
Policies within Chapter 9 Leisure, Health and
Wellbeing.

35

ANNEX 2
A. NPPF Requirement

C. Record your assessment results

RAG

NPPF Para
123

In the adopted Local Plan there is no specific
general policy on density and individual
densities have not been specified for particular
sites or areas. Para.5.30 of the supporting text
covers that density should be informed by the
character of the site and its surroundings.

Amber

Page 122

There is a specific Policy E4 Residential Areas
of Special Character for areas with distinctive
pattern of development which is characterised
by low density. This policy is supported by an
SPD.
For the next Local Plan the Council will review
the approach to density, including the use of
minimum density standards.
Design
72. Set out a clear design vision and provide
maximum clarity about design expectations.

NPPF Para
125 & 126

The adopted Local Plan does not include a
specific policy on design. However, Policy E1
High Quality Development in the Borough
covers issues regarding design and local
distinctiveness and includes criteria regarding
design matters.

Amber

Village Design Statements as SPD and
Neighbourhood Plans provide more detailed

36

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

71. Avoid homes being built at low densities where
there is an existing or anticipated shortage of
identified housing needs, and where appropriate
include the use of minimum density standards.

B. NPPF
Paragraph
Reference

ANNEX 2
A. NPPF Requirement

B. NPPF
Paragraph
Reference

C. Record your assessment results

RAG

For the next Local Plan the approach to the
issue of how design is addressed be reviewed
including the potential for specific design
policies.
Page 123

73. Ensure that developments will function well and
NPPF Para
add to the overall quality of the area, are visually
127
attractive as a result of good architecture, layout
and appropriate and effective landscaping, are
sympathetic to local character and history,
including the surrounding built environment and
landscape setting, establish or maintain a strong
sense of place, optimise the potential of the site to
accommodate and sustain an appropriate amount
and mix of development, and create places that
are safe, accessible and inclusive.

In the adopted Local Plan Policy E1 High
Quality Development in the Borough covers
issues regarding design and local
distinctiveness including layout and built form.

Amber

E Policies within Chapter 7 Environment cover
safeguarding and improving the environment
including landscape and the built environment.
The plan also includes a number of policies
which covers issues regarding these matters:
Policy COM14 Community Services and
Facilities
Policy LHW1 Public Open Space
Policy E6 Green Infrastructure
Policy T1 Managing Movement
Policy CS1 Community Safety

37

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

guidance for specific parish areas. There are
also specific SPD on shopfront design and
supporting Policy E4 Residential Areas of
Special Character.

Green Belt

B. NPPF
Paragraph
Reference

C. Record your assessment results

Page 124

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

A. NPPF Requirement

ANNEX 2

RAG

For the next Local Plan the approach to the
issue of how design is addressed be reviewed
including the potential for specific design
policies.

38

ANNEX 2
Not Applicable. No Green Belt designated within N/A
Test Valley.

75. Green Belt boundaries should only be altered
where exceptional circumstances are fully
evidenced and justified, through the preparation or
updating of plans. Strategic policies should
establish the need for any changes to Green Belt
boundaries, having regard to their intended
permanence in the long term, so they can endure
beyond the plan period. Where a need for changes
to Green Belt boundaries has been established
through strategic policies, detailed amendments to
those boundaries may be made through nonstrategic policies, including neighbourhood plans.
Even when exceptional circumstances are
demonstrated strategically to take land out of the
Green Belt, it is still necessary to demonstrate that
exceptional circumstances exist at the site level.

Not Applicable. No Green Belt designated within N/A
Test Valley.

NPPF
Para
136

The rationale and justification for an appropriate
Green Belt designation for South Hampshire (for
the countryside surrounding the cities of
Southampton and Portsmouth) is being
investigated as part of the joint work being
undertaken by the Partnership for South
Hampshire (PfSH) in preparing a Statement of
Common Ground under the Duty to Co-Operate.
A potential Green Belt and other forms of
protection for the countryside to prevent the
coalescence of town and villages will be
considered.

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

Page 125

74. Set out proposals for new Green Belts within
NPPF
strategic policies. This should demonstrate why
Para
normal planning and development management
135
policies would not be adequate, any major changes
in circumstances, consequences for sustainable
development, the need for Green Belt to support
adjoining areas, and how new Green Belt would
meet other objectives of the Framework.

39

ANNEX 2
NPPF
Para
137 &
138

Not Applicable. No Green Belt designated within N/A
Test Valley.

77. When defining Green Belt boundaries, plans should NPPF
ensure consistency with the development plan’s
Para
strategy for meeting identified requirements for
139
sustainable development, not include land which it
is unnecessary to keep permanently open, identify
areas of safeguarded land between the urban area
and the Green Belt where necessary, make clear
that the safeguarded land is not allocated for
development at the present time, be able to
demonstrate that Green Belt boundaries will not
need to be altered at the end of the plan period,
and define boundaries clearly.

Not Applicable. No Green Belt designated within N/A
Test Valley.

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

Page 126

76. Strategic policies should make as much use as
possible of suitable brownfield sites and
underutilised land and optimise the density of
development including promoting an uplift in
minimum density standards in town and city centres
and locations well served by public transport.
Where it has been concluded that it is necessary to
release Green Belt land for development, plans
should give first consideration to land which has
been previously-developed and/or is well-served by
public transport. They should also set out ways in
which the impact of removing land from the Green
Belt can be offset through compensatory
improvements to the environmental quality and
accessibility of remaining Green Belt land.

40

ANNEX 2
Climate change, flooding and coastal change
78. Take a proactive approach to mitigating and
NPPF
adapting to climate change, taking into account the Para
long-term implications for flood risk, coastal
149
change, water supply, biodiversity and landscapes,
and the risk of overheating from rising temperature.

Policy E7 Water Management covers water
efficiency and compliance with national policy and
guidance on flood risk.
Page 127

A small part of the River Test estuary in Test Valley
is tidal, but is not at the sea. There is no significant
risk of coastal change.
The Council has declared a climate emergency
(September 2019) and has approved a Climate
Emergency Action Plan (June 2020).
For the next Local Plan the Council will reviews the
local policy approach to climate change, including
whether to include specific policy.
79. Support appropriate measures to ensure the future
resilience of communities and infrastructure to
climate change impacts.

NPPF
Para
149

The adopted Local Plan does not include a specific
policy on climate change, with responding to and
mitigating the issue covered by Paras.2.41, 3.2 (in
relation to the plan’s objectives) and 7.49-7.51 of
the supporting text. Consideration of this issue will
include with regard to the future resilience of

Amber

41

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

The adopted Local Plan does not include a specific Amber
policy on climate change, with responding to and
mitigating the issue covered by Paras.2.41, 3.2 (in
relation to the plan’s objectives) and 7.49-7.51 of
the supporting text. Paras.7.33 and 7.45 also make
specific reference to the issue with regard to
biodiversity and green infrastructure respectively.

ANNEX 2
communities and infrastructure.

NPPF
Para
151

The adopted Local Plan does not include a specific Amber
policy on renewable energy and reliance is had on
national planning policy. This approach is set out in
Para 7.50 of the supporting text. The Council
supports the principle of energy generating
proposals which help mitigate and adapt to climate
change within both defined settlements and the
countryside. Such proposals will be considered
against the relevant policies of the plan.

Page 128

For the next Local Plan the Council will review the
local policy approach to renewable and low carbon
energy and whether specific local policy should be
included. For the evidence base a Renewable and
Low Carbon Energy Study is being prepared to
assess the potential of such energy sources in the
Borough and where suitably this could be
appropriately accommodated particularly taking
account of landscape impact and connection
infrastructure.
81. Strategic policies should manage flood risk from all
sources.

NPPF
Para
156

The adopted Local Plan does not include a specific Amber
policy on flood risk as reliance is had to national
planning policy on this matter. Policy E7 Water
Management includes a criterion that national
policy on guidance on flood risk should be complied
with. Flood risk is also covered by Paras.7.58-7.60
of the supporting text.

42

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

80. Increase the use and supply of renewable and low
carbon energy and heat by providing a positive
strategy for energy from these sources, identifying
suitable areas for renewable and low carbon
energy sources, and identifying opportunities for
development to draw its energy supply from
decentralised, renewable or low carbon energy
supply systems and for co-locating potential heat
customers and suppliers.

ANNEX 2
For the next Local Plan the Council will review the
local policy approach to flood risk and a new
Strategic Flood Risk Assessment (SFRA) is being
commissioned jointly through the Partnership for
South Hampshire (PfSH) as part of the evidence
base.
NPPF
Para
167

Not Applicable as Test Valley is not a coastal
authority. A small part of the River Test estuary in
Test Valley is tidal, but is not at the sea. There are
no areas vulnerable to risk of coastal change or
identified as Coastal Change Management Areas
affecting the Borough. It is noted that sea level rise
may increase areas at risk of tidal flooding.

N/A

Page 129

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

82. Avoiding inappropriate development in vulnerable
areas and not exacerbating the impacts of physical
changes to the coast.

43

ANNEX 2
Natural environment
In the adopted Local Plan Policy E2 Protect, Conserve Amber
and Enhance the Landscape Character of the
Borough covers the issues of landscapes, and Policy
E5 Biodiversity covers the issues of biodiversity and
geological conservation interests.
Policy COM2 Settlement Boundaries recognising the
value of the intrinsic character and beauty of
countryside by limiting development outside of
settlement boundaries to that which is essential to be
located in the countryside or falls with the scope of
specific limited plan policies.
Page 130

For the next Local Plan the Council will consider how
best to achieve a net gain for biodiversity from new
development as proposed in the Environment Bill,
including how this relates to natural capital and
ecosystems.
84. Plans should: distinguish between the hierarchy of
international, national and locally designated sites,
take a strategic approach to maintaining and
enhancing networks of habitats and green
infrastructure, and plan for the enhancement of
natural capital at a catchment or landscape scale
across local authority boundaries.

NPPF
Para
171

Adopted Local Plan Policy E5 Biodiversity covers the
hierarchy of international, national and locally
designated nature conservation sites. The policy
includes priority habitats and species nationally and
locally and features that function as part of a wider
network of sites. The Proposals Map includes
internationally, nationally and locally designated
nature conservation sites.

Amber

Details of designated sites and priority habitats and
species and their location is held by the Hampshire

44

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

83. Contribute to and enhance the natural and local
NPPF
environment by protecting and enhancing valued
Para
landscapes, sites of biodiversity or geological value 170
and soils, recognising the intrinsic character and
beauty of the countryside, and the wider benefits
from natural capital and ecosystem services.

ANNEX 2
Biodiversity Information Centre (HBIC). This includes
ecological networks and at a landscape scale this
include Biodiversity Opportunity Areas.
Policy E6 Green Infrastructure covers green
infrastructure.

Page 131

85. Conserve the special character and importance of
Heritage Coast areas.

NPPF
Para
173

86. Identify, map and safeguard components of local
NPPF
wildlife-rich habitats and wider ecological networks, Para
promote the conservation, restoration and
174
enhancement of priority habitats, ecological
networks and the protection and recovery of priority
species, and identify and pursue opportunities for
securing measurable net gains for biodiversity.

Not Applicable as Test Valley is not a coastal
authority. A small part of the River Test estuary in
Test Valley is tidal, but is not at the sea. There are no
Heritage Coast designations affecting the Borough.

N/A

In the adopted Local Plan Policy E5 Biodiversity
includes priority habitats and species nationally and
locally and features that function as part of a wider
network of sites. The Proposals Map includes
internationally, nationally and locally designated
nature conservation sites.

Amber

Details of designated sites and priority habitats and
species and their location is held by the Hampshire
Biodiversity Information Centre (HBIC). This includes
ecological networks and at a landscape scale this
include Biodiversity Opportunity Areas.

45

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

A local ecological network has been published for
Hampshire, which takes account of certain priority
habitats and opportunities to enhance the network.
The will be taken into account in the next Local Plan
and the Council will continue its engagement with the
Hampshire Local Nature Partnership.

ANNEX 2
For the next Local Plan the Council will consider how
best to achieve a net gain for biodiversity from new
development as proposed in the Environment Bill,
including how this relates to natural capital and
ecosystems.

Page 132

87. Ensure that a site is suitable for its proposed use
taking account of ground conditions, any risks
arising from land instability and contamination, and
the likely effects of pollution on health, living
conditions and the natural environment.

NPPF
Para
178 &
180

In the adopted Local Plan Policy E8 Pollution covers
all types of pollution as detailed in Footnote 116 as
anything which affects the quality of land, air, water or
soil, or which might lead to an adverse impact on
human health, the natural environment or amenity.
Reference is also made to the definition of pollution in
the NPPF Glossary.

Green

Issues of ground conditions, land instability and land
contamination, would be assessed thorough the
Sustainability Appraisal with regard to site allocations
as relevant, and through development management in
the determination of planning applications. However,
there is a current lack of data sources for the
Sustainability Appraisal for land stability or ground
conditions matters.
No land is formally designated as contaminated land
in Test Valley.

46

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

A local ecological network has been published for
Hampshire, which takes account of certain priority
habitats and opportunities to enhance the network.
The will also be taken into account in the next Local
Plan and the Council will continue its engagement with
the Hampshire Local Nature Partnership.

ANNEX 2
88. Sustain and contribute towards compliance with
relevant limit values or national objectives for
pollutants, taking into account the presence of Air
Quality Management Areas and Clean Air Zones,
and the cumulative impacts from individual sites in
local areas.

NPPF
Para
181

Green

In assessing proposals account would be taken of
relevant value limits and national objectives for
pollutants.

Page 133

There are currently no designed Air Quality
Management Areas (AQMA) or Clean Air Zones within
Test Valley.
89. Ensure that new development can be integrated
effectively with existing businesses and community
facilities.

NPPF
Para
182

In the adopted Local Plan Policy COM15
Infrastructure covers new infrastructure from
development and the Infrastructure Delivery Plan sets
out the assessment of requirements.

Green

Policy COM14 Community Services and Facilities
covers existing community facilities.
The new neighbourhoods as strategic allocations have
been planned to be integrate into existing settlements
within new infrastructure and enhancements to
existing infrastructure delivered by these in a manner
which seeks wider benefits for both new and existing
residents, and takes account of existing provision.
Their location was assessed through the Sustainability
Appraisal has included consideration of existing

47

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

In the adopted Local Plan Policy E8 Pollution covers
all types of pollution as detailed in Footnote 116 as
anything which affects the quality of land, air, water or
soil, or which might lead to an adverse impact on
human health, the natural environment or amenity.
Reference is also made to the definition of pollution in
the NPPF Glossary.

ANNEX 2
businesses (employment and economic activity) and
community facilities. In assessing the location of
development account will be taken of any impact on
existing businesses and community facilities.
Historic Environment
NPPF
Para
185

Adopted Local Plan Policy E9 Heritage covers the
protection of heritage assets. The supporting text
Paras.7.71-7.84 includes including the issues of their
conservation and enjoyment.

Green

NPPF
Para
204

Not Applicable as Test Valley is not a minerals and
waste planning authority.

N/A

Minerals

Page 134

91. Provide for the extraction of mineral resources of
local and national importance.

Minerals and Waste development planning is covered
by the Minerals and Waste Plans prepared jointly
between Hampshire County Council, Southampton
and Portsmouth City Councils and the New Forest and
South Downs National Park Authorities.
92. Take account of the contribution that substitute or
secondary and recycled materials and minerals
waste would make to the supply of materials,
before considering extraction of primary materials.

NPPF
Para
204

93. Safeguard mineral resources by defining Mineral
Safeguarding Areas.

NPPF
Para

Not Applicable as Test Valley is not a minerals and
waste planning authority.

N/A

Minerals and Waste development planning is covered
by the Minerals and Waste Plans prepared jointly
between Hampshire County Council, Southampton
and Portsmouth City Councils and the New Forest and
South Downs National Park Authorities.
Not Applicable as Test Valley is not a minerals and
waste planning authority.

N/A

48

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

90. Set out a positive strategy for the conservation and
enjoyment of the historic environment, including
heritage assets most at risk through neglect, decay
or other threats.

ANNEX 2
204
Minerals and Waste development planning is covered
by the Minerals and Waste Plans prepared jointly
between Hampshire County Council, Southampton
and Portsmouth City Councils and the New Forest and
South Downs National Park Authorities.

Page 135

94. Encourage the prior extraction of minerals, where
practical and environmentally feasible, if it is
necessary for non-mineral development to take
place.

NPPF
Para
204

95. Safeguard existing, planned and potential sites for: NPPF
the bulk transport, handling and processing of
Para
minerals, the manufacture of concrete and concrete 204
products and the handling, processing and
distribution of substitute, recycled and secondary
aggregate material.

Not Applicable as Test Valley is not a minerals and
waste planning authority.

N/A

Minerals and Waste development planning is covered
by the Minerals and Waste Plans prepared jointly
between Hampshire County Council, Southampton
and Portsmouth City Councils and the New Forest and
South Downs National Park Authorities.
Not Applicable as Test Valley is not a minerals and
waste planning authority.

N/A

Minerals and Waste development planning is covered
by the Minerals and Waste Plans prepared jointly
between Hampshire County Council, Southampton
and Portsmouth City Councils and the New Forest and
South Downs National Park Authorities.

49

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

Mineral Consultation Areas are shown on the Local
Plan Proposals Map. The Council will consider the
issue of whether to include boundaries for minerals
designations and if so, for which and what from in the
next Local Plan, in consultation with Hampshire
County Council as minerals planning authority.

ANNEX 2
96. Set out criteria or requirements to ensure that
permitted and proposed operations do not have
unacceptable adverse impacts on the natural and
historic environment or human health

NPPF
Para
204

N/A

Minerals and Waste development planning is covered
by the Minerals and Waste Plans prepared jointly
between Hampshire County Council, Southampton
and Portsmouth City Councils and the New Forest and
South Downs National Park Authorities.
Not Applicable as Test Valley is not a minerals and
waste planning authority.

N/A

Page 136

Minerals and Waste development planning is covered
by the Minerals and Waste Plans prepared jointly
between Hampshire County Council, Southampton
and Portsmouth City Councils and the New Forest and
South Downs National Park Authorities.
98. Ensure that worked land is reclaimed at the earliest NPPF
opportunity, taking account of aviation safety, and
Para
that high-quality restoration and aftercare of mineral 204
sites takes place.

Not Applicable as Test Valley is not a minerals and
waste planning authority.

N/A

Minerals and Waste development planning is covered
by the Minerals and Waste Plans prepared jointly
between Hampshire County Council, Southampton
and Portsmouth City Councils and the New Forest and
South Downs National Park Authorities.

50

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

97. Recognise that some noisy short-term activities,
NPPF
which may otherwise be regarded as unacceptable, Para
are unavoidable to facilitate minerals extraction
204

Not Applicable as Test Valley is not a minerals and
waste planning authority.

ANNEX 2

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

Page 137

RAG (Red/Amber/Green)
Red
Significant difference(s) between the adopted Local Plan and the NPPF 2019 requirement, which
necessitates a new or additional policy, or revision of the current policy approach in this regard being
considered to address this in preparing the next Local Plan. However, the difference(s) are not
considered to mean that the adopted Local Plan is out of date or unsound.
Amber
Some difference(s) between the adopted Local Plan and the NPPF 2019 requirement, which will be
taken into account and considered in a review of the current policy approach in preparing the next
Local Plan, or which could alternatively be addressed though Supplementary Planning Documents or
other additional guidance. However, the difference(s) are not considered to necessitate a review of
the adopted Local Plan on this basis, nor mean that the adopted Local Plan is out of date or unsound.
Green
The adopted Local Plan fully or substantially meets the NPPF 2019 requirement and that no revision
of the current policy approach is necessary on this basis. It is considered that the adopted Local Plan
is not out of date or unsound.
N/A
Not Applicable. The NPPF 2019 requirement does not apply to Test Valley as local planning authority
in preparing a Local Plan, or the NPPF 2019 requirement is with regard to a feature, designation or
planning constraint which is not present in Test Valley. The NPPF 2019 requirement is therefore not
relevant to the adopted Local Plan.
January 2021

51

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

ANNEX 3

TEST VALLEY BOROUGH COUNCIL
LOCAL PLAN REVIEW

Report by Intelligent Plans and Examinations (IPE) Ltd
Keith Holland BA (Hons) DipTP MRTPI ARICS
26 January 2021

Intelligent Plans and Examinations (IPE) Ltd, 3 Princes Street, Bath BA1 1HL
Registered in England and Wales. Company Reg. No. 10100118. VAT Reg. No. 237 7641 84

Page 138

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

ANNEX 3
1.0 Introduction and context
1.1

Intelligent Plans and examinations (IPe) has been commissioned by the
Planning Advisory Service (PAS) to provide advice to Test Valley Borough
Council regarding the review of the Test Valley Local Plan (2011–2029)
(TVLP).

1.2

The TVLP was adopted in January 2016. In mid-2018 the Council
published an Issues and Options consultation document dealing with the
question of the review of the TVLP. This was followed by a Refined Issues
and Options document in June 2020. In April 2019 the Council adopted a
new Corporate Plan entitled Growing our Potential. In September 2020
the Council approved master plans for Andover town centre and South of
Romsey town centre. In June 2020 the Council approved a Climate
Emergency Action Plan.

1.3

The Council is now seeking general support for its local plan review
process taking into account the PAS Local Plan Route Mapper Toolkit Parts
1 and 2. The review process includes consideration of the possible
content of the next local plan, the scale of review that is necessary, the
associated risks and the requirements of the Duty to Cooperate (DtC)
legislation.

1.4

The Council considers that the key issues for the next local plan can be
listed under the following headings:

Housing distribution

Housing mix, density and design standards

Building standards

Employment land

Town centres and retail policies including town centre master
plans

Climate Change including renewable energy and flood risk

Biodiversity including mitigation

Sub regional planning
•
Health and well-being
•
Infrastructure
•
Skills and training
Clearly this is a general list that covers a very wide range of topics.

2.0 Review
2.1

Prima facie the above list suggests that the review of the local plan will
need to be extensive and fundamental. However, on a closer analysis it is
evident that the existing local plan policies either in their present form or
with relatively modest alterations adequately deal with a number of the
issues detailed by the Council. The PAS Toolkit provides a valuable initial
assessment of which parts of the existing plan need to be reviewed and
which parts can be carried forward with relatively little change. Bearing in
mind the limited resources available to local authorities it is important that
Intelligent Plans and Examinations (IPE) Ltd, 3 Princes Street, Bath BA1 1HL
Registered in England and Wales. Company Reg. No. 10100118. VAT Reg. No. 237 7641 84

Page 139

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

ANNEX 3
any review of the existing plan takes a realistic view of what needs to be
changed.
2.2

The June 2020 Issues and Options consultation document could
potentially give the impression that the current local plan needs to be
fundamentally changed. However, it is considered that this is to an extent
misleading. Based on the PAS Toolkit it is clear that many of the existing
policies are proving to be effective. For most local plans, issues around
housing, employment, environmental protection and infrastructure are
amongst the most critical, not least because these matters have important
implications for the delivery of sustainable development.

2.3

In relation to housing in the last four years the Council has delivered just
under 4000 new dwellings, well in excess of the existing local plan
requirement of 588 dwellings per annum. Both the housing delivery test
and the affordable housing target have been met and as at April 2020 the
Council had more than a five year supply of housing land in both of the
housing market areas as defined in the local plan. Based on the latest
(December 2020) Government standard method for calculating housing
need, the requirement figure for Test Valley is 550 dwellings per annum.
In quantitative terms therefore there is nothing to suggest that there will
need to be a major change in the approach adopted for the delivery of
housing. However even if there is no change in strategy the new local
plan will need to identify additional housing sites in line with the strategy
to ensure that the Council is able to maintain an adequate supply of
housing land.

2.4

As regards the distribution of additional housing within the district the
current plan divides the district into two housing market areas (HMAs) –
the Northern Test Valley HMA and the Southern Test Valley HMA. Based
on job forecast data the existing plan contains a 67:33 split between the
northern and the southern HMA. Within the northern HMA there is a
concentration of development at Andover while in the southern HMA the
concentration is at Romsey. This distribution is not surprising given that
the settlement hierarchy regards these two towns as the major centres
within Test Valley. Key service centres are Charlton, Stockbridge, North
Baddesley, Nursling, Rownham and Valley Park.

2.5

The 2020 Issues and Options consultation document raises the question of
whether it is appropriate to have two HMAs, whether the boundary is the
right boundary if the two are maintained and whether the distribution of
new housing development between the two areas should be maintained.
The consultation document also raises questions about the settlement
hierarchy and settlement boundaries. A significant change to the present
broad strategy of focussing most of the housing development at/around
the two major centres in the Borough is likely to have the consequence of
requiring a full review of the TVLP. Similarly, a full review would probably
be required if there were to be a reversal in the split of new housing
between the north and south of the Borough. A full review would be
necessary because of the way a significant change in strategy would
impact on the other policies in the plan. However even in a full review it
Intelligent Plans and Examinations (IPE) Ltd, 3 Princes Street, Bath BA1 1HL
Registered in England and Wales. Company Reg. No. 10100118. VAT Reg. No. 237 7641 84

Page 140

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

ANNEX 3
should be possible for many of the generic development management
policies to remain unchanged where experience has shown that they serve
their purpose.
2.6

How new housing is distributed is described in the Issues and Options
document as “one of the key decisions” for the new local plan. It is noted
that in the consultation responses to date there is majority support for
maintaining separate HMAs, with possibly a revised boundary. The
boundary review seems to favour an enlarged southern HMA with support
for a wider distribution of housing on smaller sites to a larger number of
settlements, including rural villages. Adopting a materially revised
strategy based on a wider distribution of housing is likely to have
significant consequences, not least for sustainability considerations. The
Council will need to be satisfied that, if followed, a strategy of more widely
dispersed development does not compromise the sustainability of the
plan. The scale of risk in this regard will probably depend on the how
much/how widely housing development is dispersed. Any unresolved
tension between the strategy adopted and the sustainability appraisal
would represent a considerable risk at a local plan examination.

2.7

The allocation of housing numbers to neighbourhood plans can probably
be dealt with through a partial review process but a full revision may be
required if the Council revises the strategy in the way that has a major
impact on neighbourhood plans. At present there is one made
neighbourhood plan in Test Valley, three have passed examination and
are awaiting referendum and a further 11 are being prepared.

2.8

In relation to the economy the Council has not identified any significant
problems with the existing planning policies. It is understood that the
Council has already undertaken a study of existing Strategic Employment
Sites and has cooperated with the Solent and the M3 Local Enterprise
Partnerships in reviewing the employment aspects of the TVLP. The
Partnership for South Hampshire has also been involved in the preparation
of the up-to-date employment evidence base. The existing policy relating
to the balance of net out commuting is to be maintained and the housing
growth is linked to the forecast employment growth. On the basis of this
information it is reasonable to conclude that employment considerations
can be relatively simply dealt with through a partial update of the TVLP.

2.9

Master Plans have recently been adopted for both Andover Town Centre
and South of Romsey Town Centre. These Master Plans that supplement
the existing policies in the TVLP are intended to deliver a broad range of
improvements to these town centres. The policies for these town centres
should be revised to reflect the proposals in the recently adopted town
centre master plans. Given the changes that are occurring in the retail
sector and the general concern about the vitality of town centres it may
be the appropriate for the Council to consider putting more emphasis on
the introduction of residential development in the town centres,
particularly in Andover where it appears that there may be more scope for
introducing additional housing into the town centre. At present in the
TVLP there is reference to a mixed development to include residential on
Intelligent Plans and Examinations (IPE) Ltd, 3 Princes Street, Bath BA1 1HL
Registered in England and Wales. Company Reg. No. 10100118. VAT Reg. No. 237 7641 84

Page 141

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

ANNEX 3
the site at George Yard/BlackSwan Yard. The Council should consider
whether there are further opportunities that can be included in the revised
local plan. The scope for additional residential development in Romsey
town centre appears to be more limited and may be restricted to the 30
units referred to in the Master Plan at the Fishlake site. Nevertheless, the
matter should be given consideration in the preparation of the revised
local plan. Expanding the town centre policies in line with the master
plans could be dealt with through a partial review of the plan
2.10

It is noted that no infrastructure projects critical to the delivery of the
current local plan policies have stalled or failed and that the existing
Infrastructure Delivery Plan is currently being reviewed. Unless the
review throws up the need for a substantial change to the provision of
infrastructure in the Borough it seems unlikely that infrastructure
considerations would necessitate a complete revision of the existing local
plan.

2.11

As regards the environment, the Issues and Options consultation
emphasises that climate change will be a key theme running through the
whole local plan. The existing chapter in the TVLP is relatively
comprehensive as regards protecting the environment and includes
policies on Green Infrastructure and Water Management. There is a
Biodiversity Action Plan in place and a Landscape Character Assessment.
A new Strategic Flood Risk Assessment is to be jointly prepared through
the Partnership for South Hampshire. Given the very limited area of the
Borough that includes the Test estuary, coastal flooding and erosion are
not a significant consideration for the authority. Overall it is considered
that environmental considerations do not seem to require a wholesale
review of the plan although the existing policies could usefully be
reinforced in some limited instances – for example by introducing a policy
for electric vehicle charging points. However, the Council does not have a
strategic level renewable energy strategy. This is a matter that could be
addressed in parallel with a partial review of the local plan.

2.12

The Council has used the PAS Toolkit Part 2 to assess how effective the
existing local plan has been in relation to the National Planning Policy
Framework (NPPF). This assessment has identified some areas where
changes to the TVLP would be desirable, including policies for entry level
housing sites, self-build and market housing on rural exception sites.
There are other issues/topics identified which are included in the NPPF but
which are not, on the basis of local experience, a problem in the area or
are adequately dealt with in the supporting text to the TVLP. These
include estate regeneration, markets, aviation, Rights of Way and
overnight lorry parking. The small number of other changes identified by
the Council on the basis of the NPPF including the question of minimum
density standards, the provision of 10% of housing on small sites and the
identification of strategic and non-strategic policies are unlikely to require
more than a partial review of the plan. There are also some subjects,
outstanding, for example, innovative design proposals in rural areas, that
the authority reasonably say can be adequately dealt with by reference to
the NPPF. The Council considers that it may need to review how design
Intelligent Plans and Examinations (IPE) Ltd, 3 Princes Street, Bath BA1 1HL
Registered in England and Wales. Company Reg. No. 10100118. VAT Reg. No. 237 7641 84

Page 142

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

ANNEX 3
considerations generally are dealt with. This is a matter that could
probably be satisfactorily dealt with by Supplementary Planning Guidance.
Changes in legislation relating to matters such as permitted development
rights and the use classes order should not require more than a partial
review of the TVLP.
2.13

There is no single right way of using the PAS Toolkit. It is intended as an
aid for authorities to use as they see fit. This review of how the Council
has used the Toolkit clearly cannot take into account the extensive
evidence that the Council has of how the LP is performing. Consequently
it cannot be regarded as definitive but it is considered that the Council has
used the PAS Toolkit material in a positive and constructive way that has
had regard to the NPPF. Based on the assessment done by the Council
and the success of the TVLP for development management purposes, it
seems likely that a partial review of the TVLP may well be sufficient. This
conclusion is based on the assumption that the broad strategy of the plan
remains largely in place. In such a situation the bulk of the strategic
policies that were found sound at the local plan examination are unlikely
to change materially and can expect to continue to enjoy the full status of
adopted development plan policies. However, if the strategy moves away
from the present concentration of development in selected locations to
one of a general dispersal of development widely over the Borough a full
review of the plan will probably be needed. In such a situation the plan
would need to include fuller details of housing numbers in the rural parts
of the Borough

2.14

The council has provided an assessment of how the TVLP would need to
change should the Planning Reform White Paper proposals be introduced.
Clearly the White Paper envisages a fundamentally different approach to
local plans. The White Paper proposes a visual map based plan with rules
rather than general policies. However, it is not yet known what changes
may be made to the White Paper proposals as a result of the consultation
that was carried out or when changes may be introduced. At present the
Government is stressing the need for authorities to get up-to-date plans
based on the present system in place by the end of 2023. The message
that authorities should get on with their existing local plan work was
recently repeated in the Ministerial Statement (19 January 2021) from the
Minister of State for Housing.1 At this stage the Council should proceed
with getting the existing local plan reviewed/updated and not spend time
and resources on a “White Paper style” local plan.

2.15

In relation to the DtC the Council will be aware that the Planning
Inspectorate has recently been taking a very robust approach to its
assessment of the DtC. The information provided by the Council states
that there have been no requests from neighbouring authorities for
assistance under the DtC and that the Borough Council believes that it can
accommodate its own needs without having to seek assistance from
others. In these circumstances there should be no difficulty in making the

1

https://www.gov.uk/government/news/councils-urged-to-ensure-local-plans-are-up-to-date
Intelligent Plans and Examinations (IPE) Ltd, 3 Princes Street, Bath BA1 1HL
Registered in England and Wales. Company Reg. No. 10100118. VAT Reg. No. 237 7641 84

Page 143

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

ANNEX 3
case that the DtC has been met. However, it is noted that the next local
plan will be taking account of a new joint Statement of Common Ground
prepared by the Partnership for South Hampshire. The Council will need
to be alert to any change in the DtC situation that might flow from the
proposed new Statement of Common Ground.
3.0 Conclusion
3.1

The way the Council has used the PAS Toolkit is, as far as we can tell
without a full and detailed knowledge of the implementation of the LP,
sensible and comprehensive. Based on the Council’s assessment the
current TVLP is providing a sound basis for planning in the Borough and
there appears to be no reason why a partial review of the plan supported
by an up-dated evidence base should not prove to be adequate for
planning the Borough in the future. Even with a partial review there will
be difficult decisions to be made about matters such as housing land
supply but, provided that the overall strategy does not change
significantly, there should be no reason for the Council to spend time and
scarce resources on a fundamentally different plan. The broad strategic
policies in the plan should largely retain their current weight if the overall
strategy of the plan remains unchanged.

Intelligent Plans and Examinations (IPE) Ltd, 3 Princes Street, Bath BA1 1HL
Registered in England and Wales. Company Reg. No. 10100118. VAT Reg. No. 237 7641 84

Page 144

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

ITEM 10

Hurstbourne Tarrant Village Design Statement
Supplementary Planning Document

Report of the Planning Portfolio Holder

Recommended:
1.

That the Hurstbourne Tarrant Village Design Statement (attached as
Annex 1 to the report) to the report be adopted as a Supplementary
Planning Document to provide design guidance for the Parish of
Hurstbourne Tarrant.

2.

That the Head of Planning Policy and Economic Development, in
consultation with the Planning Portfolio Holder be delegated to carry out
amendments of a minor nature to improve the presentation of the
document and correct any typographical errors.

Recommended to Council.
SUMMARY:


A Village Design Statement has been prepared for the Parish of Hurstbourne
Tarrant (Annex 1) and submitted for consideration for adoption as a
Supplementary Planning Document (SPD). The Council has undertaken a formal
public consultation in order to meet the requirements of a SPD in line with the
relevant regulations and guidance.



The report sets out a summary of the comments received and the Council’s
response as set out in Annex 2. This includes amendments which are
recommended in light of these comments. The VDS is considered appropriate
for adoption, subject to inclusion of these amendments.

1

Introduction

1.1

A Village Design Statement (VDS) for Hurstbourne Tarrant (Annex 1) has
been prepared by the local community with the support of Hurstbourne
Tarrant Parish Council.

1.2

The VDS is intended to provide design guidance for the Parish of Hurstbourne
Tarrant. The report recommends its adoption as a SPD, subject to the
amendments set out in Annex 2 to the report, in light of the representations
received during formal consultation by the Council.

2

Background

2.1

VDS remain one of the tools which communities can use to help influence
planning proposals within their parish. In 1999, it was agreed that VDS would
be adopted by the Council as (what was then) Supplementary Planning
Guidance (SPG) in accordance with guidance to be set by the Council.

Page 145

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

2.2

A Guidance Note was approved in 2000 and subsequently updated in 2016,
following consultation with Parish councils and it was agreed to be used
together with the Countryside Commission (now Natural England) 1996
guidance document Village Design – making character count in new
development (CCP501) and the Local Plan.

2.3

The Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 replaced SPG with the
status of Supplementary Planning Document (SPD), although the VDS
previously adopted as SPG are ‘saved’. In order to give a VDS formal status
as a Council planning document it needs to be adopted as a SPD. Once
adopted the SPD forms a material consideration which will be considered
when determining future planning applications in the parish.

2.4

In order to achieve SPD status, in addition to extensive public consultation
undertaken locally within the parish community which included a Parish wide
questionnaire in December 2018 and two open meetings in March and
September 2019, the Council undertook formal public consultation on the draft
VDS document between 18 September and 30 October 2020.

3

Corporate Objectives and Priorities

3.1

The VDS will assist in protecting and enhancing the natural and built
environment of the Borough and enable the Parish Council and local
community to enhance their role and influence in planning decision making, in
line with the aims of the Corporate Plan 2019 – 2023. The VDS will help with
furthering its priorities of growing the potential of communities, people and the
local environment.

4

Consultations/Communications

4.1

Draft versions of the document were circulated with Officers of the Council
which resulted in suggested amendments to provide clarity for all users of the
document and to ensure the guidance would enable it to become a more
effective document as a material consideration when making decisions on
future applications in the parish.

4.2

A summary of the representations received during formal public consultation
undertaken by the Council is detailed in Annex 2 to the report. 4 parties made
representations and in total 10 comments were submitted. The majority of
comments sought clarity surrounding the potential impact of future
development on rights of way and the landscape within the parish.

4.3

A Statement of Consultation and SPD Matters (Annex 3 to the report), details
those consulted by the Council during formal public consultation and also the
extensive pre-submission consultation undertaken with the local community
by the Parish Council and the group leading the preparation of the VDS.

5

Options

5.1

The option is whether or not the VDS should be adopted as a SPD.

Page 146

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

5.2

Issues for consideration are whether the revised Hurstbourne Tarrant VDS
meets the requirements of the relevant regulations and guidance and is in a
form which is suitable for adoption as a SPD. This includes consideration of
the representations received during formal public consultation by the Council
and whether these warrant amendments to the draft VDS document being
made, and that adoption as a SPD be made subject to these being
undertaken (see Annex 2).

6

Option Appraisal

6.1

Adoption as a SPD is necessary in order for the VDS to have formal status as
a planning document part of the Council’s Local Development Framework, so
it can be given weight in decision making when considering planning
applications. It should lead to an enhanced quality of new development.

6.2

VDS preparation is non-statutory and undertaken by parishes, although if it is
to be given the status of a SPD, then it must be adopted by the Council,
having first undertaken local and formal public consultation as prescribed by
the regulations.

6.3

This assessment has been carried out in accordance with the Council’s VDS
Guidance Note. Comments and suggestions on the content of the VDS have
been provided by Officers during its preparation and amendments have been
incorporated into the final document. Officers have maintained regular contact
with those leading its preparation and the Parish Council. The Council was
kept informed of progress.

6.4

It is considered that the VDS is compatible with existing planning policy and
guidance on VDS preparation prescribed by Natural England and the Council.
Subject to the recommended amendments set out in Annex 2 to the report, in
response to the representations made during formal public consultation, and
further changes made for clarity and to ensure the document remains focused
on design; it is considered appropriate to adopt the VDS as a SPD. The VDS
preparation group have been given a copy of the representations received.

7

Risk Management

7.1

A risk management assessment has been completed in accordance with the
Council’s Risk Management Methodology and the existing risk controls in
place mean that no significant risks (Red or Amber) have been identified.

8

Resource Implications

8.1

None

9

Legal Implications

9.1

Once adopted, the VDS will form part of the Council’s Local Development
Framework. In order to achieve this status, the necessary regulations have
been complied with.

Page 147

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

10

Equality Issues

10.1

An EQIA screening has been completed in accordance with the Council’s
EQIA methodology and no potential for unlawful discrimination and/or low
level or minor negative impact have been identified, therefore a full EQIA has
not been carried out.

11

Other Issues

11.1

Community Safety - None

11.2

Environmental Health Issues - None

11.3

Sustainability and Addressing a Changing Climate – The VDS will support the
Council to encourage a higher standard of design of new development and
should have a positive effect on the environment.

11.4

Property Issues - None

11.5

Wards/Communities Affected – Bourne Valley Ward, Hurstbourne Tarrant
Parish

12

Conclusion and reasons for recommendation

12.1

It is considered that the requirements of the relevant regulations and guidance
have been met and that subject to the amendments (in response to the
representations made during formal public consultation) set out in Annex 2 to
the report, that the Hurstbourne Tarrant VDS should be adopted as a SPD to
provide design guidance for the Parish of Hurstbourne Tarrant.

Background Papers (Local Government Act 1972 Section 100D)
1. Village Design Statements Guidance Note 2000, Test Valley Borough Council
2. Village Design – making character count in new development 1996 (CCP501),
Countryside Commission (now Natural England)
3. Test Valley Borough Revised Local Plan DPD 2011-2029
Confidentiality
It is considered that this report does not contain exempt information within the
meaning of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972, as amended, and can
be made public.
No of Annexes:

3

File Ref: pt8.2.1

(Portfolio: Planning) Councillor N.Adams-King
Officer:

Timothy Goodridge

Ext:

8612

Report to:

Cabinet

Date:

10/03/2021

Page 148

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

Page 149

ANNEX 1

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

ANNEX 1

Extensive community consultation, starting in September 2018 and concluding in December 2019 was used to
derive and validate this Village Design Statement.
It has been written by the Hurstbourne Tarrant, Ibthorpe and Upton Village Design Statement Working Group:
Andrew Russell (Chair), Andy Watson (Editor), Tim Brooks, Rupert Conder, Mims Edwards, Alex Luker, Ian
Morris, Colin Osmer and John Partridge.
The Working group thanks everyone who has contributed to the development of the Village Design Statement
and ensured the document reflects the views of the community.
The Working Group also thanks Hurstbourne Tarrant Parish Council and Test Valley Borough Council for their
guidance and support throughout the development process.

References
Documents referred to in the text are identified by an abbreviated title in italics and are listed here.
1.
2.
3.
4.

Test Valley Borough Revised Local Plan (2011 - 2029)
Test Valley Landscape Character Assessment 2018
Hurstbourne Tarrant & Ibthorpe Conservation Area Character Appraisal, February 2010
Vernham Dean and Upton Conservation Policy, March 1983

Page 150

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

1

ANNEX 1

About the Village Design StatementLearn about the purpose of this document and how it
relates to other planning

documents

2

The Views of Residents
Find out what the residents said and what is important to the community

3

The Parish Learn about the history of the parish and how it has shaped the settlement
areas and the – Then and Now
landscape

4

Landscape: Trees, River & Open SpacesFind out about the landscape types in the
parish, the river and its meadows and the
important views and open spaces

5

Planning GuidanceRead this guidance if you are planning a new development or
extension, making changes to an existing building anywhere in the Parish

6

Hurstbourne Tarrant: Read this section together with sections 4 and 5 to get specific
design guidance for this The Square, The Hill & Church Street
settlement area

7

Hurstbourne Tarrant:Read this section together with sections 4 and 5 to get specific
design guidance for this Upton Road & The Dene
settlement area

8

Hurstbourne Tarrant: Read this section together with sections 4 and 5 to see specific
design guidance for this Dean Rise, The Crescent & Dines Close

Page 151

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

ANNEX 1

settlement area

9

IbthorpeRead this section together with sections 4 and 5 to get specific design guidance
for this settlement area

10

UptonRead this section together with sections 4 and 5 to get specific design guidance for
this settlement area

11

Roads & TrafficUnderstand the issues and problems caused by modern-day traffic in a
rural village and what might be done

is harmonious with its surroundings and
can complement and enhance the villages
and their character into the future.

Introduction
The parish of Hurstbourne Tarrant is located at the
north-western end of the Test Valley and includes the
large hamlet of Ibthorpe and part of the smaller
hamlet of Upton. The population is around 860. The
parish lies wholly within the North Wessex Downs
Area of Outstanding
Natural Beauty and large parts of the village and
associated hamlets fall within designated Conservation
Areas.
Change is a constant feature in our lives and applies
equally to our villages and the countryside around
it. Over time there have been many influences that
have changed the shape and character of the parish
of Hurstbourne Tarrant. It is natural that change will
happen in the future and the Village Design
Statement seeks to support this evolution to the
benefit of the community.

The Village Design Statement describes
what makes the parish as a whole
distinctive to the residents, in terms of the
countryside and landscape setting, the
appearance of the buildings and their
immediate surroundings It describes how
they relate to each other to create a
particularly attractive and lively rural
community.

The Village Design Statement is addressed to:

Purpose
The purpose of the Village Design Statement is to
channel the change to ensure that all types of
development within our community can be guided
in a direction that best suits the community’s needs,

Page 152

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

ANNEX 1
Where comments are made on the shape, design or
material used in existing buildings this should not be
seen in any way as criticisms of present or previous
owners, but as guidance on what is suggested as
acceptable best practice in the future.
The Statement has been adopted by Test Valley
Borough Council as Supplementary Planning
Guidance and is for the use of all involved in the
development process. It is not to prevent change
taking place but provides guidance for any future
development by ensuring that any such proposals,
whether large scale or small, are in sympathy with,
and contribute to, the conservation and
enhancement of the local

•

Residents, householders and businesses

•

Planners, developers and builders

•

Designers, architects and highways and utility engineers

•

The Parish Council and Test Valley Borough Council

•

Statutory bodies, public authorities and utilities

Everyone who is responsible for, or can influence, the design of new buildings, extensions and
renovations or wants to make changes to the appearance of a building, its setting or its boundary
should read and apply the Village Design Statement.

Page 153

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

ANNEX 1
environment. Other factors which can contribute to
the local environment but are not regulated by the
planning process, such as maintenance and the
height of vegetation have also been considered.
Test Valley Borough Council (TVBC) has produced
additional planning guidance which must be read
alongside this Village Design Statement:

•

The Hurstbourne Tarrant and Ibthorpe
Conservation Area Character Appraisal
(February 2010)

•

The Vernham Dean and Upton
Conservation Policy (March 1983)

•

The Test Valley Landscape Character
Assessment 2018

These documents will be a material consideration
when assessing future development in the parish.
Other documents which should be consulted are:

•
•

Green Infrastructure Guidance (NE176), Natural England, 2009
Town and Country Planning Association
Biodiversity by Design, TCPA, 2004

The Village Design Statement is founded on community consultation and active feedback from villagers
through a questionnaire, photo submissions, open meetings and discussion and review. The consensus views
from the responses to the questionnaire, the messages from the photo submissions and feedback from the
open meetings are summarised below.

Residents' responses to the question “What are the key characteristics of the parish that must be
conserved and promoted?”
“Amazing ‘unspoilt’ scenery and setting: the way that the settlement areas merge into and are part
of it and the importance of the river and its meadows”
“A mixture of buildings forming generally harmonious and historically linked streetscenes with a
predominantly rural character”
“Friendly integrated rural community in a tranquil, peaceful environment – except for the A343 with good local facilities and amenities”

Page 154

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

ANNEX 1

Safeguard harmonious and historically linked
streetscenes

Maintain the scenery, natural environment
and setting

 Only support new buildings which maintain
or enhance the streetscene and character
of the settlement area



Preserve ‘unspoilt’ rural scenery, seen
throughout the parish



Preserve the meadows and green spaces
as rural open spaces, offering long vistas
and rustic ‘scenes’ whilst providing
essential space for biodiversity



Preserve characteristic views out to
wooded skylines by avoiding any new
hillside development



Actively maintain the current mix of
primarily indigenous trees and hedgerows



Preserve undeveloped footpaths,
bridleways and tracks for community
recreation



Maintain dark night skies



Encourage energy efficient designs and
technologies and the use of building
materials from sustainable sources

 Ensure extensions, conversions or
outbuildings do not detract from the
character of the original building or the
neighbourhood or degrade key views
 Encourage the choice of materials and
building details that harmonise with the
neighbourhood character help maintain the
rural character

Maintain and build the sense of community


Promote a balanced mix of
houses/dwellings in terms of size,
affordability and sustainability



Support necessary development that
enhances the sense of community,
avoiding ‘satellite’ developments and
‘isolated’ buildings



Promote measures that encourage
motorists to respect the rural
community they are passing through
and that reduce and minimise the
impact of traffic in the parish



Encourage boundary features that
promote visual integration and
sociability

99% agree that existing public open spaces
and river courses in the villages and hamlets
should be maintained.

Questionnaire Results
The questionnaire contained agree/disagree
questions and open invitations to say what was
most important to each resident under a wide
range of theme headings.
Those who responded confirmed the importance of
the rural setting and appreciated the role that
good, sympathetic design has in enhancing the
neighbourhood and the community. The responses
to the agree/disagree questions are summarised
below.

99% agree that the character of the settlement
areas is predominantly rural.

Page 155

97% agree that creeping urbanisation which
makes villages look like towns and detracts
from the rural character of the parish should
be discouraged.
96% agree that notable or important public
views into, out of and through the villages and
hamlets should be preserved.
96% agree development should reflect the
essential character of the locality, established
by the size, scale, density and design of the
surrounding buildings.

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

ANNEX 1
96% agree that hedges of native species should be
preserved, and new planting with typical species
encouraged.

82% agree that the incorporation of native trees
and shrubs into existing and new development is
desirable; non-native trees should be discouraged.

94% agree that highways, paths, signage and street
furniture should suit the local context.

78% agree that sensitive redevelopment of
redundant farm buildings for mixed commercial or
residential use should be encouraged whilst
preserving traditional materials.

92% agree any new development should explicitly
address the calming of traffic and improvement of
safety for cyclists and pedestrians.

70% agree that opportunities should be taken to resite overhead cables underground.

91% agree that fences, gates and walls should be
compatible in style with the locality and should
avoid breaking up characteristic street views.
91% agree that older buildings should be
maintained using original or sympathetic materials
and architectural details, retaining existing features
whenever possible.
88% agree that dark night skies are a positive
feature of the parish.

69% agree that modern innovative design which is
compatible with local character and is in harmony
with adjoining properties should be allowed.
66% agree that domestic utilities and appliances
(e.g. aerials, satellite dishes, dustbins, oil tanks and
solar panels) should be kept out of view from the
road.
63% agree that open front gardens provide a
valuable contribution to the character of the
settlement areas and should be encouraged.

88% agree that planting associated with new
buildings should encourage wildlife and
biodiversity.

The River Swift in full flow

87% agree that development should utilise materials to
reflect traditional colour and texture.
86% agree that new or replacement doors, porches and
windows should complement the style and design of the
building.
83% agree that housing of varying sizes and costs is
needed to ensure a wide range of household sizes,
incomes and ages can live in the parish.
83% agree that any new house should have enough offroad parking spaces (at least two) to meet the needs of
the occupants.

Page 156

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

ANNEX 1
Early History
The landscape has been
strongly influenced by human
activity certainly from the Iron
Age, as evidenced by
earthworks in Blagden Copse
(Pill Heath). Many Roman
coins and other items have
been found in the parish. In
Anglo-Saxon times what
became the Chute Forest in
the 14th century extended as
far as the high ground on
either side of the valley.
Remnants of it are seen as
Doles Wood and Blagden
Copse.

In 1547 Edward VI granted it, together with
other properties to William Paulet Lord St.
John, afterwards first Marquess of Winchester,
and his heirs for the maintenance of the
fortifications and a garrison of nine men at
Netley Castle. The manor continued in the
possession of successive Marquesses of
Winchester until in the 17th century its
ownership passed into other hands.

By the time of the Domesday Survey the Esseborne
or Hurstbourne Manor, as it was alternatively called
at this time, was a Royal Manor part of the ancient
estate, and as such was not assessed. From 1177,
Hurstbourne Manor was granted to various Knights
by the
Crown before Henry III finally granted it to Tarrant
Nunnery in Dorset in 1266. The Manor remained in
the hands of the abbess and convent until the
dissolution when it again became crown property.

Hurstbourne Tarrant
The early history of the village of Hurstbourne
Tarrant is not so well documented but the church
has late 12th century elements so it may be inferred
that there was a well-established settlement by
that time. The earliest surviving building is
Shepherds Peace, on Church Street, which dates
from the 15th century.
Most of the historic buildings date from the late
18th to 19th century when the village was
benefitting economically from the major
improvements in road transport in the turnpike era.
Being midway between the market towns of
Andover and Newbury and at the foot of
Hurstbourne Hill made it a natural staging post.

The George and Dragon is strategically situated on
the crossroads has remained an inn to the present
day while several other old public houses are now
private dwellings.

Page 157

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

ANNEX 1
The Conservation Area Character Assessment notes that
“what is particularly important about the manner in
which both the villages of Hurstbourne Tarrant and
Ibthorpe have developed into the 21st century is that the
historic plot boundaries have generally been retained
and often reinforced.”

being included in the grant of Hurstbourne to
John de Lyons in 1198, while the other part
was granted with Vernhams Dean to Henry de
Bernevall by Henry II. This division lives on in
the split of the hamlet between the parishes
of Hurstbourne Tarrant and Vernham Dean

The crossroads also attracted the largest of several
village shops and after the arrival of the internal
combustion engine, one became the local filling station.

Ibthorpe
The hamlet of Ibthorpe is named from the Old
English Ibbaprop, meaning ‘Ibba’s secondary
settlement’. Ibthorpe (in early maps and some
documents known as “Ibthrope”) is not specifically
mentioned at the time of the Domesday Survey, but
it appears that the hamlet has always considered
itself independent from the Manor of Hurstbourne.

In the 17th century, the inhabitants of Ibthorpe
asserted that they were ‘freeholders’ and that all
the land of the village was freehold, even taking
Common Land and divided it amongst themselves.
Depositions of witnesses were taken at Basingstoke
in April 1610, most of them agreeing that when the
sheep of the farmers of Hurstbourne Tarrant fed
upon the downs of Ibthorpe they were chased away
by the tenants and inhabitants of Ibthorpe and vice
versa, and that there were boundary-marks
between the estates of the manor and the hamlet.

retained some trace of its old independence, the
owners and occupiers of the hamlet having sole
right to take for their own use, but not for sale,
everything growing on Ibthorpe Common, which
covered an area of 59 acres.
In more recent times
Ibthorpe House (as distinct
from the larger Ibthorpe
Manor Farm) gained fame
for hosting frequent visits
from Jane Austen following
the wedding of her brother
James to Mary Lloyd.
The house has other
literary associations, notably with the Bloomsbury
set. The artist, Dora Carrington lived there before
the First
World War. Other writers associated with the
Bloomsbury set, notably Lytton Strachey, Vita
Sackville West and Virginia Woolf visited nearby in
Hurstbourne Tarrant.

In 1669, ‘Ibthorpe’ is documented as belonging to
Boswell and Ludlow, who had been granted the
manor by Charles II. Ibthorpe however still

Upton
The tithing of Upton formed part of the possessions
of Edith, the queen of Edward the Confessor, and
on her death at Winchester in 1075 passed to King
William I, by whom it was held at the time of the
Domesday Survey.
It remained with the Crown for a considerable
period, but was finally split into two portions, one

Page 158

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

ANNEX 1

Page 159

ANNEX 1

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

Page 160

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

ANNEX 1

The character of the villages is intimately bound
to the distinctive and
beautiful countryside which lies in the
North Wessex Downs Area of Outstanding
Natural Beauty (AONB). Almost all the buildings
are clustered in the valley bottom, either along
the main winterbourne valley or the subsidiary
Netherton valley. The few exceptions are well
screened by indigenous trees and hedges.
Approaching from the high ground the

Looking
down the valley from Upton, not a building in sight

impression is of a predominantly pristine spread
of hedged fields and multiple copses, largely
unchanged since the time of William Cobbett. He
referred to the village in his book ‘Rural Rides’ and
described the view from the top of Hurstbourne
Hill as the finest in southern England.

Landscape Characteristics
The parish contains three principal landscape forms
as identified in the Landscape Character
Assessment. Natural England's "National Character
Area profile 130. Hampshire Downs" provides a
wider landscape context.
To the north of the River Swift, a shallow narrow
winterbourne valley: a mix of large tracts of open
arable fields, predominantly found on the ridges of
clay and flint, for example to the west of Lower
Doiley Farm. This contrasts with the smaller pasture
fields associated with settlements, as seen within
the valley, leading up from The Dene.

Cobbett was not alone in his appreciation.
Hurstbourne Tarrant is described by Pevsner in
‘Buildings of England: Hampshire and the Isle of
Wight’ as “one of the most picturesque villages in
Hampshire”.

To the south of the valley: a more dramatic rising
landform interspersed with dry valleys, combes and
ridges. There are steep long sinuous scarps which
are mainly wooded, as at Windmill Hill Down.
Strong patterns of medium to small-sized fields with
thick hedgerows across the landform.
Predominantly arable with smaller fields of pasture
associated with farmsteads.
And to the south of this: the enclosed clay plateau
farmland is characterised by large tracts of

Page 161

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

ANNEX 1
woodland and plantation, with both large open arable
fields, located predominantly on the softer ridges of clay
and flint, and well hedged arable fields with some
pasture.

The meadows flanking the Swift have
traditionally been used only for grazing due to

The Landscape Character Assessment identifies these key
characteristics of the countryside around Hurstbourne
Tarrant, Ibthorpe and Upton:
•

A rural landscape with remote valleys and ridges,
creating a landscape with areas of high levels of
tranquillity

•

The sweeping views up the valley and valley sides
including to undeveloped, tree lined and wooded
horizons which often form a backdrop

•

Meadows by Bridge Cottage

A narrow river valley, enclosed by the adjacent
winding steeper slopes of the exposed Middle Chalk,
creating a small scale, intimate landscape

The

the high-water table for much of the year and the
result is a broad ribbon of green that enables
striking views through the villages and out to the
tree fringed higher ground.
These meadows also form an important separation

The Landscape Character Assessment sets out these guidelines for development and land use:
“Limit development in order to conserve the sense of remoteness and tranquillity, and the
settlement form”
“Retain the separate identities of the villages of Hurstbourne Tarrant and Ibthorpe”
“Protect the areas away from settlement from further development”
“Avoid further development up onto valley sides out of the villages which will intrude into the
skyline and degrade the rural character and setting of these settlements”
“Maintain the existing relationship of open spaces adjacent to the River Swift throughout the
settlements with their simple design and landscape features”
•

The winding course of the River Swift
winterbourne through open pasture, sometimes
flanked by riverside vegetation and trees, is a
unifying feature of the area

boundary treatments and garden trees within
the settlements blend with, and provide an
important contribution to, the wider landscape
character

•

The network of rural single-track lanes often bound
by hedgerows with mature hedgerow trees

•

Settlements that largely lie in the base of the
valley at river crossing points and have a strong
vernacular character. Hedge

The villages are largely hidden in views from
the wider area due to their valley bottom
location

River and Its Meadows
The River Swift, a winterbourne which usually only
flows during the winter months, is a central feature
of Hurstbourne Tarrant and Ibthorpe. Further
upstream, near its source at Upton, it can
inconvenience residents when, from time to time it
causes localised flooding.

•

A vulnerability to visual intrusion due to the
openness of landscape

•
between Hurstbourne Tarrant and Ibthorpe. Any
development on these meadows would not be
supported.

Page 162

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

ANNEX 1
which the public consultation highlighted as an
essential part of the setting and rural
character.
Public consultation highlighted the following
views, shown on the map, into the settlement
areas as particularly important:
A. From Windmill Lane up the valley towards
Upton
The River Swift in winter

Views and Open Spaces

B.

From Windmill Lane across to Ibthorpe

C.

Upton Road and Church Street from Dolomans
Lane, with the Bourne Valley stretching into the

Residents were asked “What is special and what do you value about where you live?”
“Magnificent sweeping views and open spaces on all sides of the valleys”
“The ability to access these open spaces by way of lanes and public footpaths”
“The combination of a gently rolling landscape and the trees and hedge lined fields”
“Above all the near absence of jarring buildings”

distance

The Landscape Character Assessment describes
“sweeping views up the valley and valley sides
including to undeveloped, tree lined and wooded
horizons which often form a backdrop”.

D. From behind Hill House towards Upton
Road/Ibthorpe

Open spaces are inseparable from the enjoyment of
views. They both form part of the view and provide
channels that bring the countryside into the
settlements.
The “Views and Open Spaces” map shows, in green,
all the open spaces around the settlement area

E.

Hurstbourne Tarrant church and school from the
top of Hurstbourne Hill – “Cobbett’s view”

F.

Church Street: from the footpath running from the
King George V Playing Field up into Doles
Wood

G. Lower Farm and Church from the Test Way
H. Panorama looking towards Hurstbourne Hill

Page 163

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

ANNEX 1
I.

The Village Design Statement recognises that
design diversity is inherent in both older and
newer parts of the parish. This reflects
development and change over time. It is
futurelooking and is not to be considered as

The north-eastern end of the Dene valley

The “Views and Open Spaces” map also shows important
views out of the settlement areas. These views are
described in the settlement area sections.

Introduction
TVBC has published three supplementary planning documents which must be used in conjunction
with this Village Design Statement
•

The Hurstbourne Tarrant and Ibthorpe Conservation Area Character Appraisal

•

The Vernham Dean and Upton Conservation Policy

•

The Test Valley Landscape Character Assessment 2018
The guidance in this section applies to the whole of
the parish. It is founded on the residents’ views as
expressed in responses to the questionnaire and
tested and corroborated through open meetings
and online dialogues.
References are to the Local Plan, e.g. [E1 (7.5), E2
(7.18, 7.19)].
Additional more specific guidance is provided in
subsequent sections for three distinct character
areas of Hurstbourne Tarrant, and for Ibthorpe and
Upton. The guidance in these sections is aimed to
reflect and maintain these individual settlement
area characteristics.

criticism of existing design in the Parish.
New development whether closely reflecting the
vernacular or of a more contemporary style should
first and foremost enhance the overall appearance
of the parish
Contemporary design can be visually stimulating but
by its nature is often also controversial. As with any
building, which individually can have a long-lasting
impact on the character of a neighbourhood, its
influence should be carefully considered.
The following general guidance reflects the design
diversity in all of the settlement areas and how this
may best be sustained and enhanced by way of
sympathetic design.
demonstrate how they are being maintained.
Particular attention should be given to views
from the higher ground surrounding the
settlements and to open views up and down
the ribbon of meadows bordering the river.
[E1 (7.5, 7.10), E2 (7.18)]

Setting and Layout
SL1
Multiple dwelling development
anywhere in the parish could have a detrimental
impact on the critical open spaces and views which
are most valued by residents.
Such developments would not be supported.
[E1 (7.5), E2 (7.18, 7.19)]
SL2
Any new development should be in
harmony with, and aim to enhance, its
neighbourhood. Density, scale (i.e. height,
footprint, volume and shape of buildings), style,
boundary delineation and planting are critical.
Particular attention should be given to ridge lines,
roof pitch, gable treatment, fenestration and
porches, following the examples given in this
document. [E1 (7.4-7.6, 7.10-7.14]
SL3
The key views identified in the
Conservation Area Character Assessment, the
Conservation Policy and this document should be
maintained. The planning application for any new
building, should explicitly refer to these views and

SL4
The open areas identified in the
Conservation Area Character Assessment, the
Conservation Policy and this document should be
respected and preserved. Some are linked to
significant views and others to community values.
[E1 (7.5), E2 (7.18), E6 (7.43)]
SL5
Expansion of the settlement areas up the
hillsides could have a major negative impact on the
appearance of this part of the AONB, the rural
character of the villages, and of the residents’
enjoyment of their surroundings (section 5, Views
and Open Spaces). Such expansion is not supported.
[E2 (7.18, 7.20), E6
(7.43)]

Page 164

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

ANNEX 1
Local Vernacular – Fitting-in at Street Level
LV1
The height of a building and its overall
mass are two of the most important factors in
determining what impact the building will have on
its immediate surroundings. This includes how it is
perceived from the street and by the neighbours,
and how successfully it fits with the character of the
neighbourhood. All planning applications should
explicitly address these key aspects. [E1 (7.10,
7.12)]
LV2
Consideration should be given to
whether providing a full or part hipped roof would
help a new building to fit in with its neighbours.
This particularly applies to areas with a number of
thatched cottage style buildings. [E1 (7.10, 7.13)]
LV3
The way that individual buildings are
positioned in relation to each other is an essential
feature of village character. For example, buildings
set equidistant from the road are a characteristic of
urban streets and are not a traditional feature of
our rural villages. Also, the space between buildings
is as important as the buildings themselves in
defining character. [E1 (7.5)]
LV4
New houses should reflect and
harmonise with existing buildings. Particular care
should be taken when employing pastiche features
so as to ensure that they are fully in keeping with
the local vernacular, and do not detract from the
visual unity of the area.
[E1 (7.13, 7.14)]

Wagtail Cottage - sympathetic recent infill

quality. Innovative contemporary design should
draw on the qualities of landscape, historic
features and buildings to reinforce local
distinctiveness. The promoter/designer would be
expected to make a convincing case in the planning
application. The judgement of neighbourhood
residents should be a key input at the planning
stage. [E1 (7.13, 7.14)]
LV6
Extensions and alterations should be
subsidiary to the original building and not
significantly detract from its symmetry and
character. [E1 (7.12)]
LV7
Extensions that are consistent in design
with the original building and use the same
materials are supported, provided they satisfy all
other guidelines [E1 (7.13)]
LV8
Where the conversion of farm buildings
for commercial or residential use satisfies Local
Plan Policy LE16, such conversion should be carried
out so as to retain the essential structural and
visual character of the building and its history and
should, together with any extension, comply with all
other aspects of these guidelines. [E1 (7.12, 7.13)]
LV9
Any new development or redevelopment
should comply with the parking spaces standards
contained in the Local Plan and be provided within
the curtilage of the site. [T2 (9.13, 9.14)]

Recent infill development in Ibthorpe

LV5
Designs for all new development in the
parish should be of the highest architectural

LV10 Outbuildings should always be subsidiary
in scale to the parent building and should not
detract from a key view. [E1 (7.10)]

Walls and Roofs
WR1 Garages and outbuildings should have
pitched roofs and be built of materials that are
in keeping with their surroundings. [E1 (7.10,
7.3)]

Page 165

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

ANNEX 1
WR2
Bricks, roof slates or tiles and other
key materials should reflect the colour and
texture of those of the environs as a whole.
Yellow or buff bricks, although prevalent in the
more recent single storey dwellings, should not be
closely associated with red bricks and will not be
supported in a new building. The Michelmersh
Hampshire Stock range is a good example of local
bricks that blend well. [E1 (7.6, 7.7, 7.13)]

the grounds that it is an effectively irreversible
loss of one of the most distinctive characteristics
of the parish. [E1 (7.3)]
WR6 Clay tile hanging wall cladding is not
typical of the area and should be avoided on any
new build or extension. Replacement of 20th
century tile hanging with weatherboarding can be
successful in the right context but timber cladding
should normally be confined to outbuildings. [E1
(7.6, 7.7, 7.13)]
WR7 White bargeboards are not a feature of
the older buildings (most roofs are hipped and
those with gable ends have either brick detailing or
simple barn style finishes) and can be very visually
intrusive. They should be avoided on any new build.
[E1 (7.13)]
WR8
On historic buildings rainwater guttering
and downpipes should normally be black or
possibly grey, whether on brick or white painted
buildings. [E1 (7.13)]

th

19 Century brick and tile cottages, Hurstbourne Tarrant

WR3
Rendered walls are characteristically
painted white and this should remain the norm.
Replication of render finish should be discouraged
unless it can be demonstrated that it does not
adversely affect the overall visual balance between
white and brick facades. [E1 (7.6, 7.7, 7.13)]
WR4 The painting of brick should be discouraged
in order to preserve the

Windows
WN1
It is vital to pay the utmost attention to
the window openings. Window placement, and
relative proportions, are often the principal
influences over whether the whole building looks
well designed and fits in with its neighbours. [E1
(7.13, 7.14)]
WN2
Window frames can make or break the
overall appearance. For example, uPVC frames are
often out of keeping with a building that has been
designed to look right with wood or metal frames. If
replacing, or replicating, timber framed windows an
alternative such as powder coated aluminium may
be more in keeping. Modern characteristic visual
dominance of natural brick. Where painting can be
justified it should only be white, off-white or a light
cream. [E1 (7.6)]

WR9 The use of brick and flint in the form and
pattern that is characteristic of the area should be
encouraged. Older brick buildings often only use
flint panels in the rear and end elevations. Brick and
flint should be of high quality to complement
existing buildings. If precast flint faced blocks are
used they should use local materials and joints
between blocks should not be visible. [E1 (7.5,
7.13)]

long-life materials such as resin impregnated wood
can be indistinguishable from natural wood when
painted. Energy efficient double glazing is, in
principle, supported in all types of building,
including those that are listed of special interest.
[E1, (7.13)]
WN3 Dormer windows are not a common
feature in the parish. However, they serve a
purpose by enabling the ridge line to be kept at an
acceptable level with a suitable pitch while
providing a second storey and meeting standard
room heights. They should be well proportioned in
relation to the roof area. Pitched or ‘eyebrow’ styles
best reflect the parish character. [E1 (7.13)]

WR5
Painting of brick and flint details has occurred
in the past but this should be strongly discouraged on

Page 166

WN4
There are a few examples of
leaded panes but they are not characteristic
of the area and should only be used where
necessary for compatibility. Glazing bars can

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

ANNEX 1
be used to achieve appropriate pane sizes. [E1
(7.13)]

WN5 The colour of window frames should
harmonise with those in the neighbourhood.
White frames predominate in the parish and this
should be the default colour. [E1 (7.13)]]

Boundaries and Curtilages
BC1
Fences, gates and walls should be
compatible in style with the rural setting and
should avoid breaking up characteristic street
views. Visible fences should preferably be of postand-rail or low picket type, rather than be panelled
or close-boarded. Any new walls should be in
keeping with those in the immediate vicinity in
terms of height and materials. [E1 (7.13), E2 (7.18]
BC2
Hedges of native species should be
preserved, and new planting encouraged. As a
general aim, front boundary hedges should not be
let grow higher than about 2m. A height of up to
1.4m is preferred because this is a practical height
that can be trimmed without a stepladder and
which also promotes community integration. It is
the responsibility of the property owner to ensure
that hedges are properly maintained. [E2 (7.18,
7.25)]

Five bar gate and gravel drive, Hurstbourne Tarrant

keeping with the neighbourhood and not that of an
urban environment, e.g. five bar gate and not metal
or closed board. [E1 (7.13)]

BC3
Ungated open, driveways are preferred.
If a gate is required for safety or security, it should
be no taller than necessary and be in

BC4
Driveways and off-street parking areas
should preferably be gravel (with consideration
given to disabled access and with a suitable barrier
to prevent migration onto a highway) or, outside
the conservation areas, a mellow coloured porous
block paving. Tarmac or similar non-porous
surface should be avoided. [E1 (7.13)]
(7.43)]

Utilities and Appliances
UA1
Every reasonable effort should be
made to site domestic utilities and appliances (e.g.
aerials, satellite dishes, dustbins, oil tanks and solar
panels) so that they make minimal visual impact
when viewed from roads and public spaces. [E1
(7.13)]
UA2
It is preferred that every opportunity
should be taken to route services underground.
[E2 (7.18)]

Flora and Fauna
FF1
Planting of Cupressus species as
hedges, screening or landscape trees should be
discouraged. [E2 (7.25)]
FF2
New buildings and extensions should
whenever possible incorporate features that
encourage wildlife, such as ‘swift bricks’. [E5

Bluebells above Hurstbourne Tarrant

FF3
The impact of development on wildlife
sites should be minimised. The Hampshire
Biodiversity Information Centre should be
consulted to establish the location of wildlife sites.
[E5 (7.33, 7.34)]

Page 167

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

ANNEX 1

Listed Building Important
Building Building Curtilage
Conservation Area Boundary
Conservation Area Character
Appraisal Important Open Spaces

Page 168

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

ANNEX 1
Character Area
The village of Hurstbourne
Tarrant nestles in the valley
bottom amongst mature trees.
Views along the valley and out
from the village are intrinsic to
what makes the village so
distinctive and special. They are
almost entirely linked to the
open river valley meadows,
which are clearly visible in the
aerial photo.
Hurstbourne Tarrant first
Church Street in the foreground leading up to The Square and The Hill to the left
developed along the east-west
of cottages now known as The Dene, and also
valley road, and around the staggered crosswestwards along the Upton Road towards
roads with the Andover to Newbury road:
the hamlet of Ibthorpe.
now the A343.
Church Street, the Square, the Hill and the Upton
Road fall within the Conservation Area.

The settlement grew around the cross-roads,
known locally as “The Square”, and the western
end of Church Street encouraged by stagecoach
and other traffic using the main road.

Property boundaries adjacent to the road are in
the main relatively low walls or hedges. Hedges
are almost entirely of beech, yew or hawthorn and
there is a notably absence of Cupressus in any
form.

This area has the highest density of buildings,
several of which were originally inns. St Peter’s
Church, the old vicarage (now Hurstbourne
House) and the school together with Parsonage
Farm formed the hub of a second cluster, with a
small but significant gap separating these two.

There is notably an almost total absence of
urbanising features such as street lighting,
tarmac driveways, imposing gates and close
panelled fencing. There are also few street signs
and additional street furniture or signage should
be discouraged.

Starting in the 19th century, but accelerating after
1945, development spread northwards up the
Newbury road towards an earlier outlying cluster

Views and Open Spaces
The setting and the spectacular views down into
the valley from the higher surrounding land are of
inestimable current and historic value and
minimising the impact of any development,
whether extensions or new build on these views
should be the highest priority. A single misplaced
development can spoil a view for generations to
come.
The Conservation Area Character Appraisal identifies
over thirty important views around Hurstbourne Tarrant
which are identified on the map. Public consultation
strongly supported conserving and retaining all of
these views.

Page 169

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

ANNEX 1
The “Views and Open Spaces” map shows the location
of the important views: red arrows for the publicly
identified views and black arrows for the views defined

The Conservation Area enforces certain constraints
on development but there are limitations; even a
relatively small outbuilding illplaced can block or

the valley
The
from
the from
bridgeopposite
by Rookery
UpSquare
the Swift
valley
the George Looking
Acrossdown
the Swift
Valleyfrom
fromopposite
oppositeSwift
House
(V1)House, Church Street(V2)
Farm
(V5) Inn (V6)
& Dragon
Dalton

in the Conservation Area Character Appraisal. Important
open spaces are show in green.
Public consultation also highlighted the following
six views as particularly important:
V1. Looking down the valley from opposite Swift
House
V2.

Across the Swift Valley from opposite Dalton
House, Church Street

V3.

Glimpsed view through the gap in Church
Street by Church Farm House, known locally
as “Ponting’s Yard”

V4.

Across the Swift valley to the Church and
Parsonage Farm from opposite Hill House

V5.

The Square from the bridge by Rookery Farm

Across theview
Swift
valley to
the Church and
Glimpsed
through
“Ponting’s
Parsonage
Farm
(V4)(V3)
Yard”,
Church
Street

seriously detract from a key view.
Views can also be impacted by a change of land use
or management. This is yet harder to influence.
Hedges can be allowed to grow taller and the
meadows that historically have owed their
characteristic appearance through being managed
for grazing can be gradually absorbed into back
gardens.

V6.

Up the Swift valley from opposite the
George & Dragon Inn
Potential threats to these views include:
• Infilling to the field between Dalton House and
Parsonage Farm would block a key view of the
iconic farm buildings with the church behind as
seen from the Test Way footpath
• Development in the gap between Shepherds
Peace and Murrle Cottage which would not
only block a special view from the road across
the valley to the hills beyond but fundamentally
alter the character of this

Street scene – The Square
portion of Church Street. Both fields are within the
conservation area and the views are identified in the
Character Appraisal as important
• Interruption of the open vistas up and down the river
valley, particularly as seen from the main roads as
you enter and leave the village
• Development of “Ponting’s Yard” in Church Street

Page 170

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

ANNEX 1
A limitation of the Conservation Area is that it
principally addresses buildings whereas the character of
a settlement is as much dependent on its surroundings
as on its street scenes, much of which lie outside the
current Conservation Area.

Although the window panes vary in size and
number they share broadly the same vertical
aspect ratio. There is thus a harmony within
the diversity of the shape of windows and their
relationship to the building’s elevation.

Most buildings date from the 18th and 19th
centuries but with a few timber-framed cottages of
older age. The Conservation Area Character

This pattern is repeated in the other buildings round
The Square, including the thatched Home Farm
Cottage.

This part of the village is diverse in terms of the style and detailing of the buildings. However, the buildings
successfully blend into a harmonious whole.

The George and Dragon on The Square

Four Winds

Bourne House

Appraisal should be referred to supplement the
descriptions in this section.

The Square also
demonstrates how
important details are
in completing an
attractive scene, for
example the porches
on Home Farm

The George & Dragon and Bourne House have
distinctly different window designs but both are
harmonious and share important elements. The
windows are, in the main, in proportion to the
façade and well balanced

Cottages and the bay windows of Four Winds.

Home farm Cottage

Street scene – Church Street
Most houses in Church Street front onto the road
and are largely 18th or 19th century, albeit with some
of an earlier date. Brick walls under slate or clay tiles
predominate with some examples of flint panels and
some thatch.
Windows are generally sash with proportions
following the style of The Square. There are no
recent buildings except for the corrugated iron farm
sheds known locally as “Ponting’s Yard”. Other than
the latter, all buildings are either listed or rated as of
special interest.
Again, it is the harmonious variety of buildings and
their relationships, reflecting a mixed commercial
and farming heritage that is distinctive. Notably:
• The relationship of buildings to the road that varies
from close up to well set back

After the 15th century timber-framed Shepherd’s
Peace, the buildings become more scattered, with
big vistas across the river valley. This pattern
reflects the historical land ownership by three
farms: Medlands Farm, Parsonage Farm and Lower
Farm.
This end of Church Street is characterised by a
cluster of buildings comprising Parsonage farm, four
associated cottages, the Church and the Primary
School. The farm buildings are grand in scale and
the dark stained weatherboard, over oak frames,
under thatch set a defining design example for
outbuildings in general to follow. The farmhouse is
a splendid example of a brick and flint under clay tile
of its time. The original brick and flint schoolhouse
opposite blends in well with church and farm.

Page 171

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

ANNEX 1

Shepherds Peace,
dating from 15th century

Church Street, mix of building
styles and relationships

Church Street, looking towards The Square

Parsonage Farm barns

• The range of styles covers classic Georgian houses to
Victorian terraces and earlier thatched cottages
• Old farmhouses and inns that are now private dwellings
• No back-garden development and no infill

Other than some well-designed rear extensions the
layout and appearance has been largely unaltered
for over 150 years.
Behind the school is the King George V Playing Field
which is held under Fields in Trust provisions and is
therefore protected against development.

The recently built Community Centre is an example
of a new-build whose massing, ridge height and
materials have been designed to blend into the
landscape and setting. The potential discordance
of the picture windows has been mitigated by
setting them back behind a veranda.

Design Guidance – read with Planning Guidance (Section 5)
“What do you like about the location in which you live
that you want to retain?”

Village Design Statement Questionnaire
The Square, The Hill and Church Street all lie within
a designated conservation area. Out of about forty
houses, thirty are listed and six assessed as being
of special interest. The Conservation Area

• The harmonious mix of old buildings,
• The views through, in and out the villages
• The setting within a beautiful unspoilt landscape

Page 172

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

ANNEX 1
Character Appraisal provides specific information
regarding design, views and open spaces which
apply to this area of parish.

Local Plan
SHC.3 The character of Church Street, The Square
and The Hill is in a large part due to the balanced
and harmonious mixture of colours and textures. It
is the combination of brick and flint, render and plain
exposed brick in particular that is distinctive. A
similar principle applies to roofing material. Changes
to the balance between these elements can have a
profound

Two cottages in Church Street
Different wall materials harmonise

The following design statements emphasise the
importance of extensions or new build blending in
with the predominant brick and flint, and other
traditional materials and details in this part of
Hurstbourne Tarrant.
Wagtail Cottage - sympathetic recent infill

Development
The Conservation Area Character Appraisal
recognises that “… there may be pressure to
redevelop” the area known locally as “Ponting’s
Yard”. Out of character houses on this space, could
destroy the integrity of the street scene and
adversely affected the open glimpses down to the
river meadows.
SHC.1 It is imperative that any development of this
site is sympathetic in terms of scale, spacing and
materials and has due regard for the effect on
views.
Apart from the infill possibilities, the special quality of
the street scene, with its mixture of styles and
materials can be impacted by inappropriate
extensions or ancillary buildings and changes in
decoration, ranging from paint colour to the addition
of a porch.

effect on the appearance of the street. Any new
buildings should take account of and respect this
balance.
A good example of successful integration is the
single recent building (end of 20th century), Wagtail
Cottage, which replaced an old barn and occupies a
key position as you enter the village. The hipped
thatch roof, dormer windows and cream painted
cob walls blend with adjacent Home Farm
Cottages, although having a higher ridge line and a
generally greater mass.
Its position set back from the main road does not
mask other buildings (illustrating the importance of
the position of a house in relation to others). The
brick and flint boundary wall also plays an
important part in promoting integration.

Rainwater fittings
SHC.4 Rainwater fittings frame a building and can
change its character. Most common in this area is
black guttering and downpipes, irrespective of
wall material and colouring, and this should be
respected.

SHC.2 Some brick and flint buildings have been
painted white or cream. This may lighten a
perceived sombreness of the grey knapped flint but
it can mask the craftsmanship and cause a dilution
of a characteristic feature of the area. It cannot
easily be undone and should only be done for
compelling reasons.

Porches
SHC.5 The addition of even a small porch or portico
can also have a marked effect on the SHC.7 Wellkept hedges can frame an attractive building
while providing privacy, while an open aspect
with appropriate planting can enhance the rural
village look and feel.

New buildings
Much of the identity of an area is derived from a
combination of distinctive local building types,
materials, layouts, the relationship between
buildings and making use of natural features.

Page 173

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

ANNEX 1
Windows
Where a house’s windows are placed, and their
relative proportions, are one of the principal
influences over whether the whole building looks
well designed and fits in with its neighbours. There
is considerable diversity of window design in this
part of the village but there are certain features that
predominate and characterise the street scene:

•

•
•

window openings are almost always taller
than they are wide and panes follow the
same ratio
sash windows are common but some cottages
have casements
a modern horizontal pane or picture window
would not fit in well

SHC.8 Particular attention should be paid to
maintaining the street scene character with regard
to windows.
SHC.9 White painted wooden window frames with
relatively fine window bars, are the norm.

Well-kept hedge that provides privacy
while framing the attractive building

Open aspect with appropriate planting
enhances the rural village look and feel

street appearance, as much as on the building itself.
Porches facing the road should preferably be simple
unenclosed structures that are in keeping with the
building and the street as a whole.

Page 174

Gravel driveway open gateway contribute
to a rural look and feel

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

ANNEX 1
SHC.10 The ‘heaviness’ of some types of uPVC
frames would be out of keeping. When replacing,
or replicating, timber framed windows, modern
long-life materials such as resin impregnated

wood (indistinguishable from natural wood when
painted) should be considered. Powder coated
aluminium may also be more in keeping.

characteristics.

Eaves
SHC.12 The treatment of eaves, particularly at
gable ends, has a marked effect on the overall
appearance of a building and the way that it
harmonises within a street scene. Brick detailing as
illustrated is in character. Barge boards, where they
occur, tend to be relatively narrow and painted or
treated in a dark colour. This feature should be
retained and replicated

in any new building or extension. White painted
barge boards should be avoided. SHC.13 Soffit
details vary and are less obvious but should as a
rule be painted to conform to the prevailing style.

Preserving dark night skies
SHC.14 The absence of streetlights is an
important contribution to the preservation of
highly valued dark night skies. Street lighting in
this area would not be supported.
SHC.15 Unshielded exterior lights on buildings can
cause unwanted light pollution and be disruptive to
wildlife. Exterior lights should be

designed and directed to minimise light spill and
be controlled by proximity sensors and timers.

Page 175

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

ANNEX 1
Planning Guidance – Cross Reference
The guidance in Section 5 applies to the whole of the parish and must be applied with the specific guidance in
this section. The table identifies especially relevant planning guidance in Section 5 and also provides a cross
reference between the general and the specific guidance.

Planning Guidance – Section 5

Hurstbourne Tarrant:
The Square, The Hill & Church Street

Preservation of Views

Views and Open Spaces: V1, V2, V3, V4, V5, V6

•

SL1, SL3, SL5

Preservation of Open Areas
•

SL1, SL4

Maintaining Visual Harmony
•

SL2, LV1, LV2, LV3, LV4, LV5, LV6, LV7

Development: SHC.1, SHC.2, New buildings: SHC.3,
Porches: SHC.5, Flintwork: SHC.11, Preserving dark
night skies: SHC.14

Conversion of Redundant Buildings
•

LV8

Outbuildings
•

LV10, WR1

Bricks, Roofing and Rendering
•

WR2, WR3, WR4, WR5, WR6, WR9

Eaves and Rainwater Guttering
•

WR7, WR8

Windows
•

Windows: SHC.8, SHC.9, SHC.10

WN1, WN2, WN3, WN4, WN5

Boundaries and Curtilages
•

Rainwater fittings: SHC.4, Eaves: SHC.12, SHC.13

Boundary features: SHC.6, SHC.7

BC1, BC2, BC3, BC4

Utilities
•

UA1, UA2

Flora and Fauna •
FF1, FF2, FF3

Preserving dark night skies: SHC.15

Page 176

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

ANNEX 1

Listed Building Important
Building Building Curtilage
Conservation Area Boundary
Conservation Area Character
Appraisal Important Open Spaces

Page 177

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

ANNEX 1
Character Area
In contrast to The Hill, The Square
and Church Street, Upton Road
and The Dene have seen a
substantial amount of post-1945
development. Setting aside the
Dean Rise and The Crescent
estates, only half of the dwellings
are listed or designated as being of
local interest and a third fall
outside the Conservation Area.

Upton Road
Scattered linear development
along the Upton (or Ibthorpe) Road
– at the bottom of the aerial view probably started in the late 17th
century with the outlying Bridge
Cottage and the triple terraced
Willow Cottage. These were
Aerial View of Upton Road and The Dene
followed in the late 19th century by
of infill development, mainly on the western
Rose Cottages and Victoria House, which was also
side of the road, leaving one open gap
the local butcher’s shop. The small Church Hall
adjacent to the Church Hall.
dates from 1909. Post-1945 there has been a range

The Dene
The Dene settlement follows the A343 Newbury
road, in a normally dry valley, from The Square
to the junction with the Netherton Bottom road.
The oldest buildings, dating from the 16th
century, formed what is sometimes referred to in
old records as the hamlet of Prosperous, situated
quarter of a mile northeast of The Square. This
was chosen in 1840 as the location for a
Congregational Chapel, now an artist’s studio. At
about the same time two notable houses, Dene
House and Hurst Lodge, were built to the north
of the road, closer to The Square.

Old post office and store
Now a rural business hub

There was much development activity post-1945 with
both infill and backfill taking place and some
distinctive houses were built on the rising ground to
the northwest, accessed by their own lanes. Leading
off to the southeast, the Crescent was developed first
followed, later, by Dean Rise. These are estate-type
developments which form two cul-de-sacs to the
southeast, mainly within the valley bottom but partly
on rising ground.

Facilities
A car dealership, garage and service station were
established opposite the Netherton Bottom road
junction. Only the car dealership continues. The
garage buildings have been converted into a popular
tea room and small business premises. The general
stores on The Square closed in the 1970s and were
replaced by a small post office and store in the simple
weatherboard building between Marine Cottage and
Dene House. This also closed and has been converted
into a rural business hub. A new village store recently
opened at the Dean Garage site.
It is a feature of the present-day village that these
well used facilities are situated at the far end of
The Dene whilst the Church and Community Centre
are at the end of Church Street, about three-quarters
of a mile away.

Page 178

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

ANNEX 1
While a change in land use, including equestrian
usage, is an inevitable consequence of changing
farming practices, the aim should always be to
maintain as far as possible the characteristic
pastures and open rural aspect in accordance
with the guidelines in the Landscape Character
Assessment 2018.

Views and Open Spaces
Upton Road
The Upton road settlement is situated on the
relatively flat valley floor with the houses on the
west of the road backing onto the riverine
meadows.
The open space opposite Victoria House, with a
public footpath by the old Church Hall leading to
higher ground is an important open space
between buildings.

The Dines Close development occupies some of this
important open space and its buildings have
introduced an urban character to this previously
distinctively rural area.
Any further expansion, for example of Dines Close,
whether up the hillside or into the remaining riverine
meadows, would be detrimental to the rural village
character and the open spaces and would not be
supported.
These meadows are such an important part of the
village character that there is a strong argument for
including them in their entirety within the
Conservation Area.

Open space by the old Church Hall

The Dene

Public consultation highlighted these views,
shown on the map, as particularly important:

The Dene, by contrast, occupies a dry downland side
valley off the main Bourne and Swift valley.
Continuous development on both sides of the road,
and the many indigenous and foreign trees and tall
shrubs in gardens, allows only occasional glimpses of
the hillsides and their fringe of trees.

V7.

Southwards from the gap between Bridge
Cottage and the start of the Dines Close
estate

V8.

Northwards from the gap between Willow
Cottage and the Royal British Legion up to
the wooded skyline

The mix of indigenous trees flanking the higher
ground to the northeast adds to the
attractiveness of this scene.

Although views out from the road itself are limited,
residents enjoy open spaces and panoramic views of
the countryside:
V9.

The public space of Dene Green complemented
by the privately owned fields on the opposite
side of the road

V10. Farmland above Dene Green accessed by public
footpaths, especially the ‘diagonal’ path
crossing the high ground to the south, clearly
visible on the aerial image.

Wooded view between Hurstbourne Tarrant
and Ibthorpe

These views and open spaces are rated highly by
villagers as being amongst the most important
features of the Ibthorpe and Hurstbourne
Tarrant settlements and should be preserved.
The open areas make a powerful connection
between the built areas and the countryside and
plays a critical role in maintaining the green gap
between Ibthorpe and Hurstbourne Tarrant.

Wooded view from above The Dene

A skyline free of buildings is a very important
distinguishing characteristic of The Dene. Although

Page 179

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

ANNEX 1
eroded in part by the infills and, more importantly,
20th century backfills encroaching on the hillsides, the
tree-lined skyline still
remains essential to the feel of being immersed in
the countryside – a key attribute of the
Conservation Area.

mature trees. Further development on the higher
ground would risk the loss of a key characteristic –
the way the village nestles in the valley bottom
without impacting on the wider countryside.

At present the few houses that have been built on
the hillside above The Dene are well masked by

Page 180

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

ANNEX 1
Streetscene
•

The Upton Road and The Dene settlements both
have a diverse mix of 16th to 18th century
timberframed cottages and 19th century cottages
and houses, interspersed with a wide range of
post1945 styles. However, the two areas differ
considerably with regard to their setting.

•

There are notable examples of the vernacular materials
of brick flint, thatch, and clay roof tiles. Most are well
separated and set back from the street so forming a
more open streetscene compared with Church Street.

•

•

The post-1945 infill and backfill is diverse in terms of
building style and materials but it maintains the open
streetscene.
•

The Dene
Distinctive features that have the most influence on
the appearance of The Dene are:
• The Conservation Area, consisting of an
irregular corridor along the main road,
excluding most of the backfill

•
There are more listed buildings at the southern

Conservation area character

Chestnut Cottage

•

More than three-quarters of the buildings in the
Conservation Area being listed or designated as
of local interest
The diversity of building styles and materials,
particular post-1945
An architectural trend in the early 1960s to use
materials and design details that deliberately
contrasted or clashed with the vernacular
The manner in which The Crescent development
backs onto main road contrasting with the
design, materials and settings of the older
buildings
The amenities and business facilities provided
by the re-purposed Dean Garage and service
station group of buildings
The “A-status” of its main road which has a
major impact on the ambience and noise levels
Boundary features, driveways and landscaping
that are, in the main, in keeping with a rural
heritage

Hurst Cottage

Thatchers cottage

One of the principle features of The Dene is the
oldest part with its cottages clustered around the
former Congregational Chapel. This area still
retains much of its original character although there
has been some more recent, contrasting infill.
Six of the cottages are Grade II listed and another
six are identified as buildings of local interest. The
oldest, Thatchers Cottage, dates to the 16th century
and the others are 17th to 18th century. They are all
typical of North Hampshire.
There is a mixture of thatched and tiled roofs over
walls of brick in some cases and flint with brick
detailing in others. Windows are broadly similar in
pane shape and frame proportions.

end of The Dene, adjacent to The Square. Dene
House is at the larger end of the building scale and
the terraced Valentines and Orchard Cottage at the
smaller end. The latter are good examples of their
kind, with good quality banded flint work, wellproportioned windows, and attractive brick eave
detail.
Dene House by contrast has a white painted render
finish under a slate roof, typical of the 19th century.
It has a fine example of a brick and flint boundary
wall backed by a hedge. This mixture of styles works
well.

Page 181

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

ANNEX 1
Despite the ever-present impact of the A-road
these diverse buildings have managed to retain a

The Old Congregational Chapel

Dene House

Post-1945 development
In between the older buildings there has been
much infill and backfill on both sides of The Dene.
The building styles are mixed and some do not
complement the neighbouring older properties or
enhance the appearance of the conservation area.
To the northwest of the main road the newer

Oakdale House

rural ambience and play a very important role in
the make-up of the streetscene character.

Valentines

benefits the community, as well as being
commercially viable.
There is a popular tearoom and several small
business and retail premises, in addition to the car
dealership.
The former service station’s canopy and the
adjacent shop façade contrast with the surrounding

Bramblebank

buildings are set back from the road and partially
screened with trees and large shrubberies. To the
southeast of the road, the buildings are more
exposed and the architectural design divergence is
more evident.

The Crescent

open space. The all-weather parking space is
necessary but does contribute to an urban feel.
Some hedge and native tree planting

There are three principle style characteristics:
•

Later 20th century individual brick and tile
houses, such as Oakdale House situated
between the 18th century Dene Cottages the
early 19th century Hurst Lodge

•

Recent infill, such as Bramblebank, which
reflects the local vernacular brick and flint and
window design

•

Dean Garage and service station
Outside the residential settlement area, to the
north of Dene Green, the conversion of Dean
Garage and its associated buildings is a good
example of a reuse of redundant buildings that

Page 182

1960s and 1970s houses which are
predominantly single storey having low pitch
roofs, no hips, white barge boards, light buff
bricks and distinctive windows

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

ANNEX 1
would soften the hard lines and help it to blend
with the adjacent open space of Dene Green.

Dean Garage site next to Dene Green

Upton Road
The buildings along the Upton Road are even more
diverse than in The Dene, with no two being of the
same style and having varied setback from the road.
The oldest buildings are the listed Bridge
Cottage and Willow Cottage, dating from the 17th
century. Both are situated at the northern end of
the road, adjacent to the open meadows that
separate Hurstbourne Tarrant from Ibthorpe.

Willow Cottage

Some of the mid to late 20th century infill may be
considered as unsympathetic. However, ridge lines
have been largely followed and Waylands is a
good example of a design that reflects well the long
low shape that is typical of the old cottages. The

Bridge Cottage

Willow Cottage, originally a row of three cottages,
is distinctive in being single storey with an attic and
includes a half-hipped roof with five gabled
dormers, which are unusual amongst the older
buildings in this parish.
A row of four cottages 19th century cottages is
distinguished by its windows and the distinctive
open porches. Across the road is Victoria House
whose heavier massing is perhaps more typical of
the period.

Rose Cottages

mellow brick colour, while not matching the
vernacular, is in keeping.
Boundary treatment is equally variable, ranging
from high Cupressus hedge to low picket fence.
Overall, the diversity makes an interesting, if not
entirely harmonious, streetscene and one that
promotes a sense of community.

Design Guidance – read with Planning Guidance (Section 5)

Page 183

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

ANNEX 1

Waylands

In the short-term change is more likely to take
place by way of extensions to existing buildings,
replacement buildings, new outbuildings, property
boundary treatment, driveways and alterations to
facades.

In each case, clear inferences can be derived from
the form and style of development that has taken
place over the past 40 to 50 years.
UD.1 Any such changes should be in keeping
with the village character as a whole. Changes
should be consistent with the principle of avoiding
creeping urbanisation, irrespective of where the
change occurs either inside or outside the
Conservation Area.

Examples of the latter are the addition of porches
and conservatories, change of tile hanging for
timber cladding, installation of solar panels and
bunded oil tanks.

Development
There are very few opportunities for further infill or
even backfill within the current Local Plan Settlement
Boundary in either Upton Road or The Dene. Where
infill does take place, it does not need to mimic the
18th or 19th century building form and materials to fit
in, or enhance, a setting or streetscene.
UD.2 Any development should be thoughtfully
and sympathetically designed with due regard to
the dominant character of its immediate and wider
surroundings. A wellbalanced façade, appropriate
massing and relative positioning are as important
as materials and details.
Oakdale is a good example of massing and
positioning that fits in, given its particular context.
Good features include a relatively long and low
profile with hipped tiled roof and window style inkeeping with older properties; set back from the
road with brick wall and low hedge, gravel driveway
and modest gate; use of brick colour that while not
matching the vernacular is in keeping with it

Although perhaps over-large for its relatively small
site, Bramblebank is a good example of closely
reflecting vernacular materials and detailing but
not exactly replicating them notably good use of
brick and flint panels. The window designs reflect
those of the nearby George & Dragon and Gaydon
House opposite. Other good features are the gravel
driveway and good quality brick and flint boundary
wall.

Brick colour and texture
UD.3 Brick colour should be carefully selected to
blend in with the typical brownish red of 18th
century and older buildings and the somewhat
redder tone associated with the 19th century. The
Michelmersh Hampshire Stock range is an example
of local bricks that can blend well with both these.

Limit development in order to conserve the
existing settlement forms
Resist development within the settlement-free
character of the valley floor
Resist further ribbon development and infill along
valley floor and approach roads
Avoid overdevelopment and redevelopment of
existing housing plots
Landscape Character Assessment 2018

Page 184

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

ANNEX 1
In the mid to late 1900s a number of houses were
built with a browner brick, which in the right context
can also blend. The examples illustrated range from
the 19th century to recent times.

Yellow or buff bricks, prevalent in the more recent
single storey dwellings, are out of keeping and
introduce an urban feel. Mottled and textured
bricks, such as the LBC Rustic Brick and many others
in the LBC range are also incompatible.

Brick types that blend in well

Brick types that blend in
less well

Windows
UD.4
Particular attention should be given to
Planning Guidance WN1, WN2, WN3, WN4 and WN5,
particularly regarding where a house’s windows are
placed, and their relative proportions, as these
features are often the principal influences over
whether the whole building looks well designed and
fits in with its neighbours. Pane size and proportions
are as important as the shape and weight of the
main frame.
The ideal dimensions of
a window will depend
on the proportions,
mass and style of the
building, whether an
extension of a new
build, and so it is only

possible to illustrate a range of characteristic
window designs that work in their particular
context.

Page 185

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

ANNEX 1

Roof material
UD.5 Slate and
mellow clay tiles are
the most characteristic
roof material in this
part of the village. Any
other material should
harmonise with
respect to both colour
and texture.

Eaves
UD.8
An example (far right) of an eave from the
mid to late 60s is a pleasing alternative to the
prominent white barge boards that are typical of so
many buildings of this era.
It blends well with the two examples (near right) roof
eaves on older buildings.
General Guidance WR7 and WR8 should be followed.

Brick and flint
UD.7 Flint is not such a dominant feature in this
part of the village but where it does occur it is
distinctive. Below are three good examples of brick
and flint work from the 19th century or earlier.
Replication of flintwork should be approached with
caution. Achieving the craftsmanship of these
examples tends to be costly and lesser quality work
can have a disappointing appearance.

Precast flint blocks have
been used successfully
as in this example (right)
where the joints
between the blocks have
been well disguised,
which is not always the
case.
However, the colour of the flints does differ from
locally sourced ones and the size of the panel
does not reflect the traditional proportions.

Page 186

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

ANNEX 1
Boundary features

Over the length of The Crescent the visual impact

UD.9 Characteristic forms of boundary
demarcation are low picket fences and brick and flint
walls, often backed by a hedge of yew or beech.

of uniform back boundary walls paralleling the
road is a prominent example. This last relatively
short section has a disproportionate effect on the
appearance and feel of The Dene as a whole. The
planting of bushes or small trees in front of the
wall would break up the harshness and soften
the view.

The boundary treatment can set a building off to
advantage and have a major impact on the
appearance of a streetscene. An example is the wellkept front garden (below left) which softens the
otherwise hard features of a late 1900s bungalow.
Inappropriate treatment may take the form of close
boarded fencing, walls that are more urban than rural,
or poorly maintained hedges

Features should help remind drivers that they
are passing through a rural village, one of whose
valued attributes is its overall peace and
tranquillity.

Three examples of walls and fences that are out of
keeping with the rural character of the village are
illustrated below centre and right.
UD.10 Particular attention should be given to
features that have an impact on the appearance of
the A343; the aim being to counter the tendency of
the road to become a visually sterile corridor.

Railings
UD.11 Where railings are required, they
should reflect and reinforce the rural
nature of the village.
The example below, where the Upton
Road crosses the river, is in keeping. The
safety railings on The Dene, installed by
the highway authority, have an urban
appearance (photo right).

Page 187

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

ANNEX 1
Gates and driveways
UD.12 Ungated open driveways are a characteristic
feature of the village and one that reflects the
friendly nature of the community.

Where a gate is required for safety, security, noise
reduction or privacy it should be no taller than
necessary and be in keeping with the rural
character. Three good examples are shown
below.

Preserving dark night skies
UD.13 The absence of street lights is an important
contribution to the preservation of highly valued dark
night skies. Street lighting in this area would not be
supported.
UD.14 Unshielded exterior lights on buildings can
cause unwanted light pollution and be disruptive to
wildlife. Exterior lights should be designed and
directed to minimise light spill and be controlled
by proximity sensors and timers.

Planning Guidance – Cross Reference
The guidance in Section 5 applies to the whole of the parish and must be applied with the specific guidance in
this section. The table identifies especially relevant planning guidance in Section 5 and also provides a cross
reference between the general and the specific guidance.

Planning Guidance – Section 5

Hurstbourne Tarrant:
Upton Road & The Dene

Preservation of Views

Views and Open Spaces: V7, V8, V9, V10

•

SL1, SL3, SL5

Page 188

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

ANNEX 1
Preservation of Open Areas
•

SL1, SL4

Maintaining Visual Harmony
•

SL2, LV1, LV2, LV3, LV4, LV5, LV6, LV7

Development: UD.1, UD.2, Brick colour: UD.3, Porches:
UD.6, Brick and Flint: UD.7, Preserving dark night skies:
UD.13

Conversion of Redundant Buildings
•

LV8

Outbuildings
•

LV10, WR1

Bricks, Roofing and Rendering
•

WR2, WR3, WR4, WR5, WR6, WR9

Eaves and Rainwater Guttering
•

Windows: UD.4

WN1, WN2, WN3, WN4, WN5

Boundaries and Curtilages
•

Eaves: UD.8

WR7, WR8

Windows
•

Roof material: UD.5

Boundary Features: UD.9, UD.10, UD.12

BC1, BC2, BC3, BC4, LV9

Utilities
•

UA1, UA2

Flora and Fauna •
FF1, FF2, FF3

Preserving dark night skies: UD.14

Page 189

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

ANNEX 1

Listed Building Important
Building Building Curtilage
Conservation Area Boundary
Conservation Area Character
Appraisal Important Open Spaces

Character Area
There are three estate developments in
Hurstbourne Tarrant: Dean Rise, The Crescent and
Dines Close each with its own distinctive
characteristics. They have a greater uniformity of
building design and a more urban appearance than
the older parts of Hurstbourne Tarrant.

Page 190

“What residents most appreciate is being part of a
tranquil rural village set in lovely countryside with
easy footpath access to open ground.”
Village Design Statement
questionnaire responses

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

ANNEX 1
Dean Rise
This cul-de-sac leads off the A343 by way of The
Crescent. Although occupying gently rising ground,
this development has a neutral impact as seen
from The Dene.
Any development further up the hillside would
however be visible from valley floor and change
the character of this part of the village
fundamentally, as seen both from below and from
the higher ground. This would result in loss of a key
feature valued by residents: easy access on foot to
unspoilt panoramic views of the countryside.

mass, providing a range of accommodation from
two-bed flats to family houses. Ornamental trees
create an avenue effect, communal areas are well
maintained and individuals have opted for different
styles of boundary hedging which helps to break the
uniformity.

Dean Rise

Dean Rise

It has many good features. There are well spaced
buildings, of generally appropriate height and

The purple tile hanging, low pitch concrete tile roof
with white barge boards and window design are
typical of off-the-shelf designs that are to be seen
in many parts of England and do not reflect the
distinctive characteristics of this part of
Hampshire. There are also some details such as the
choice of railings and the bland brick wall, seen here
round a shared car park that are more urban than
rural in appearance and feel.

The Crescent and Dean Rise leading off The Dene

The Crescent
This is another cul-de-sac off The Dene (A343).
Adjacent to but, unlike Dean Rise, it consists of
three distinct building design styles. The two semidetached houses to the left, with their red brick
walls and tiled roofs are close to the village
vernacular, although the flat roofed dormers and

irregular window designs are not (contrast them to
Victoria Cottages on the Upton Road).
The next terrace to the right is visually in contrast
to its neighbours. Low pitch roof over a buff brick
and tile hanging does not reflect or complement
the village character. The third group, consisting of
single storey buildings is similar having low pitch
roofs and buff bricks.

Page 191

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

ANNEX 1
These single storey houses not only back onto The
Dene, the heart of this part of the village, but being
on rising ground, their high back boundary walls
stand in obvious juxtaposition to the 18th century
Hurst Cottage and Hurst Lodge opposite. Some form
of vegetative screening could mitigate this.
These dwellings are an essential part of the
housing mix and, apart from insufficient car parking
spaces, they are an effective and resident friendly
extension to the village. Future planning and design
decisions should look to better reflect and
complement the village character.
In the future, any such a development built
adjacent to a road, especially a through road,

The Crescent from The Dene should face onto that road

and be designed specifically to fit in with its
immediate neighbourhood, with attention given to
design detail.

Dines Close and Dines Meadow
Situated off the Ibthorpe/Upton Road this
settlement area has a very different setting and
character from either Hurstbourne Tarrant or
Ibthorpe.
This development in the meadow adjoining the
Ibthorpe settlement boundary was started towards
the end of the last century. Initially a small, state
funded development, it has incrementally expanded
to become a community in its own right of some 64
dwellings that are a mix of affordable and open
market properties.
The Centenary Garden lies at the entrance to Dines
Close. It was created in November 2018, in time for
the 100th anniversary of the end of the Great War,
with the vision that it would be used not only for
quiet reflection, but also by local children as a safe
place to play.

From a setting perspective it is conspicuous in
several ways:
•

Dines Close fulfils an important housing demand
but is not well integrated into either Ibthorpe or
Hurstbourne Tarrant and does not have a centre.

It substantially reduces the very important
open gap that separates Ibthorpe from
Hurstbourne Tarrant

•

It detracts from a primary characteristic of the
valley, which is the way that the settlements
nestle into the valley floor and do not disturb
the magnificent panoramic views from the
higher ground

•

The overall massing and building style are in
distinct contrast to the view of the historic
Ibthorpe buildings lining the Upton Road as
seen by walkers on the Test Way footpath
passing through the meadows

Dines Close and Dines Meadow from Hurstbourne Tarrant

Dines Close and Dines Meadow

Individually, the buildings as seen from the Upton
Road do not appear to blend in with the adjacent
historic character of Ibthorpe and the wider AONB
setting.

Page 192

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

ANNEX 1
Moving up the hill to where the Close has branches
left and right, the style is more cottagelike and in
keeping with the Ibthorpe theme, although some
out of character brick has been used. The hedges
and shrubbery enhance the streetscene.

Overall, there is a sense of detachment from either
of the adjacent villages.

Still further up the hill, the more recent expansion
has again a different appearance and feel. The
layout, spacing and variety of buildings, enhanced
by hedging and shrub planting, is more attractive.
However, the building designs do not reflect either
the Ibthorpe or Hurstbourne Tarrant character.
DCD.1 The key characteristics of this Area of
Outstanding Natural Beauty, a rural landscape

DCD.4 Development adjacent to the Conservation
Area should be designed to be in visual harmony

Dines Close from the Upton Road

The upper part of Dines Close

Design Guidance – read with Planning Guidance (Section 5)
“Creeping urbanisation which makes villages look like towns and detracts from the rural character of
the parish should be discouraged”
“Dark night skies are a positive feature of the Parish”
“The feeling of community is a key attribute of the village”
Village Design Statement questionnaire resident’s responses: Dines Close, Dean Rise and The Crescent
with sweeping views and villages largely hidden
with neighbouring areas within the Conservation
from view, should be respected
Area.
DCD.2 Open areas that are an intrinsic part of the
village setting should be preserved.
DCD.3 New development should be confined to
the valley floor. Development up the hillsides
would disrupt the magnificent panoramic views
from the higher ground and block the views out of
the settlement areas that are such important and
popular characteristics of the villages.
Views out are not only appreciated for themselves
but also give a sense of intimately linking the
countryside with the settlement areas – a key
feature of a rural setting.

DCD.5 The planning and design of any new
housing, irrespective of accommodation size or
tenure, should aim for integration into existing
settlements. Building style, and particularly the
materials and detailing, can play an important role
as aids to achieving integration.
DCD.6 New buildings need to fit into the context of
their locality. Standard building designs which do
not reflect the local context are unacceptable
The choice of bricks, roof tiles/slates, window
design, doors and porches is important. Attention
also needs to be given to parking, boundary
treatment, public open spaces and planting.

Page 193

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

ANNEX 1
DCD.7 Design features that complement the
characteristics of a rural village should be
encouraged. Features that are more characteristic
of an urban setting should be avoided.
DCD.8 Well-designed soft landscaping, in the form
of hedges, shrubs and trees should be encouraged.
It supports the Local Plan policy of achieving

positive integration of development into the
landscape character of the area.
DCD.9 Exterior lights should be designed and
directed to minimise light spill and be controlled
by proximity sensors and timers. Unshielded
exterior lights on buildings can cause unwanted
light pollution and be disruptive to
wildlife.

Planning Guidance – Cross Reference
The guidance in Section 5 applies to the whole of the parish and must be applied with the specific guidance in
this section. The table identifies especially relevant planning guidance in Section 5 and also provides a cross
reference between the general and the specific guidance.

Planning Guidance – Section 5

Hurstbourne Tarrant
Dean Rise, The Crescent & Dines Close

Preservation of Views

DCD.1 (views)

•

SL1, SL3, SL5

Preservation of Open Areas
•

SL1, SL4

Maintaining Visual Harmony
•

DCD.2 (open areas), DCD.3 and DCD.4 (development)

SL2, LV1, LV2, LV3, LV5, LV10

DCD.5 (integration), DCD.6 (building design), DCD.7 (design
features)

Bricks, Roofing and Rendering
•

WR2, WR3, WR6, WR9

Eaves and Rainwater Guttering
•

WR7

Windows
•

WN1, WN2, WN3, WN4

Boundaries and Curtilages
•

DCD.8 (landscaping)

BC1, BC2, BC4

Utilities
•

UA1, UA2

Flora and Fauna •
FF1, FF2, FF3

DCD.9 (exterior lights)

Page 194

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

ANNEX 1

Character Area
Ibthorpe is a historic village which has not been
altered significantly by development. The village is
located within the valley of the River Swift and is
surrounded by agricultural land and downland.
The village is largely contained within the valley floor
except for a few houses on Windmill Hill Lane which
rises up to hillside the south.

Page 195

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

ANNEX 1
The ‘tail’ of buildings along the Upton
Road has an open rural feeling due to
buildings being only on one side of the
road for most of its length, helped by
the open space of the allotments.
There is a special intimacy derived
from the relatively small size and
general openness of the built area.
Horseshoe Lane
The principal settlement area lies
within Horseshoe Lane, a loop of road
to the northern side of the main eastwest valley road. Along the southern
side of this ‘loop’ are three farms
Aerial view of Ibthorpe
adjacent to one another, which
All of the built area of Ibthorpe except for Windmill
probably once equally divided the land in the centre
Hill
of the loop with strips of land running north-south.
is a
designated Conservation Area. There are about
The open area in the centre of the Horseshoe is a
50 dwellings of which 33 are listed, including
unique, undeveloped space that brings the
three assessed as Grade 2*. A number of
countryside right into the heart of the village. This
boundary walls and agricultural buildings are
area reflects the medieval, and possibly earlier

Houses on Upton Road, Ibthorpe

layout of Ibthorpe and its farming community,
representing the original settlement on the land.

also listed.

The farmyard of Upper Ibthorpe Farm and historic
Ibthorpe House form the western boundary of
Ibthorpe. Apart from Ibthorpe Manor Farm there is
no development to the east of Horseshoe Lane.
Many of the historic plots can still be traced in the
topography of the village today.

Apart from the ten ‘recent’ infill houses in the
northwest corner and on Windmill lane, the
remaining forty have developed organically around
the four farms.

The economy used to depend upon agriculture but the
majority of people now work away from the village. The
working farms remained within the village environment
until late into the 20th century and continue to form a
significant part of the historic character and fabric of the
village.
The Horseshoe is surrounded on all four sides by an
accessible and beautiful rolling landscape of hedges,
copses, pastures and arable land. The Dines Close
development to the southeast affects this island effect.

Page 196

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

ANNEX 1

Views and Open Spaces

Tollgate Cottage to Ibthorpe Manor Farm
(V12)

Ibthorpe Farm House to the
meadow and hillside (V15)
Adams Farm to Ibthorpe Manor Farm (V13)

A major natural feature is the winterbourne River
Swift running through meadows, with gently rising
open farmland on either side, which gives Ibthorpe
its special relationship with the countryside.
Even where there are buildings adjacent to the river,
they are only on one side, leaving a muchvalued
open aspect across the other side.
Public consultation strongly supported conserving
and retaining the following nine views in to
Ibthorpe and out to the surrounding countryside:
V11. From Tollgate Cottage across the meadow to
Ibthorpe Manor Farm
V12. Open meadows and wooded hillsides
between Ibthorpe and Hurstbourne
Tarrant

V20. From the Upton Road south to steep fields and
wooded hillside
The Conservation Area Character Appraisal
additionally identifies thirty important views looking
into the built area or outwards.
Public consultation also confirmed that all open
spaces bordering Upton Road, Windmill Lane and
Horseshoe Lane as well as the central area within
the Horseshoe as very important. The allotments
on the Upton Road provide an important open
space as well as a well-used public amenity.
The “Views and Open Spaces” map shows the
location of the important views: red arrows for the
publicly identified views and black arrows for the
views defined in the Conservation Area Character
Appraisal. Important open spaces are show in green.

V13. From Adams Farm across the meadow to
Ibthorpe Manor Farm
V14. From the eastern leg of Horseshoe Lane into
central open space
V15. From Ibthorpe Farm House to the meadow and
hillside
V16. Above Ibthorpe House to Windmill Lane and
to the west of Windmill Lane V17. Fields to the
west of Ibthorpe

V19. From the Bank Tree out to Windmill Lane

All these views and open spaces contribute to the
character and setting of Ibthorpe and care needs to
be taken to ensure that these are not lost or
compromised by inappropriate development or
poorly sited services.

Streetscene
There are three types of building in Horseshoe
Lane:

V18. From the Upton Road looking across the
meadow northwest of White Hart House

Ibthorpe House to Windmill Lane and
westwards (V16)

From the Bank Tree to Windmill Lane
(V19)

Page 197

From Tollgate Cottage to Ibthorpe Manor
Farm (V11)

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

ANNEX 1
• Thatched cottages of red brick and flint or timberframe with white painted infill construction
• Red brick, larger buildings with clay tile roofs
• Recent infill houses of brick construction, most with
clay tile roofs

Red brick, flint, thatch, white render and mellow
red clay tiles are predominant. There are some very
fine examples of flint work, in both large panels and
in the more common, and distinctive, banded
pattern.

Ibthorpe House, Grade2* listed

• The Upton Road which has thatched cottages,
brick and flint and brick buildings on one side
only with open meadows opposite Extensions

almost all make use of the same materials
and design features as the associated
building or are a sensitive reflection of those
materials and features. The outbuildings are,
on the whole, subservient to the main
dwelling. The more recently built ones are,
almost without exception, of dark stained
weatherboard finish with a pitched roof,
reflecting the traditional barn construction.

Horseshoe Lane (eastern leg), Ibthorpe

The more recent infill houses in Horseshoe Lane vary
in the manner in which they fit in with the older
buildings. The best examples, while not copying the
features of older buildings, are sympathetic,
reflecting and complementing the neighbouring
buildings.

Visible property boundaries are in the main, low
walls, paling fencing or hedges that promote a
sense of inclusion and allow enjoyment of the
harmonious blend of buildings.

The buildings along the Upton Road are
predominantly thatched and of brick and flint or
timber framed construction. There are some
buildings of red brick with grey slate roofs, such as
the converted former Methodist Chapel. There is no
recent infill.
In general. the hillsides around Ibthorpe are free of
buildings except for the limited mid-20th century
development along Windmill Lane.
There is no street lighting in Ibthorpe and
Horseshoe Lane has no pavements.
Much of Ibthorpe’s distinctive character is created
by the open streetscenes. Of particular note are:
• The eastern leg of Horseshoe Lane and the area
northwards from the Bank Tree

Horseshoe Lane (northern leg), Ibthorpe

Hedges are almost entirely of beech, yew or
hawthorn and there is a notable absence of
Cupressus in any form. There is an almost total
absence of urbanising features such as pavements,
tarmac driveways, imposing gates or close panelled
fencing.

Design Guidance – read with Planning Guidance (Section 5)

Page 198

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

ANNEX 1
Development
Any development should respect the special
characteristics of this area and give due
consideration to the safety and quality of life of the
community. In particular:
Modern infill has taken place in vacant plots
adjacent to the historic infill development off
Horseshoe Lane and has probably reached the
limit of what this character area can
accommodate without destroying the historic
plan form created by the three farm complexes
and associated agricultural open spaces.
Conservation Area Character Appraisal
I.1 Special care should be taken to ensure that the
views and open spaces, that have been identified,
and which play a major role in the character and
setting of Ibthorpe, are not lost or compromised by
inappropriate development or poorly sited services.
I.2 Further ribbon development up Windmill Lane
should not be permitted. It would be very
detrimental to the open aspect and view seen as you
emerge from Horseshoe Lane onto the Upton Road.

I.4 The development of additional dwellings
abutting Horseshoe Lane would not be supported
by the community. The lane is very narrow and is
often used by children and adults on foot as well as
animals such as horses and ponies. Increase in
traffic levels could significantly impact on the safety
and amenity of the community.

Streetscene
I.5 The characteristic balanced mixture of thatched
cottages and larger red brick and flint houses
should be conserved.
I.6 Street lighting in this area would not be
supported. The absence of streetlights is an
important contribution to the preservation of
highly valued dark night skies. I.7 The absence
of pavements in Horseshoe Lane contributes
to its distinctive character.
Much of the identity of an area is derived from a
combination of distinctive local building types,
materials, layouts, the relationship between
buildings and making use of natural features.
Local Plan
LV5: “Innovative contemporary design should be of
the highest architectural quality”

New buildings
There were strongly expressed views during the
open consultation sessions both for and against
contemporary design and modernist buildings.
I.8 The design of new buildings must comply with
the principles set out in paragraphs 7.12 and 7.14 of
the Local Plan, and General Design Guidelines:
LV4: “New houses should reflect and harmonise
with existing buildings”

I.9 Scale considerations are particularly important,
including massing and context, as illustrated by a
recent fairly modernist style barn conversion at the
northern end of Horseshoe Lane,
I.10 In addition to scale considerations, careful
attention should be given to details, notably
construction materials, windows, eaves and
boundary features, all of which play important roles
in ensuring that a new building harmonises with its
neighbours.
The following are some good examples to illustrate
this.
This 21st century new-build on Horseshoe Lane
(left) is an example of good attention to massing
and context. The fully hipped roof is an important
feature from a massing perspective. Banded flint
work has been used sympathetically.
Windows are in keeping although not exact
replicas of either cottage or ‘manor’ style. The
open gateway and low hedge promote
‘inclusiveness’ and the permeable gravel
driveway is in keeping and minimises surface

Recent infill development in Ibthorpe

I.3 The confinement of building to only one side of the
Upton Road should be maintained.

Page 199

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

ANNEX 1
run-off. Eaves detail adds character to a relatively
plain, but well balanced, elevation.
Another example (right) of successful massing and
design is just off the western leg of Horseshoe Lane.
Two late-20th century houses fit in satisfactorily
with the nearby thatched cottage without copying
its building materials.
Although not of traditional design the overall mass
and roof pitch and integrated garages are in keeping
with historical context of the neighbouring houses.
Key design features are

the hipped roof, the use of muted clay tiles and
small, hipped dormer windows and well-chosen
window ratios. The two buildings are similar in style
but different in detail. The open boundary
treatment and unpaved road maintain the local
rural feel and the connection with Bank Tree farm.

Extensions and conversions
I.11 Extensions should be subsidiary to the
original building.
I.12 Where a dormer window is used as a means
of allowing a lower overall roof line, it should be
in keeping.
The extension to the Cottage on Horseshoe Lane
(right) has been designed sympathetically with
attention to detail, providing modern living space
whilst retaining the cottage feel.
The extension at rear (below) complements the
thatched cottage by maintaining the ridge height
and roof angle. It adopts the local brick and flint
style

weather boarding. White wooden doors with black
door furniture complement the thatched
outbuilding.

I.13 Conversions can have as a great an impact
on the character of the area as new buildings
and it is important to ensure they are
harmonious with the surroundings, for example
by using dark-stained weatherboarding.

Outbuildings
I.14 Outbuilding should always be subsidiary in
scale to the parent building and should not
detract from a key view. The example right) is on

Page 200

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

ANNEX 1
the limit of proportional size and it obscures a key
view out from Horseshoe Lane.
The windows, dark stained weatherboarding and
roof pitch and colour are in keeping although the
doors are less so.

Boundary features
Traditional boundary treatments have been
generally retained, such as hedgerows and
walls, helping to reinforce the rural nature of
this area.
Conservation Area Character Appraisal
I.15 Boundary features should
complement and enhance the
overall street scene. Some
examples are illustrated.
Open-type five bar gates, hedges
and gravel drives are
characteristic boundary features in
Ibthorpe.
Bank Tree Farm in Ibthorpe (below) has a very
good example of a low brick and flint wall found
throughout the Parish.

Simple wooden fencing can promote openness and
is in keeping with thatched cottages.
I.16 Tall brick walls, high closed in gates and tarmac
drives (below) introduce an urban appearance that
is out of keeping and should be avoided.

Hedging with native species contributes to the rural
feel of Ibthorpe but high hedges can obscure
buildings to the detriment of the street scene.

Page 201

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

ANNEX 1
Railings
I.17 Where railings are required, they should reflect and
reinforce the rural nature of the village.
The Conservation Area Character Appraisal notes that
“white post and metal rail fencing is typical fencing
prevalent in many villages in Hampshire”. This type of
tubular fencing is often associated with rivers.

Planning Guidance – Cross Reference
The guidance in Section 5 applies to the whole of the parish and must be applied with the specific guidance in
this section. The table identifies especially relevant planning guidance in Section 5 and also provides a cross
reference between the general and the specific guidance.

Planning Guidance – Section 5

Ibthorpe

Preservation of Views

Views and Open Spaces: V11, V12, V13, V14, V15, V16,
V7, V18, V19, V20

•

SL1, SL3, SL5

Preservation of Open Areas
•

SL1, SL4

Maintaining Visual Harmony
•

Conversions: I.13

LV8

Outbuildings
•

Streetscene: I.5, I.6, I.7, New buildings: I.8, I.9, I.10

SL2, LV1, LV2, LV3, LV4, LV5, LV6, LV7

Conversion of Redundant Buildings
•

Development: I.1, I.2, I.3, I.4

LV10, WR1

Extensions and conversions: I.11, I.12, Outbuildings:
I.14

Bricks, Roofing and Rendering
•

WR2, WR3, WR4, WR5, WR6, WR9

Eaves and Rainwater Guttering
•

WR7, WR8

Windows
•

WN1, WN2, WN3, WN4, WN5

Boundaries and Curtilages
•

Boundary features: I.15, I.16, Railings: I.17

BC1, BC2, BC3, BC4

Utilities
•

UA1, UA2

Page 202

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

ANNEX 1
Flora and Fauna •
FF1, FF2, FF3

Page 203

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

ANNEX 1

Aerial view of Upton

Character Area
Upton has grown outwards from
a central point, the cross-roads,
but remains compact. Four old
farms, Upton, Parsonage, Soper’s
and Oriel College enclose the
crossroads and make up a
considerable part of the village
character.
The Manor of Upton earns a
reference in the Domesday Book
but little is recorded about the
hamlet of Upton. A number of
houses seem to
th

There are 23 Grade II listed buildings in the village.
The heart of the settlement is the cluster of
buildings around the offset cross-roads, including
the old post office, the old forge and the surviving
Crown Inn.

date from the 18 century, suggesting that there
was increased prosperity during this period.
Upton has never had its own Anglican church but
an independent chapel was built south of
Parsonage Farm. It is dated 1839. About the same
time The School House and School Hill cottages
were built on the southern side of the valley,
looking down on the hamlet.

Parsonage farm and Soper’s farm are still working
farms and are a key part of the character of Upton.
Soper’s, which is adjacent to the crossroads, is the
more visible of the two.

Upton has not experienced the rapid growth of
Hurstbourne Tarrant and Vernham Dean, the only
recent buildings being the Hillside development up
the hill above the old school house.
A Conservation Area was designated in 1983 which
shown on the map of Upton. This rightly ignores
the division between the two parishes (shown by
the red broken line) and the following description,
although concentrating on the Hurstbourne Tarrant
related part, applies to the settlement as a whole.

Page 204

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

ANNEX 1

Upton, looking towards the Crown Inn. Oriel College Farm
buildings on the left

Views and Open Spaces
In contrast with Hurstbourne Tarrant and Ibthorpe
the area around Upton is more enclosed and there
fewer wide-ranging views.
The river valley is also narrower and open spaces
are smaller. Upton Meadows is a designated Site of
Importance for Nature Conservation (SINC). These
sites represent a legacy of good management and
rely upon continued stewardship by landowners.
The rising ground on two sides and the mass of hedges
and trees mean that views out from the village are
limited.
Public consultation strongly supported conserving and
retaining the following views in to Upton and out to the
surrounding countryside (see map):
V21. Upton village seen from the footpath behind
Parsonage Farm
V22. Open fields opposite Upton Dean (also identified as
important in the 1983 Upton
Conservation Policy)

Page 205

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

ANNEX 1

View of Upton from footpath behind
Parsonage Farm (V21)

View out opposite Upton Dean (V22)

Streetscene
High hedges and walls tend to partially mask many of
the buildings and together with the abundance of trees
it is the roofs and glimpses through gateways that
dominate the character.
Roofs are mainly a mixture of thatch and mellow clay tiles
with some slate.
Buildings tend to be of brick and flint, often in relatively
narrow bands, which is characteristic of this area.
Cob walls were once a common feature of the area but
their high maintenance requirement means that many
have been replaced with more durable materials. This is
a fine surviving example belonging to Oriel College Farm.

Cob wall, Oriel College Farm

Design Guidance – read with Planning Guidance (Section 5)
U.1 Any future conversion of redundant buildings
should be carried out sympathetically so that the
character of the settlement is retained.
As a good example: conversion of the Oriel College
farm buildings and those of Upton Farm has been
done so that their original character can be
recognised.
Similarly, the old forge building has been converted
into outbuildings to the house that has adopted
that name while retaining original materials and
providing doors that are in character.
Garden Cottage

U.2 There is significant visual intrusion in the
centre of Upton from overhead services. Every

effort should be made to minimise cables and
poles.

Planning Guidance – Cross Reference
The guidance in Section 5 applies to the whole of the parish and must be applied with the specific guidance in
this section. The table identifies especially relevant planning guidance in Section 5 and also provides a cross
reference between the general and the specific guidance.

Page 206

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

ANNEX 1
Planning Guidance – Section 5

Upton

Preservation of Views

Views and Open Spaces: V21, V22

•

SL1, SL3, SL5

Preservation of Open Areas
•

SL1, SL4

Maintaining Visual Harmony
•

U.2 (overhead services)

SL2, LV1, LV2, LV3, LV4, LV5, LV6, LV7
U.1 (conversions)

Conversion of Redundant Buildings
•

LV8

Outbuildings
•

LV10, WR1

Bricks, Roofing and Rendering
•

WR2, WR3, WR4, WR5, WR6, WR9

Eaves and Rainwater Guttering
•

WR7, WR8

Windows
•

WN1, WN2, WN3, WN4, WN5

Boundaries and Curtilages
•

BC1, BC2, BC3, BC4

Utilities
•

UA1, UA2

Flora and Fauna •
FF1, FF2, FF3

The Two Main Roads
Hurstbourne Tarrant has grown up at the
crossroads of the busy Andover-Newbury road
(A343) and the valley bottom feeder road (B3048),
shown on the Hurstbourne Tarrant and Ibthorpe
settlement maps.
The latter serves Ibthorpe and Upton to the
northwest and the neighbouring parish of St Mary
Bourne to the southeast. The A343 is by far the
busiest but the B3048 also carries a substantial
amount of local traffic, particularly that of
commuters.

Page 207

Until the post 1960s expansion of motor
traffic these roads were important assets for
the parish, bringing trade and providing good
access to the Andover and Newbury markets.
Currently they are a mixed blessing. They no
longer bring a significant amount of trade but
they do provide good access to railway
stations and motorways for both commuters
and other users. On the other hand, they are a
substantial noise and vibration nuisance for
those living alongside and they represent a

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

ANNEX 1
hazard for pedestrians, cyclists and horse riders in
general.
The A343 cuts through the centre of Hurstbourne
Tarrant and tends to create a psychological as well
as a physical divide. Residents of Ibthorpe and the
Upton Road need to cross the busy offset
crossroads in order to reach pub, church, school
and community centre. In parts it has been likened
to a race track, even with the inclusion of a chicane
at the off-set crossroads and is treated as such by
some.
The B3048 is less busy than the A343 but still
suffers from excessive traffic speeds especially
before the transition to the 30mph limit near St
Peter’s in Church Street and at the entrance to
Ibthorpe.

There are two principal ways of addressing these
issues. Limiting, or ideally reducing, the level of
traffic, particularly heavy goods vehicles, and
reducing the speed at which traffic of all categories
passes through the settlements. The former falls
outside the scope of a Village Design Statement but
there are measures within its scope that can be
taken to address the latter.
Traffic levels may be reduced if the routes through
Hurstbourne Tarrant are viewed as a “less quick”
option for vehicle drivers. Measures such as road
re-classification, satnav routing changes and lower
speed limits might have this effect.
Much research has been undertaken into the
reducing the speed of traffic during the past two
decades and there are successful case studies to
draw upon.
The key lies in the quotation “If you want drivers to
behave as in a village, make sure it feels like a
village.” It is unfortunate that the A343, where it
passes through the village as The Dene, currently
has little feel of a village. The B3048 is less
pronounced in this way but it does lack any obvious
visual transition from rural highway to village street.
11.1 Drawing on the publication ‘Traffic in
Villages’ the following approach should be
followed:

The A343 between The Crescent and The Square

•

Employing the principles of “psychological
traffic calming” to influence driver speeds
and responses. “Self-reading” roads that
inform drivers appear to reduce speeds
and improve drivers’ awareness of their
surroundings.

•

Ideally the character of the highway
should change from “road” to “village
street”. The signs associated with arrival in
the village should accord with the driver’s
visual perceptions of the village
boundaries. Subtle changes in surface
materials and colour help mark the
contrast between the higher-speed design
of the road, and the low-speed context of
the village.

•

Research suggests that drivers choose
speeds that appear to suit the
characteristics of the road ahead.
Reducing speeds therefore requires
careful attention to the clues and

The Square, Hurstbourne Tarrant, 1963

When asked in the questionnaire what people would like
to change about their neighbourhood, reduction and
calming of traffic scored the highest; not only amongst
those directly affected by the roads.
The discord between the highways authorities’
commitment to the free flow of traffic and the residents
who have to live with the consequences remains a live
issue.

What could be done?

Page 208

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

ANNEX 1

•

•

information presented to drivers by the rural
road and its surroundings.

Crescent and The Square, and the offset crossroads
itself and its approaches.

It is sometimes possible to use a secondary
material such as setts, cobbles, road paint or
even reinforced grass paving to reduce the
apparent width of the carriageway. Such
“visual narrowing” is a good way to maintain
slow speeds whilst coping with the dimensions
of buses, heavy lorries and other large vehicles

Some vehicle drivers will respond to this approach
but others will not change their behaviour. For
these drivers measures such as traffic enforcement
cameras, speed humps or chicanes may be
effective.

Places where pedestrians wish to cross are
highlighted, and careful attention is given to
the features that mark the entry-points

Any decision to adopt these measures lies with
Hampshire County Council and the Highways
Agency.
11.2 Any such measures, particularly those which
may have noise implications, should always be
subject to the support of local residents, following
full consultation.

Two parts of the A343 deserve to be given priority
attention in this way are the stretch between The

in this way is greatly valued by residents of all
settlement areas.

Minor roads, lanes and footpaths
11.3 The traditional signposts are an important
element of the parish character and should be
preserved.
There are also a number of unsurfaced tracks,
some being old drovers’ routes such as Dolomans
Lane, many of which are designated footpaths and
bridle ways. At the next level down are simple
footpaths. The Test Way national footpath is made
up of both. Ready access to the countryside on foot

Car parking
Day to day on-street car parking is an increasing
cause for concern to residents of Church Street. The
successful George & Dragon inn at one end of the
street and the popular Primary School have
increased traffic levels and the need for parking.
Such parking is particularly intrusive for residents at
the end of Church Street nearest The Square where
the houses are mainly not set back from the road.

Hampshire County Council has statutory
responsibility for Public Rights of Way. HCC
increasingly depends on Parish Councils,
Ramblers Groups and the goodwill of
landowners to help with maintenance and
accessibility. Developments affecting a Public
Right of Way should follow Defra's "Rights of
Way Circular 1/09 Version 2".
11.4 Any future development in this vicinity, such
as at “Ponting’s Yard” should provide the required
numbers of off-road parking spaces.
Elsewhere there is adequate off-road parking
arrangements and compliance with TVBC parking
standards for any new buildings should suffice in
their immediate vicinity. Consideration should
however be given to the potential impact of
additional cars seeking parking in Church Street
near the inn or, at the other end, near the church
and school.

Page 209

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

ANNEX 1

Hurstbourne Tarrant Village Design Working Group and Hurstbourne Tarrant Parish Council thank everyone
who has contributed to our Village Design Statement. Community consultation included:
December 2018: Parish wide questionnaire with 120 responses
January 2019: Parish wide submission of photographs with over 150 responses
March 2019: Open meetings with over 100 attendees reviewing the questionnaire and photographs
September 2019: Open meetings with over 80 attendees reviewing the first draft of the Village Design
Statement

© 2021 Hurstbourne Tarrant Village Design Working Group and Hurstbourne Tarrant Parish Council
For more information contact villagedesign@hbt.org.uk or theparishclerk@hbt.org.uk
Published (21st January 2021, version 0.96)
Document to be reviewed 2031

Page 210

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

ANNEX 2
Hurstbourne Tarrant Village Design Statement (VDS)
List of Respondents
Number

Respondent

001
002
003
004

Planning Policy Officer (TVBC)
Andover Ramblers
Natural England
Historic England

Page 211

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

ANNEX 2
Hurstbourne Tarrant Village Design Statement
Schedule of Responses
Summary of Comment
Not all of the document listed on page 5 are classed as supplementary planning documents
(001)
Response
Noted
Change
Change from three supplementary planning documents to additional planning guidance

Summary of Comment
It would be worth pointing out that if any new development of a number of houses affects
Public Rights of Way then the Guidelines Defra Circular 1/09 Version 2 should be complied
with. (002)
Response
Noted
Change
Page 55: Hampshire County Council has statutory responsibility for Public Rights of Way.
HCC increasingly depends on Parish Councils, Ramblers Groups and the goodwill of
landowners to help with maintenance and accessibility. Developments affecting a Public Right
of Way should follow Defra's "Rights of Way Circular 1/09 Version 2".

Summary of Comment
On page 54 it may be worth making the point that the Test Way long distance footpath
crosses the busy road. (002)
Response
After reviewing this section of the report, we feel that introducing a reference to the Test Way
in this particular context would detract attention from the key issue of pedestrians having to
cross the A343 in the vicinity of the The Square. The Parish Council has considered
measures to improve the A343 crossing, including re-routing the footpath.
Change
No change

Summary of Comment
On page 55 Hampshire County Council have the ultimate responsibility for maintenance of
Public Rights of Way, although they do depend on Parish Councils and the Ramblers to help
them. The responsibility of HCC for PROWs should not be lost or downplayed. Perhaps
recognition of the Ramblers contribution should also be reflected. We have a Footpath
Warden who regularly inspects the PROWs in the parish and have path maintenance teams

Page 212

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

ANNEX 2
that can clear paths and erect way markers etc. (002)
Response
Noted
Change
Page 55: Hampshire County Council has statutory responsibility for Public Rights of Way.
HCC increasingly depends on Parish Councils, Ramblers Groups and the goodwill of
landowners to help with maintenance and accessibility. Developments affecting a Public Right
of Way should follow Defra's "Rights of Way Circular 1/09 Version 2".

Summary of Comment
Landscape
To preserve the wider landscape character of area, the Town or Village Design Statement
should recognise and give appropriate consideration to the impact of the design statement on
protected landscapes such as National Parks and Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty
(AONB), if the town or village is within or adjacent to one. (003)
Response
Hurstbourne Tarrant does lie within the protected landscapes of the North Wessex Downs
Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB) and this connection features prominently within
the VDS and its guidance
Change
No change

Summary of Comment
Landscape
Landscape Character Assessments (LCA) provide a context for looking at possible changes
and for seeking to ensure that the countryside character is protected and enhanced. Local
area LCAs and those for protected landscapes (where applicable), should be crossreferenced as they are a useful tool to ensure that the Village Design Statement makes a
positive contribution in terms of design, form and location, to the character and functions of
the landscape, and avoids any unacceptable impacts. Following the principles of LCA at a
local scale helps to capture the significant features, style and patterns of settlement and
setting within the landscape and key views in and around the village. National Park and
AONB Management Plans can also provide useful information for design statements within or
adjoining protected landscapes.
Natural England is revising the suite of 159 National Character Area (NCA) profiles to make
environmental evidence and information easily available to a wider audience. NCA profiles
are guidance documents which include a description of the key ecosystem services provided
in each character area and how these benefit people, wildlife and the economy. They identify
potential opportunities for positive environmental change and provide the best available
information and evidence as a context for local decision making and action.
The revised and current NCA profiles are available on the NCA pages of our website for you
to refer to. (003)
Response
Noted, we have reviewed the current NCA applicable to the parish (130 Hampshire Downs).
The VDS already supports the listed Environmental Opportunities. The VDS makes explicit
reference to the applicable LCAs, including maps and relevant extracts.

Page 213

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

ANNEX 2

Change
Page 9 modified: The parish contains three principal landscape forms as identified in the
Landscape Character Assessment. Natural England's "National Character Area profile 130.
Hampshire Downs" provides a wider landscape context.

Summary of Comment
Green Infrastructure and Sustainable Design
Green infrastructure is a term used to refer to the living network of green spaces, water and
other environmental features in both urban and rural areas. It is often used in an urban
context to cover the benefits including space for recreation, access to nature, flood storage
and urban cooling to support climate change mitigation, food production, wildlife habitats and
health & well-being improvements provided by trees, rights of way, parks, gardens, road
verges, allotments, cemeteries, woodlands, rivers and wetlands.
Green infrastructure is also relevant in a rural context, where it might additionally refer to the
use of farmland, woodland, wetlands or other natural features to provide services such as
flood protection, carbon storage or water purification. Green infrastructure maintains critical
ecological links between town and country.
The Design Statement could usefully promote high quality and multifunctional green
infrastructure. Natural England’s Green Infrastructure Guidance provides an introduction to
delivering green infrastructure at the micro and neighbourhood scale through features such as
street trees, green facades and green roofs, where consistent with the local character. These
features can be extremely important in increasing ecological connectivity between green
spaces, particularly when footpaths and green corridors are not feasible. (003)
Response
Noted, we have reviewed the guidance which is primarily aimed at developers, planners and
local authorities with an emphasis on urban spaces. The VDS places a strong emphasis on
the interrelationship of green spaces, access to nature and the encouragement of biodiversity,
particularly relating to multiple dwelling developments. On page 3 of the VDS the key aims of
maintaining the scenery, natural environment and setting, which closely reflect the Natural
England Green Infrastructure Guidance, are set out.
Change
VDS Page 2 add:
Other documents which should be consulted are:
•
"Green Infrastructure Guidance (NE176)", Natural England, 2009
•
" Town and Country Planning Association Biodiversity by Design". TCPA, 2004

Summary of Comment
Biodiversity
The Design Statement should have recognised and referenced designated wildlife sites1 and
other biodiversity assets in the immediate area, such as protected species, ecological
networks, habitats and green spaces. Design guidelines should respect, and where possible,
enhance the town or village’s local and neighbouring biodiversity resources. The Town and
Country Planning Association have produced a practical and design orientated Biodiversity by
Design guide to achieving high levels of biodiversity in developments, which may be of use.
When preparing the Design Statement, your local Wildlife Trust and local environmental
record centre should have been consulted, and local and national Biodiversity Action Plans
should be referenced where relevant. (003)
Response

Page 214

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

ANNEX 2
Noted, we have reviewed the guidance which is primarily aimed at the planning and
development of sustainable communities of 500 to 150,000 homes. The VDS explicitly
identifies many important green spaces. Local wildlife groups and individuals with specialist
knowledge and interest in biodiversity were engaged in the consultation process and this is
reflected in the responses to the questionnaire and the Planning Guidance. The Hampshire
Biodiversity Information Centre (part of HCC) will provide information on designated sites
wildlife sites. A charge is made for this service and the information cannot be publicly
published.
Change
VDS Page 15 Flora and Fauna add: FF3 The impact of development on wildlife sites should
be minimised. The Hampshire Biodiversity Information Centre should be consulted to
establish the location of wildlife sites.

Summary of Comment
Community Engagement
As an organisation, we are committed to involving the community in our work, ensuring that
local people and the organisations that support them are consulted at the earliest possible
stage. We are keen to see this principle adopted as part of the village design statement
formulation process so that local people have a chance to contribute to the development of
the statements from the outset. (003)
Response
The residents of Hurstbourne Tarrant have been consulted on throughout the process of
compiling this document; pages 3 and 4 of the VDS which went to public consultation show
examples of some of the methods used for community engagement as well as responses
from the questionnaire which was sent to all households.
Change
No Change

Summary of Comment
No comments (004)
Response
Noted
Change
No change

Page 215

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

ANNEX 3
DRAFT HURSTBOURNE TARRANT VILLAGE DESIGN STATEMENT
SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING DOCUMENT (SPD)

STATEMENT OF CONSULTATION AND SPD MATTERS

The draft Hurstbourne Tarrant Village Design Statement (VDS) SPD covers the Parish of Hurstbourne
Tarrant and sets out design guidance.

Consultation and community involvement has been undertaken locally with the community within the
Parish of Hurstbourne Tarrant, in line with;


Natural England guidance document on Village Design Statements “Village Design – making local
character count in new development” (CCP 501) (1996)



The Council’s “Village Design Statements Planning Guidance Note” (2016).

It is considered by the Council that the above documents, together with the;


Test Valley Borough Revised Local Plan DPD 2011-2029

are the supporting documents which in the opinion of the Council are relevant to the preparation of the
draft Hurstbourne Tarrant Village Design Statement as an SPD.

The consultation period during which representations can be made Friday 18 September 2020 to 17.00
Friday 30 October 2020, a six week period (42 days).

Representations should either be:


Sent in writing to Planning Policy, Test Valley Borough Council, Beech Hurst, Weyhill Road,
ANDOVER, Hampshire, SP10 3AJ



Emailed to planningpolicy@testvalley.gov.uk

Page 216

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

ANNEX 3
Any representation may be accompanied by a request to be notified at a specific address on adoption of
the document as an SPD.

The Council are consulting the following bodies listed below prior to adoption of the Hurstbourne Tarrant
Village Design Statement as an SPD. It is considered that this takes account of the Council’s Statement of
Community Involvement in Planning Matters (SCI) 2017.

Parish Councils
Hurstbourne Tarrant Parish Council

Ashmansworth Parish Council
Faccombe Parish Council
Linkenholt Parish Council
St Marybourne Parish Council
Smannell Parish Council
Tangley Parish Council
Vernham Dean Parish Council

Test Valley Association of Parish Councils

Local Authorities
Hampshire County Council, Economy, Transport and Environment Department
Basingstoke District Council

Statutory Environmental Consultation Bodies
Environment Agency
Historic England
Natural England

Page 217

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

ANNEX 3

Community Interests
Test Valley Local Strategic Partnership (Test Valley Partnership)

Developer and Planning Interests
Council’s Planning Consultants and Developers List
Council’s Local Development Framework (LDF) Keep Informed List

Sustainability Appraisal

The Council have not prepared a Sustainability Appraisal (SA) for the SPD as:



it is not considered that the SPD would have significant social, environmental or economic effects
that are not covered in the SA prepared for the Revised Local Plan DPD; and



it is not required by the Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) Directive 2001/42/EC.

Sec.180(5)(d) Planning Act 2008 removed the compulsory requirement for a SA for an SPD.

Details of Consultation to Date

Date

Content

Channel

November 2018

Introductory information sheet

Delivered to all houses and
businesses (350 copies)
Displayed on all village
noticeboards and other public
locations

November 2018

2m high colour roller banner,
introductory information

Displayed in St Peters’ Church,
Tea Cosy cafe & Community

Page 218

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

ANNEX 3
Centre
November 2018

Online information, background
and objectives

Parish web-site and social media

December 2018

Parish Magazine invitation to
complete questionnaire

Delivered to subscribers (250
copies), on sale locally

December 2018

Questionnaire, four sides A4
with information sheet

Delivered to all houses and
businesses (350 copies)
Published on Parish web-site
and social media

January 2019

Information sheet, invitation to
submit photos

Delivered to all houses and
businesses (350 copies)
Displayed on all village
noticeboards and other public
locations Online submission
form on Parish web-site and
social media

February 2019

Parish Magazine update and
invitation to submit photos

Delivered to subscribers (250
copies), on sale locally

March 2019

Invitation to March Open
Meetings at Community Centre
and Royal British Legion

Delivered to all houses and
businesses (350 copies) Parish
magazine, delivered to
subscribers (250 copies), on sale
locally
Displayed on all village
noticeboards and other public
locations Updated Parish website and social media
Email invitation to Parish-wide
distribution list (180
subscribers)
3m advertising banner displayed
at A343 / B3048 crossroads

25th and 26th March 2019

Public Consultation March Open
Meetings

Page 219

Hurstbourne Tarrant
Community Centre and
Hurstbourne Tarrant Royal
British Legion Hall

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

ANNEX 3
March 2019

Progress update after March
Open Meetings

Updated Parish web-site and
social media

July 2019

Information and progress
display

Hurstbourne Tarrant Village
Show (estimated 1500 show
visitors)

August 2019

Request to review and
comment on draft Village
Design Statement

Delivered to all houses and
businesses (350 copies)
Displayed on all village
noticeboards and other public
locations Parish web-site and
social media

September 2019

Invitation to September Open
Meetings at Community Centre
and Royal British Legion

Delivered to all houses and
businesses (350 copies) Parish
magazine, delivered to
subscribers (250 copies), on sale
locally
Displayed on all village
noticeboards and other public
locations Updated Parish website and social media
Email invitation to Parish-wide
distribution list (180
subscribers)
3m advertising banner displayed
at A343 / B3048 crossroads

20th and 23rd September 2019

Public Consultation September
Open Meetings

Hurstbourne Tarrant
Community Centre and
Hurstbourne Tarrant Royal
British Legion Hall

January 2020

Request to review and
comment on draft Village
Design Statement

Parish magazine, delivered to
subscribers (250 copies), on sale
locally
Parish web-site and social media

The draft Hurstbourne Tarrant Village Design Statement has been written, designed and subsequently
amended to take account of the responses received during the process of consultation and community

Page 220

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

ANNEX 3
involvement. It also takes into account comments made by officers of the Council as the local planning
authority.

Page 221

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

ITEM 11

Write Off of Uncollectable Debts

Report of the Finance Portfolio Holder

Recommended:
That the debts detailed in the report, totalling £59,673, be written off in the
Council’s accounts as uncollectable.
SUMMARY:


To seek approval for the write off of business rates that have proved to be
uncollectable, in accordance with the Council’s Financial Regulations.

1

Introduction

1.1

The Council has processes in place to ensure that income due is identified,
collected, receipted and banked promptly. However, there are occasions
where money owed to the Council proves to be uncollectable.

1.2

The Council’s Financial Procedure Rules give the Head of Finance authority,
in consultation with the appropriate Chief Officer, to approve the write-off of
bad debts or other sums due to the Council up to a limit of £5,000.

1.3

Amounts in excess of £5,000 must be authorised by the Finance Portfolio
Holder and amounts over £25,000 must be referred to Cabinet for approval.

1.4

This report seeks approval for the write off two business rates debts above
the £25,000 threshold that have proved to be uncollectable and for which
there is little or no prospect of future recovery.

2

Background

2.1

Debts related to two business rates accounts are recommended to be written
off as uncollectable.

2.2

It is inevitable that it will be necessary to write off certain amounts as
uncollectable when businesses go into liquidation / individuals declare
themselves bankrupt with arrears owed to the Council.

2.3

The Council has no power to pursue recovery of outstanding amounts owed
when a company enters administration or goes into liquidation. However, the
company may continue to occupy a premises and continue to be liable for
business rates.

2.4

Up to the point that the companies entered liquidation / administration the
Council had pursued its normal recovery procedures, including, for example,
obtaining Liability Orders from the Magistrates’ Court.

Page 222

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

2.5

The debts recommended to be written off are summarised in the following
table.
Business

Debt

Reason for WriteOff

Butters Café Ltd

Business
Rates

Company dissolved

27,924

Snows Timber Ltd

Business
Rates

Company in
liquidation

31,749

Total

Amount
£

59,673

3

Options

3.1

The debts recommended to be written off relate to businesses that have been
dissolved or are in liquidation. Proof of debt has been submitted for the
company in liquidation, but there is no realistic prospect of any distribution to
creditors.

3.2

There are no alternative options available to continue recovery action for
these debts.

4

Risk Management

4.1

An evaluation of the risks indicates that the existing controls in place mean
that no significant risks have been identified at this time.

5

Resource Implications

5.1

Each year, as part of the preparation of the Collection Fund (the statutory
account through which Council Tax and Business Rates are administered) the
Council makes an allowance for uncollectable debts. The allowance reflects
that it is not possible to collect 100% of bills raised due, for example, to
company failure.

5.2

The bad debt allowance calculation is based on a number of factors, including
the age of the debt and the recovery stage to which the debt has been
progressed. The bad debt allowance at 31 March 2020 included £28,867 in
respect of these debts, of which the Council’s share was £11,547.

5.3

The impact of writing off business rates debts is shared between the Council,
central government, Hampshire County Council and Hampshire Fire and
Rescue. The impact on the Council’s budgets is shown in the table below.

Page 223

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

£
Total value of business rates debts to be written off

59,673

Other bodies’ share of total debt (60%)

(35,804)

Council share of bad debt (40%)

23,869

Less: Amounts already provided in previous years’ accounts
Reduced levy on business rates growth in 2020/21
Net cost to the Council in 2020/21

(11,547)
(6,161)
6,161

5.4

The net cost of the debts recommended for write-off can be contained within
the bad debt allowance for the current year.

6

Equality Issues

6.1

This report does not identify any issues related to equality.

7

Conclusion and reasons for recommendation

7.1

The report identifies two debts for which there is no reasonable prospect of
recovery. It is recommended that they are written-off in the Council’s
accounts.

Background Papers (Local Government Act 1972 Section 100D)
None
Confidentiality
It is considered that this report does not contain exempt information within the
meaning of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972, as amended, and can
be made public.
No of Annexes:

0

File Ref: N/A

(Portfolio: Finance) Councillor M Flood
Officer:

Carl Whatley

Ext:

8540

Report to:

Cabinet

Date:

10 March 2021

Page 224

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

ITEM 12

Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) – Allocation of
CIL funds

Report of the Planning Portfolio Holder

Recommended:
That the following projects are approved for CIL funding:


Stockbridge Travel to School Plan – £95,000



Longparish Playground Redevelopment – £36,500

Recommendation to Council
SUMMARY:


The report sets out a summary of the bids received during April-June 2020, an
evaluation of each project, and



Funding recommendations made for each project.

1

Introduction

1.1

The report outlines 3 projects that were submitted during the April-June 2020
round of the CIL bidding process and the resultant funding recommendations.

1.2

The report includes a brief description of each project, a percentage score
against the Spending Protocol scoring criteria and a funding recommendation.

1.3

There is currently £2,116,000 in the main infrastructure fund. This is after
taking into account the Neighbourhood Portion passed to Parish and Town
Councils as well as administrative expenses.

2

Background

2.1

The CIL Spending Protocol and scoring methodology was adopted by Council
on the 8 November 2017.

2.2

This round of CIL bidding ran between 1 April and 30 June 2020.

2.3

The following paragraphs outline each project and provide a recommendation
for funding based on the approved scoring methodology.

2.4

The approved Bid Assessment document is attached at Annex 1 of the report.
This is made up of 10 questions with a maximum score of 120 points.
Questions 1 and 2 are weighted heavily weighted as they are linked to CIL’s
main purpose which is to enable or mitigate the impacts of development. An
average percentage score is presented below alongside a funding
recommendation.

Page 225

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

2.5

All bids are assessed against the same criteria meaning that a scheme with a
total cost of £15,000 will be scored in the same way as a scheme with a total
cost of £15,000,000.

2.6

Smaller schemes are likely to score lower as the level of detail required for the
project is not as significant as a large scheme. This means that the threshold
for recommendation reduces along with total project cost.

3

Funding Recommendations

3.1

Project 1 – Stockbridge Travel to School Plan
Lead Organisation – Stockbridge Parish Council
Description – To implement the travel to School Plan of Stockbridge Primary
School. The intention is to provide a safer road environment for the residents
of Stockbridge’s Old London Rd and the pupils, teachers and staff of
Stockbridge Primary school.
Evaluation of project – A well evidenced project that has been supported
and financially backed by both Stockbridge Parish Council and Hampshire
County Council. The measures provide benefits to the intended users
travelling to and from the School in addition to other pedestrians and cyclists
that use the route. All areas of the criteria were covered in detail and utilised
supporting documentation well.
Average Score – 57%
Recommendation – That Cabinet approve the release of £95,000 towards
the Stockbridge Travel to School Plan.

3.2

Project 2 – King Johns House Gates and Signage
Lead Organisation – King Johns House and Tudor Cottage Trust Ltd
Description – The project's aim is to increase usage of the museum,
tearooms and gardens, by increasing visibility. The site entrance on Church
Street (the main entrance) is set well back from the pavement and is not
readily visible. In addition to making access more obvious, the arched gates
and new signage are intended to improve the street scene.
Evaluation of project – The submission was detailed and covered risk
analysis and financial viability well. A range of benefits were identified. In
particular making the most of an under-utilised asset that would add to
Romsey’s existing heritage draw. The proposal is the first of a longer-term
plan for the site and initial CIL monies would enable the levering in of other
funding sources.
Average Score – 55%
Recommendation – That Cabinet approve the release of £36,500 towards
the King Johns House Gates and Signage project.

Page 226

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

3.3

Project 3 – Valley Park Tree Planting
Lead Organisation – Valley Park Parish Council
Description – A 3-year mature tree planting scheme of 165 trees in locations
around Valley Park.
Evaluation of project – The proposal was not broad enough in scope to
score highly against the criteria. The locations chosen for planting would
result in a loss of public open space in some instances. This impact was not
considered and has not been mitigated. Trees are proposed to be planted in
close proximity to a number of dwellings. These householders have not been
consulted directly about the proposed locations. The proposal was not able to
be assessed against the criteria related to risk or delivery as no risk
assessment taking into account the above was presented. Additionally, no
delivery plan was received to assess any long term permanent impacts.
Average Score – 42%
Recommendation – That Cabinet refuse the request for £82,150 for tree
planting in Valley Park. Feedback will be provided to the Parish Council who
will be encouraged to work with the Community and Leisure Service to deliver
on aspirations in this area.

4

Objectives and Priorities

4.1

This report covers the following Corporate Priorities set out in the Corporate
Plan 2019 – 2023 as shown below.

4.2

Town Centres – King Johns House is located near Romsey Town Centre. The
enhancement of this asset will improve the heritage offer within Romsey and
help ensure it is an attractive, vibrant and prosperous Town.

4.3

Communities – Stockbridge Travel to School Plan is being delivered by the
Parish Council. An improved local school route helps ensure that communities
are connected.

5

Consultations/Communications

5.1

There has been no external consultation because the report reflects the
outcomes of an approved methodology. Projects listed have gone through
various forms of consultation prior to bids being submitted as is required by
the assessment criteria.

6

Options

6.1

Option 1 – Support the recommendations and approve the release of
£131,500

6.2

Option 2 – To refuse/approve projects against the recommendations

Page 227

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

7

Option Appraisal
Option 1

7.1

The recommendations are transparent and fair using the criteria approved by
Cabinet on the 18 October 2017.
Option 2

7.2

Projects may be approved or refused against the recommendations.
Feedback will be given to applicants where a project is refused funding.

8

Risk Management

8.1

An evaluation of the risks associated with the matters in this report indicate
that further risk assessment is not needed because the changes/issues
covered do not represent significant risks or have previously been considered
by Councillors.

9

Resource Implications

9.1

The funding for these projects will come from the Council’s CIL receipts. No
other resources will be used.

10

Legal Implications (Note: Of the chosen option)

10.1

No legal implications for Option 1

11

Equality Issues

11.1

An EQIA screening has been completed in accordance with the Council’s
EQIA methodology and no potential for unlawful discrimination and/or low
level or minor negative impact have been identified, therefore a full EQIA has
not been carried out.

12

Other Issues

12.1

Wards/Communities Affected – The projects listed affect the following
communities: Romsey Town, Stockbridge, Valley Park.

13

Conclusion

13.1

Approval is sought to release CIL funds to the following projects:


Stockbridge Travel to School Plan – £95,000



King Johns House Gates and signage – £36,500

Page 228

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

Background Papers (Local Government Act 1972 Section 100D)
Cabinet report from the 18 October 2017.
Confidentiality
It is considered that this report does not contain exempt information within the
meaning of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972, as amended, and can
be made public.
No of Annexes:

1

File Ref: N/A

Portfolio: Councillor N.Adams-King
Officer:

Oliver McCarthy

Ext:

8176

Report to:

Cabinet

Date:

10 March 2021

Page 229

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

ANNEX 1

Community Infrastructure Levy
CIL Bid Assessment
Annex 2

1
Page 230

ANNEX 1

CIL Bid Assessment
Project name:

Applicant :

Project cost:

Band:

Total score:

/120

2

2: £50 - £100K

Percentage:

3: £100K+

This forms purpose is to assess bids for CIL funds and follows on from the CIL Bid Form. The CIL Bid Form obtains initial information, such as whether planning permission is required, about the scheme to progress to the assessment of the CIL bids
using the assessment criteria contained within this form.
The purpose of the assessment criteria below is to determine how well the proposed scheme delivers benefits to the residents and businesses of Test Valley.
Question 1 and 2 are designed to reflect the purpose of CIL which is to mitigate and enable development. The score for the
first 2 questions are weighted more heavily that the remainder of the questions in the assessment, being scored out of 20.
From question 3, each question is scored out of 10. The higher the score the better the proposal has performed against the
criteria. Scoring guidance has been provided to assist with scoring each bid against each of the criteria below.
Applicants are asked to address each question under a separate heading to assist with scoring. The more information that is
provided in addressing each criteria, the more likely it is that a higher score will be achieved.

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

Page 231

Test Valley Borough Council Community Infrastructure Levy CIL Bid Assessment

1: £10 - £50K

ANNEX 1

Section 1: Development and Local Communities

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

18

20

2 - Anecdotal evidence that proposal is needed to mitigate growth from development in the area but no
quantitative evidence to support proposed bid.
10 – An audit or an assessment of need has been undertaken identifying quantitative deficits. Evidence or
data has been gathered to suggest that the project is required to accommodate increased demand from
development

Page 232

20 – The scheme has been identified and fully justified through both quantitative and qualitative assessments.
Evidence or data has been gathered to demonstrate that infrastructure is reaching/has reached capacity and
that the project is required increase capacity due to an increase in usage
Question 2
Enabling
development
0

How does the proposal demonstrate that it helps bring forward development?

2

Scoring guidance

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

18

20

0 – The project doesn’t enable development
10 – Evidence that the proposal would attract development. Some evidence that this would have secondary
effects such as increasing foot fall to local shops or shortens journey times for pedestrians & cyclists to key
destinations
20 –Project unlocks sites to enable development or is a catalyst for further development by attracting more
people and businesses. May be that the project is required to enable another project to come forward.

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

Scoring guidance

What evidence is available to demonstrate that the project
mitigates the impact of development in the area?
Test Valley Borough Council Community Infrastructure Levy CIL Bid Assessment

Question 1
Evidence of need

3

ANNEX 1

0

1

4

How well does the proposal show that it has captured the ambitions of local and interested
communities or organisations about the details of the project through a variety of engagement
techniques?

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

1 – Limited consultation. No direct contact with stakeholders or end users seeking engagement or feedback
(possibly 0 score). Consultation limited to informing local communities of proposal.
5 – Some attempt to engage more meaningfully with local communities such as surveys or questionnaires
and meetings capturing quantitative data. Analysis of feedback may include minor amendments of a proposal
to address consultation responses from local communities (e.g. Parish Plan)
10 – Range of consultation techniques used to engage local residents such as workshops, exhibitions,
questionnaires. These techniques should be targeted to capture a wide range of stakeholders at different
times over a period of time. The scheme should demonstrate how engagement attempted to build consensus
amongst interested groups and local communities to meet the identified need and address the issue/deficit

Question 4
Benefits
0

What are the direct benefits and are there any potential indirect benefits?
1

Scoring guidance

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

1 – Limited to a small number of direct benefits (e.g. road crossing – enables pedestrians to cross more
safely).
5 – Greater number of direct benefits intended to address the issue/deficit identified (e.g. safer crossing,
reduces vehicle speeds)
10 – Multitude of direct and indirect benefits that fully addresses the issue/deficit that has been identified (e.g.
increase the perception of safety, reduce risk of pedestrian injury, encourage walking, reduce obesity)

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

Scoring guidance

Page 233

Test Valley Borough Council Community Infrastructure Levy CIL Bid Assessment

Question 3
Evidence gathering
- Engagement with
communities and
stakeholders

ANNEX 1

0

1

Scoring guidance

How many different communities is the proposal likely to benefit? What proportion of those
communities will benefit (e.g. all ages or under 12’s)? (Communities can be defined by geography or
by a common issue/interest).
2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

1 – Specific user group. The project generally serves only a specific community or a limited proportion of the
community

10 – Serves all or a significant number of communities. May extend well beyond communities in the local
vicinity (e.g. other villages or towns) and serve a high proportion of each of those communities

Page 234

Question 6
Impact of benefits
0

1

Scoring guidance

How do the benefits of the proposal impact upon the intended users? (To address this criteria, see
Annex 1 - CIL Bid Form 2 regarding equalities impact assessment.)
2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

1 – Benefits with limited impact. E.g. the benefits of the proposal would provide an experience that users
would enjoy or find desirable but are probably not essential to meet their needs. The proposal may have a
negative impact on certain ‘protected’ groups that has not been minimised or eliminated. Users may be able
to have their needs met elsewhere should the proposal not be provided
5 – Benefits would have a positive effect on users lives. An attempt has been made to address any negative
impact the proposal has on users with ‘protected’ characteristics. The needs of all users can be met through
alternative means but the proposal is the preferred option to maximise opportunities to improve the quality of
their lives.
10 – The proposal would have a profound positive effect on users or particular groups of users. Their level
of need may be high and the provision of the project may be crucial to better their quality of life. Negative
impacts on all users, particularly those with protected characteristics have been full assessed and minimised
or eliminated. Users needs cannot be met through an alternative scheme or elsewhere. If the proposal wasn’t
provided it may have a negative impact on their lives. Community may not function well without this piece of
infrastructure

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

5 – Multiple user groups. Serves a number of communities equally. May only serve a small or limited
proportion of these communities.

Test Valley Borough Council Community Infrastructure Levy CIL Bid Assessment

Question 5
Breadth of Impact

5

ANNEX 1
Question 7
Negative impacts
and mitigation
measures

6

1

Scoring guidance

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

1 – Impacts not considered (0 score). Minimal consideration of impacts but no mitigation proposed.
5 – Impacts identified and assessed. Mitigation measures proposed but limited information about how and
when they will be delivered.
10 – All potential impacts identified and assessed. Full package of mitigation measures proposed which have
been costed as part of the scheme. Advice from relevant expertise, where necessary, sought on impacts and
mitigation. Programme of works provided setting out how and when mitigation will be integrated and delivered
as part of proposed scheme.

Section 2: Financial viability
Question 8
Funding
0

What are the options for funding the proposal?

1

Scoring guidance

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

1 – Proposal is wholly reliant on CIL and no other funding options (e.g. CAF) have been explored (0 score).
Securing other funding is reliant on CIL funding being granted (Possible score of 1 or more).
5 – Proposal is partly reliant on CIL. Other funding options have been explored. Other funding may have
been secured
10 – Proposal is partly reliant on CIL and other funding has been secured. Greater weight can be given
to well-prepared large scale projects that seek funding but where the amount of CIL reserves available is
insufficient. Bid is accompanied by a project plan evidencing how much is needed and why CIL funds are
required to be set aside over successive years.

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

Page 235

Test Valley Borough Council Community Infrastructure Levy CIL Bid Assessment

0

Have any permanent/long term negative impacts of the proposal been considered and how are they
proposed to be mitigated? (e.g. cycle link proposed but some loss of hedgerow, new crossing point
but loss of a parking space).

ANNEX 1

0

What measures have been explored to minimise the risk of the project not being delivered?

1

Scoring guidance

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

1 – Limited assessment of various risks undertaken. None or few measures to demonstrate that project will be
carefully managed, the contractor/supplier is adequately insured, capable of undertaking the project, or able to
provide guarantees.

10 – Multiple budget management measures secured (e.g. fixed price contract tenders). All approvals and
permissions have been secured. Contractor/supplier can provide guarantees and all insurances are in place.
All risks against going over budget fully assessed and mitigated.

Page 236

Question 10
Sustainability

0

How have any ongoing costs been covered?

1

Scoring guidance

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

0 – Future costs not considered
5 – Some future costs covered or may be covered for a limited time (e.g. through guarantees/warranty/
certification)
10 – No ongoing costs. Ongoing costs covered by another organisation or project may be self-funding

10

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

5 – Budget management measures explored. Contractor/supplier has delivered a project of this scale and type
before and can demonstrate capability. Minimal guarantees offered.

Test Valley Borough Council Community Infrastructure Levy CIL Bid Assessment

Question 9
Delivery risks

7

Page 237

Test Valley Borough Council Community Infrastructure Levy CIL Bid Assessment

ANNEX 1

/20
/20
/10
/10
/10
/10
/10
/10
/10
/10

%

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

8
Question score
1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
Total
/120

Test Valley Borough Council - Cabinet - 10 March 2021

ANNEX 1

Planning and Building Service
Council Offices
Beech Hurst
Weyhill Road
Andover
Hampshire
SP10 3AJ

Email: planning@testvalley.gov.uk

www.testvalley.gov.uk

TestValleyBC

Page 238

@TestValleyBC

